



LINDY RYAN

Contents

- 1. Cover Page
- 2. Title Page
- 3. Copyright Page
- 4. Dedication
- 5. Contents at a Glance
- 6. Contents
- 7. About This E-Book
- 8. Foreword
- 9. Preface
- 10. Acknowledgments
- 11. About the Author
- 12. 1 Storytelling in a Digital Era
 - 1. A Visual Revolution
 - 2. From Visualization to Visual Data Storytelling: An Evolution
 - 3. From Visual to Story: Bridging the Gap
 - 4. Summary

13. 2 The Power of Visual Data Stories

- 1. The Science of Storytelling
 - 1. The Brain on Stories
 - 2. The Human on Stories
- 2. The Power of Stories
 - 1. The Classic Visualization Example
 - 2. Using Small Personal Data for Big Stories
 - 3. The Two-or-Four Season Debate
 - 4. Napoleon's March
 - 5. Stories Outside of the Box

3. Summary

14. 3 Getting Started with Tableau

- 1. Using Tableau
- 2. Why Tableau?
- 3. The Tableau Product Portfolio
 - 1. Tableau Server
 - 2. Tableau Desktop
 - 3. Tableau Online
 - 4. Tableau Public
- 4. Getting Started
- 5. Connecting to Data
 - 1. Connecting to Tables
 - 2. Live Versus Extract
 - 3. Connecting to Multiple Tables with Joins
- 6. Basic Data Prep with Data Interpreter
- 7. Navigating the Tableau Interface
 - 1. Menus and Toolbar
 - 2. Data Window
 - 3. Shelves and Cards
 - 4. Legends
- 8. Understanding Dimensions and Measures
 - 1. Dimensions
 - 2. Measures
 - 3. Continuous and Discrete
- 9. Summary
- 15. 4 Importance of Context in Storytelling

1. Context in Action

- 1. Harry Potter: Hero or Menace?
- 2. Ensuring Relevant Context
- 2. Exploratory versus Explanatory Analysis
- 3. Structuring Stories
 - 1. Story Plot
 - 2. Story Genre

4. Audience Analysis for Storytelling

- 1. Who
- 2. What
- 3. Why
- 4. How
- 5. Summary

16. 5 Choosing the Right Visual

- 1. The Bar Chart
 - 1. Tableau How-To: Bar Chart
- 2. The Line Chart
 - 1. Tableau How-To: Line Chart
- 3. The Pie and Donut Charts
 - 1. Tableau How-To: Pie and Donut Charts
- 4. The Scatter Plot
 - 1. Tableau How-To: Scatter Plots

- 5. The Packed Bubble Chart
 - 1. Tableau How-To: Packed Bubble Charts

6. The Treemap

1. Tableau How-To: Treemaps

7. The Heat Map

1. Tableau How-To: Heat Maps

8. Maps

- 1. Connecting to Geographic Data
- 2. Assigning Geographic Roles
- 3. Creating Geographic Hierarchies
- 4. Proportional Symbol Maps
- 5. Choropleth Map
- 9. Summary

17. 6 Curating Visuals for Your Audience

- 1. Visual Design Building Blocks
- 2. Color
 - 1. Stepped Color
 - 2. Reversed Color
- 3. Color Effects
 - 1. Opacity
 - 2. Mark Borders
 - 3. Mark Halos
- 4. The Truth about Red and Green
- 5. Lines

- 1. Formatting Grid Lines, Zero Lines, and Drop Lines
- 2. Formatting Borders
- 6. Formatting, Shading, and Banding
- 7. Shapes
 - 1. Shape Marks Card
 - 2. Custom Shapes
- 8. Summary
- 18. 7 Preparing Data for Storytelling
 - 1. Basic Data Prep in Tableau: Data Interpreter
 - 1. Data Interpreter in Action
 - 2. Handling Nulls in Tableau
 - 2. Cleaning Messy Survey Data in Excel
 - 1. Step 1: Surface Cleaning
 - 2. Step 2: Creating a Numeric Copy
 - 3. Step 3: Creating the Meta Helper File
 - 3. Pivoting Data from Wide to Tall
 - 4. Reshaping Survey Data with Tableau 10
 - 1. Step 1: Creating Extracts
 - 2. Step 2: Joining Data Sources
 - 5. Summary
- 19. 8 Storyboarding Frame by Frame
 - 1. Understanding Stories in Tableau
 - 1. Individual Visualizations (Sheets)
 - 2. Dashboards

3. Story Points

2. The Storyboarding Process

- 1. Planning Your Story's Purpose
- 2. Storyboarding Your Data Story

3. Building a Story

- 1. Making Meta Meaningful
- 2. Visualizing Survey Demographics
- 3. Act One: Demographic Dashboard and Key Question
- 4. Act Two: Questioning Character Aggression
- 5. Act Three: The Reveal
- 4. Summary

20. 9 Advanced Storytelling Charts

- 1. Timelines
- 2. Bar-in-Bar Charts
- 3. Likert Visualizations
 - 1. 100% Stacked Bar Chart
 - 2. Divergent Stacked Bar Chart
- 4. Lollipop Charts
 - 1. Labeled Lollipops
- 5. Word Clouds
- 6. Summary

21. 10 Closing Thoughts

- 1. Five Steps to Visual Data Storytelling
 - 1. Step 1. Find Data That Supports Your Story

- 2. Step 2. Layer Information for Understanding
- 3. Step 3. Design to Reveal
- 4. Step 4. Beware the False Reveal
- 5. Step 5. Tell It Fast

2. The Important Role of Feedback

- 3. Ongoing Learning
 - 1. Teach Yourself: External Resources
 - 2. Companion Materials to This Text

22. Index

1. i 2. ii 3. iii 4. iv 5. v 6. vi 7. vii 8. viii 9. ix 10. x 11. xi 12. xii 13. xiii 14. xiv 15. xv 16. xvi 17. xvii 18. xviii 19. xix 20. xx 21. xxi 22. xxii 23. xxiii 24. xxiv 25. xxv 26. xxvi

27.	xxvii
28.	xxviii
29.	1
30.	2
31.	3
32.	4
33.	5
34.	6
35.	7
36.	8
37.	9
38.	10
39.	11
40.	12
41.	13
42.	14
43.	15
44.	16
45.	$\frac{17}{10}$
46.	18
47.	<u>19</u>
48.	20
49.	$\frac{21}{22}$
50.	22
51.	23
52.	24
55. 54	25
55	20
56	28
57	29
58.	30
59.	31
60.	32
61.	33
62.	34
63.	35
64.	36
65.	37
66.	38

39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60
61
62
63
64
65
66
67
68
69
70
71
72
73
74
75
76
77
78

107.	79
108.	80
109.	81
110.	82
111.	83
112.	84
113.	85
114.	86
115.	87
116.	88
117.	89
118.	90
119.	91
120.	92
121.	93
122.	94
123.	95
124.	96
125.	97
126.	98
127.	99
128.	100
129.	101
130.	102
131.	103
132.	104
133.	105
134.	106
135.	107
136.	108
137.	109
138.	110
139.	111
140.	112
141.	113
142.	114
143.	115
144.	116
145.	117
146.	118

147.	119
148.	120
149.	121
150.	122
151.	123
152.	124
153.	125
154.	126
155.	127
156.	128
157.	129
158.	130
159.	131
160.	132
161.	133
162.	134
163.	135
164.	136
165.	137
166.	138
167.	139
168.	140
169.	141
170.	142
171.	143
172.	144
173.	145
174.	146
175.	147
176.	148
177.	149
178.	150
179.	151
180.	152
181.	153
182.	154
183.	155
184.	156
185.	157
186.	158

187.	159
188.	160
189.	161
190.	162
191.	163
192.	164
193.	165
194.	166
195.	167
196.	168
197.	169
198.	170
199.	171
200.	172
201.	173
202.	174
203.	175
204.	176
205.	177
206.	178
207.	179
208.	180
209.	181
210.	182
211.	183
212.	184
213.	185
214.	186
215.	187
216.	188
217.	189
218.	190
219.	191
220.	192
221.	193
222.	194
223.	195
224.	196
225.	197
226.	198

227.	199
228.	200
229.	201
230.	202
231.	203
232.	204
233.	205
234.	206
235.	207
236.	208
237.	209
238.	210
239.	211
240.	212
241.	213
242.	214
243.	215
244.	216
245.	217
246.	218
247.	219
248.	220
249.	221
250.	222
251.	223
252.	224
253.	225
254.	226
254. 255.	226 227
254. 255. 256.	226 227 228
254. 255. 256. 257.	226 227 228 229
254. 255. 256. 257. 258.	226 227 228 229 230
254. 255. 256. 257. 258. 259.	226 227 228 229 230 231
 254. 255. 256. 257. 258. 259. 260. 	226 227 228 229 230 231 232
 254. 255. 256. 257. 258. 259. 260. 261. 	226 227 228 229 230 231 232 233
 254. 255. 256. 257. 258. 259. 260. 261. 262. 	226 227 228 229 230 231 232 233 233
 254. 255. 256. 257. 258. 259. 260. 261. 262. 263. 	226 227 228 229 230 231 232 233 233 234 235
 254. 255. 256. 257. 258. 260. 261. 262. 263. 264. 	226 227 228 229 230 231 232 233 233 234 235 236
 254. 255. 256. 257. 258. 269. 260. 261. 262. 263. 264. 265. 	226 227 228 229 230 231 232 233 234 235 236 237

267.	239	
268.	240	
269.	241	
270.	242	
271.	243	
272.	244	

About This E-Book

EPUB is an open, industry-standard format for e-books. However, support for EPUB and its many features varies across reading devices and applications. Use your device or app settings to customize the presentation to your liking. Settings that you can customize often include font, font size, single or double column, landscape or portrait mode, and figures that you can click or tap to enlarge. For additional information about the settings and features on your reading device or app, visit the device manufacturer's Web site.

Many titles include programming code or configuration examples. To optimize the presentation of these elements, view the e-book in single-column, landscape mode and adjust the font size to the smallest setting. In addition to presenting code and configurations in the reflowable text format, we have included images of the code that mimic the presentation found in the print book; therefore, where the reflowable format may compromise the presentation of the code listing, you will see a "Click here to view code image" link. Click the link to view the print-fidelity code image. To return to the previous page viewed, click the Back button on your device or app.



Visit informit.com/awdataseries for a complete list of available publications.

he Pearson Addison-Wesley Data and Analytics Series provides readers with practical knowledge for solving problems and answering questions with data. Titles in this series primarily focus on three areas:

- 1. Infrastructure: how to store, move, and manage data
- 2. Algorithms: how to mine intelligence or make predictions based on data
- Visualizations: how to represent data and insights in a meaningful and compelling way

The series aims to tie all three of these areas together to help the reader build end-to-end systems for fighting spam; making recommendations; building personalization; detecting trends, patterns, or problems; and gaining insight from the data exhaust of systems and user interactions.









Visual Data Storytelling with Tableau

Lindy Ryan

✦Addison-Wesley

Boston • Columbus • Indianapolis • New York • San Francisco • Amsterdam Cape Town • Dubai • London • Madrid • Milan • Munich • Paris Montreal • Toronto • Delhi • Mexico City • São Paulo • Sidney Hong Kong • Seoul • Singapore • Taipei • Tokyo Many of the designations used by manufacturers and sellers to distinguish their products are claimed as trademarks. Where those designations appear in this book, and the publisher was aware of a trademark claim, the designations have been printed with initial capital letters or in all capitals.

The author and publisher have taken care in the preparation of this book, but make no expressed or implied warranty of any kind and assume no responsibility for errors or omissions. No liability is assumed for incidental or consequential damages in connection with or arising out of the use of the information or programs contained herein.

For information about buying this title in bulk quantities, or for special sales opportunities (which may include electronic versions; custom cover designs; and content particular to your business, training goals, marketing focus, or branding interests), please contact our corporate sales department at corpsales@pearsoned.com or (800) 382-3419.

For government sales inquiries, please contact governmentsales@pearsoned.com.

For questions about sales outside the U.S., please contact intlcs@pearson.com.

Visit us on the Web: informit.com/aw

Library of Congress Control Number: 2018932444

© 2018 Pearson Education, Inc.

All rights reserved. Printed in the United States of America. This publication is protected by copyright, and permission must be obtained from the publisher prior to any prohibited reproduction, storage in a retrieval system, or transmission in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or likewise. For information regarding permissions, request forms, and the appropriate contacts within the Pearson Education Global Rights & Permissions Department, please visit www.pearsoned.com/permissions/.

Microsoft and/or its respective suppliers make no representations about the suitability of the information contained in the documents and related graphics published as part of the services for any purpose. All such documents and related graphics are provided "as is" without warranty of any kind. Microsoft and/ or its respective suppliers hereby disclaim all warranties and conditions with regard to this information, including all warranties and conditions of merchantability, whether express, implied or statutory, fitness for a particular purpose, title and non-infringement. In no event shall Microsoft and/or its respective suppliers be liable for any special, indirect or consequential damages or any damages whatsoever resulting from loss of use, data or profits, whether in an action of contract, negligence or other tortious action, arising out of or in connection with the use or performance of information available from the services. The documents and related graphics contained herein could include technical inaccuracies or typographical errors. Changes are periodically added to the information herein. Microsoft and/or its respective suppliers may make improvements and/or changes in the product(s) and/or the program(s) described herein at any time. Partial screenshots may be viewed in full within the

software version specified.

Microsoft[®] Windows[®], and Microsoft Office[®] are registered trademarks of the Microsoft Corporation in the U.S.A. and other countries. This book is not sponsored or endorsed by or affiliated with the Microsoft Corporation.

ISBN-13: 978-0-13-471283-3 ISBN-10: 0-13-471283-3

1 18

Editor-in-Chief Greg Wiegand **Executive Editor** Debra Williams **Development Editor** Chris Zahn **Managing Editor** Sandra Schroeder **Senior Project Editor** Lori Lyons **Copy Editor** Paula Lowell **Project Manager** Dhayanidhi Karunanidhi Indexer Erika Millen Proofreader Jeanine Furino **Cover Designer**

Chuti Prasertsith

Compositor codemantra For all my students—past, present, and future

Contents at a Glance

Foreword

Preface

Acknowledgments

About the Author

1 Storytelling in a Digital Era

2 The Power of Visual Data Stories

3 Getting Started with Tableau

4 Importance of Context in Storytelling

5 Choosing the Right Visual

6 Curating Visuals for Your Audience

7 Preparing Data for Storytelling

8 Storyboarding Frame by Frame

9 Advanced Storytelling Charts

10 Closing Thoughts

Index

Register This Book

Register your copy of Visual Data Storytelling with

Tableau on the InformIT site for convenient access to updates and/or corrections as they become available. To start the registration process, go to informit.com/register and log in or create an account. Enter the product ISBN (9780134712833) and click Submit. Look on the Registered Products tab for an Access Bonus Content link next to this product, and follow that link to access any available bonus materials. If you would like to be notified of exclusive offers on new editions and updates, please check the box to receive email from us.

Contents

Foreword

Preface

Acknowledgments

About the Author

1 Storytelling in a Digital Era

A Visual Revolution

From Visualization to Visual Data Storytelling: An

Evolution

From Visual to Story: Bridging the Gap

Summary

2 The Power of Visual Data Stories

The Science of Storytelling

The Brain on Stories

The Human on Stories

The Power of Stories

The Classic Visualization Example

Using Small Personal Data for Big Stories

The Two-or-Four Season Debate

Napoleon's March

Stories Outside of the Box

Summary

3 Getting Started with Tableau

Using Tableau

Why Tableau?

The Tableau Product Portfolio

Tableau Server

Tableau Desktop

Tableau Online

Tableau Public

Getting Started

Connecting to Data

Connecting to Tables

Live Versus Extract

Connecting to Multiple Tables with Joins

Basic Data Prep with Data Interpreter

Navigating the Tableau Interface

Menus and Toolbar

Data Window

Shelves and Cards

Legends

Understanding Dimensions and Measures

Dimensions

Measures

Continuous and Discrete

Summary

4 Importance of Context in Storytelling

Context in Action

Harry Potter: Hero or Menace?

Ensuring Relevant Context

Exploratory versus Explanatory Analysis

Structuring Stories

Story Plot

Story Genre

Audience Analysis for Storytelling

Who

What

Why

How

Summary

5 Choosing the Right Visual

The Bar Chart

Tableau How-To: Bar Chart

The Line Chart

Tableau How-To: Line Chart

The Pie and Donut Charts

Tableau How-To: Pie and Donut Charts

The Scatter Plot

Tableau How-To: Scatter Plots

The Packed Bubble Chart

Tableau How-To: Packed Bubble Charts

The Treemap

Tableau How-To: Treemaps

The Heat Map

Tableau How-To: Heat Maps

Maps

Connecting to Geographic Data

Assigning Geographic Roles

Creating Geographic Hierarchies

Proportional Symbol Maps

Choropleth Map

Summary

6 Curating Visuals for Your Audience

Visual Design Building Blocks

Color

Stepped Color

Reversed Color

Color Effects

Opacity

Mark Borders

Mark Halos

The Truth about Red and Green

Lines

Formatting Grid Lines, Zero Lines, and Drop Lines

Formatting Borders

Formatting, Shading, and Banding

Shapes

Shape Marks Card

Custom Shapes

Summary

7 Preparing Data for Storytelling Basic Data Prep in Tableau: Data Interpreter Data Interpreter in Action Handling Nulls in Tableau Cleaning Messy Survey Data in Excel Step 1: Surface Cleaning Step 2: Creating a Numeric Copy Step 3: Creating the Meta Helper File Pivoting Data from Wide to Tall Reshaping Survey Data with Tableau 10 Step 1: Creating Extracts Step 2: Joining Data Sources Summary **8** Storyboarding Frame by Frame Understanding Stories in Tableau Individual Visualizations (Sheets) Dashboards **Story Points** The Storyboarding Process

Planning Your Story's Purpose

Storyboarding Your Data Story

Building a Story

Making Meta Meaningful

Visualizing Survey Demographics Act One: Demographic Dashboard and Key Question Act Two: Questioning Character Aggression Act Three: The Reveal Summary

9 Advanced Storytelling Charts

Timelines

Bar-in-Bar Charts

Likert Visualizations

100% Stacked Bar Chart

Divergent Stacked Bar Chart

Lollipop Charts

Labeled Lollipops

Word Clouds

Summary

10 Closing Thoughts

Five Steps to Visual Data Storytelling

Step 1. Find Data That Supports Your Story

Step 2. Layer Information for Understanding

Step 3. Design to Reveal

Step 4. Beware the False Reveal

Step 5. Tell It Fast

The Important Role of Feedback

Ongoing Learning

Teach Yourself: External Resources

Companion Materials to This Text

Index

FOREWORD

Data visualization is about presenting data in a way to help humans interpret, analyze, learn from it, and most important in a business context, take action on it. More than just objectively showing a result of data discovery or analysis, visualization can point a user in one direction or another based on the data chosen, the techniques used, and the creator's focus. This book focuses on the narrative part of data visualization. It's an excellent addition to this series, which has mostly focused on the infrastructure and algorithms of data and analytics. Visual representation is the end result of all that work on the back end, which means this book closes the loop on the overall analytics story. Despite its focus on Tableau as a tool, the concepts and methods discussed throughout are applicable to any data tool, be it Excel, custom visualizations, or other products that give analysts and data scientists the ability to tell a story through data.

Lindy has deep experience in analytics, communication, and data visualization. She led research in visual analytics, among other things, at Radiant Advisors before moving into academia where she now teaches on data analysis, communication, and visualization at both Rutgers University and Montclair State University, as well as actively researches in the field at Rutgers Discovery Informatics Institute. She brings her depth of experience to this book with explorations and analysis of some famous and well-known data visualizations in addition to lessons on choosing different visuals, color palettes, data preparation, charts, and more.

Two of the three primary takeaways from this book are broadly applicable to any developer, business analyst, executive, journalist, or student regardless of which tool they use. Specifically, the first takeaway focuses on giving the reader the knowledge to evaluate visualizations for their effectiveness and determine how best to tell a story with their data. The second focuses on how to present this data and focus on the audience for maximal impact. Finally, the third takeaway of the book is to use Tableau as a tool to produce compelling visualizations from diverse data sources and types. This book is a great addition to the series for any reader wanting to learn how to create the most impactful stories possible around their data, and to apply hands-on skill learning with today's best data visualization tools.

—**Paul Dix**, Series Editor, Addison-Wesley Data & Analytics Series

PREFACE

For as long as I can remember, I have always been fascinated by the power of a good story (see Figure P.1).



Figure P.1 A young me, reviewing the available data on weekly sales.

As a young girl I was an insatiable reader. I read it all, from fanciful children's classics, to the weekly Sunday newspaper, to novels way beyond my budding adolescent intellectual bandwidth. In those early days I approached a new book as one might approach a new relationship: if I could get my hands on one and it could hold my attention beyond the first few sentences, then I would read it from cover to cover and let it tell me whatever story it wished. It was a win-win scenario.

I read voraciously, inhaling stories that entertained, inspired, and educated me. I read without discretion, never worrying over parameters of genre, or length, or subject matter-those pesky ingredients that blend together inside the lines of a great piece of writing. I moved through stories with the same speed and determination as might a starving person (or perhaps a late-night cruise line passenger) move through a buffet of delicious foods: greedily and indulgently. I devoured stories. Along the way, I discovered those I liked and those I didn't. More importantly, I discovered story frameworks and storytelling voices that called to me, and met those special few authors whose powerful prose I would approach for the first time, fall immediately in love, and continue to read their books over and over again until their pages became soft and their spines so bent they required surgical repair with Scotch Tape. It might not surprise you that I began my collegiate career with an eye on a major in literature.

Like taste buds, my taste for stories evolved over time, both in terms of format and content. I moved from flea market paperbacks, to glossy novels, and have now managed to go almost entirely digital in the way I seek out and consume informational storytelling, preferring online articles and satellite news radio over newsprint and cable TV journalism (although, to be honest, if you find yourself tagging along in my company at a rare bookstore, it would be advisable to
come equipped with an overnight bag and at least one prepackaged meal, just to be safe—a few people have learned this lesson the hard way). Likewise, my appetite for stories that entertain and inspire have become more complex and multi-faceted; my desire for stories that educate require them to be more dynamic, data-rich, and interactive.

My personal evolution in story preferences parallels a similar journey that we, as a collective, take as our taste for stories mature. Our storytelling appetite changes alongside age, experiences, and interests, yet still the desire for a good story persists.

So it is with data stories. As we learn to communicate the results of our analysis—the hidden secrets carefully plucked from within the rows and columns of our data and curated into insight—we mature from being okay with being told something, to wanting to see it for ourselves, and, eventually, to wanting to interact with it. We need more—more information, more context, more action, and more substance. It's not "see Jane run" anymore, it's "let's talk about how fast Jane ran from Point A to Point B and, more important, why (and if) that's actually important."

And sometimes, we learn something entirely new and unexpected. Maybe Jane was being chased by a bear.

We crave stories; it's part of our design. As a species, humans are intrinsically hungry for a good story. Without getting into the weeds, we can leave it simply at this: We *need* stories. They entertain us, they educate us, and they provide ways to transmit knowledge, information, and experiences. They don't even have to be in written form. In fact, we're rather nondiscriminatory about how we receive stories—in fact, we might even prefer stories that move us and touch our senses (there is certainly enough scientific evidence to support this, as discussed in a later chapter). Think about movies, radio, Broadway performances, or screening your favorite film accompanied with a live one hundred-piece orchestra contributing the soundtrack.

Today, the concept of data storytelling is reshaping stories of all forms, from news media and journalism, to boardroom reports and conference presentations, to even how we script documentaries and educational programming. If you have seen any conference presentations over the past couple of years, or watched a TED talk, or read an article out of the *New York Times*, or listened to National Public Radio, or watched an episode of *Cosmos*, then you have witnessed data storytelling in action. It's a trend that we—from the classroom to the boardroom—are jumping on with more velocity than you might imagine. Students from grade school to graduate school are working hands-on with data and changing the way they learn about and communicate about information. Business analysts, managers, and executives are moving away from static, statistic-laden reports and toward interactive, visual data dashboards. Journalists and news editors the world over are using data storyboards and engaging, often interactive, infographics to share information with society-at-large—in print, online, and across form factors.

Visualizing our data helps us to see trends and patterns. Telling stories about our data helps us to connect with it. Combined,

visual data storytelling pushes beyond the boundaries of simply analyzing information to providing the capacity to communicate it in ways that leave a meaningful, lasting impact. Together, these converge into what I've termed the "visual imperative," a paradigm shift that is radically reshaping how we work with and seek to understand our data, big and small. This visual imperative is reforming our expectations of information, changing the question from "what can we do with our data" to "what can our data do for us." And, it's making its mark on every aspect of a progressively data-driven culture, too. From traditional business intelligence and data discovery, to the personal analytics on our smart devices and wearable technologies, to the manner in which we are using data recipes to cook up our new favorite television shows (I'm looking at you, Netflix), we are becoming more data-dependent and data-driven than ever before. Data has changed from being gold, to being the oil of the century, to what one witty columnist decided to combine and dub the "black gold" (a.k.a., oil) of the century, to being the oxygen of the most innovative and disruptive companies.

In a nutshell, this was the premise of my first book, *The Visual Imperative: Creating a Visual Culture of Data Discovery*, which arrived in bookstores in 2016. Written primarily from an analyst's perspective, this book focuses on how the data industry-at-large has been undergoing a beautiful period of disruption, and how this innovation and transformation has affected society across the blurred boundaries of customer to consumer. It discusses how the emergent visual revolution of the last several years has changed the language of data discovery across industries; how this has affected modern data

architectures, governance expectations, and practices; and explores several of the advancements in data visualization that I expect to see over the upcoming years.

In my years as an analyst, the use of visuals to convey incredible insights into data captured my interest immediately. This led me to focus my research on data visualization and visual analytics, and, eventually, on visual data storytelling. I learned how critical data visualization truly is to communicating the results of data analysis and discovery to enrich the intelligence that is provided to decision makers and leaders within any organization and how a compelling visual narrative can transform insight into action. Then, as I transitioned from industry into academia, I recognized firsthand the importance of careful planning and foresight in communicating data, as narratives begin to take form and we build visualizations to support story arcs. More specifically, as I watched education translate into application, I recognized this isn't an intuitive and obvious process. It takes work, it takes understanding, and it takes a *lot* of practice.

If my previous book was the use case to support the visual imperative, then this book is the how-to guide to put it into action with visual data storytelling. For lack of a better phrase, I'm done pontificating: it's time to get our hands dirty.

THREE CORE TAKEAWAYS

This book focuses on giving you the foundational knowledge, contextualized learning, and hands-on skills you need to be successful in leveraging the power of data visualization to tell compelling data stories. The goal is not to inundate you with academic lessons in the science of data visualization or story composition, nor to provide a full-scale training experience on any particular software or technical application, but instead to provide guidance as you build the necessary skills to produce visual data narratives within the context of business communication. Therefore, this book concentrates on helping you learn how to organize your data and structure analysis with stories in mind; to embrace exploration and the visual discovery process; and to articulate your findings with rich data, purposefully curated visualizations, and skillfully crafted narrative frameworks. Ultimately, these presentations can help you to deliver your business message while satisfying the needs of your audience. By the time you've reached the end of the text the expectation is that you will have earned the three core takeaways represented in Figure P.2.

Critical

 Competencies to evaluate the effectiveness of visualizations, and know how to best represent and tell stories about data.

Communication

 Ability to produce visualizations and formulate narratives about data, and how to present these to diverse audiences for impact.

Technical

 Design process that leverages Tableau for making graphics, and integrating data storytelling into business communication.

Figure P.2 The core takeaways.

WHAT YOU'LL LEARN IN THIS

BOOK

In data visualization courses, students learn how to present data in visual form. This involves working with data, learning how to apply visual design principles, and—often—learn new software. This book is intended to tackle all three. What you will learn from this book includes the following:

- Why we tell stories and what visual data storytelling is
- The difference between data visualization for analysis versus presentation
- How to tell visual stories that communicate insights and make an impact
- How to leverage questions to design logical and fruitful data collection and analysis
- How to create important graphs in Tableau and know which chart to use
- How to utilize concepts of design in data visualization and storytelling
- How to best storyboard your story for your message based on your audience
- How to direct your audience's attention to the most important parts of your data story
- How to design effective business presentations to showcase your data story with Tableau

WHO THIS BOOK IS FOR

This book is for anyone who has data and wants to use it to communicate something to someone else in an engaging and memorable way. This includes, but is not limited to:

- Analysts sharing the results of their data discovery or analysis
- Students communicating data for reports or presentations
- Teachers helping learners (of any age) to cultivate visual data literacy
- Executives and business managers reporting data-driven results or metrics
- Journalists giving data the starring role in their editorials

Essentially, if you have some data and want to tell a story about it to someone else, then this book is for you. So, from the most savvy of data users to students just beginning to learn about the power of data visualization in business communications, as long as you are interested in becoming a better visual data storyteller, then you're in the right place!

There are no prerequisites for this book. In fact, it might actually be preferable if you're coming into this text with fresh eyes and a fresh perspective. We start with the basics and build incrementally on concepts and to move through the data storytelling process from beginning to end.

Don't let the topic overwhelm you: Whether or not you have been practicing data visualization and visual analysis for some time or are just beginning, you don't have to be a statistician or a computer scientist, a graphic designer, or even a welltrained writer to learn how to navigate the art and science that is data visualization or to become a master data storyteller. Likewise, you do not need to be a data visualization expert or come armed with deep technical expertise in visualization software packages. Although this book utilizes Tableau as the primary mechanism for data visualization, you need not be a power user or expert prior to getting started—you don't even have to have a purchased license on your machine! You can simply download a free trial of Tableau Desktop version 10 or higher to get started—and we'll go through that process together, too. Finally, you don't even need to bring your own data to play just yet (although you certainly can). The sample datasets used in this text, as well as information on where you can find other free datasets, are available to you through the resources listed at the end of this book. Tableau also provides a large selection of sample datasets that you can work for practice, too.

I realize that the idea of visual analysis or data storytelling might sound intimidating to many and that learning new software is always a challenge. Therefore, this book is designed in a way that a professor or a tutor might teach visual data storytelling (and in fact is the approach I take in my classrooms for undergraduate- and graduate-level students) using what I call the 1-2-3 Method (see Figure P.3). This breaks down like this: (1) grounding easy-to-understand principles (2) reinforcing these through real-world examples, and (3) guided hands-on work to incrementally develop skills. By the time you have worked your way through each of the chapters and exercises in this book you will walk away with something tangible: competency as a visual data storyteller using your own data in your own dashboards and presentations. And you'll have some great visuals on your Tableau Public profile that you can add to your resume!



Figure P.3 The 1-2-3 Method.

ASSUMPTIONS

To write a comprehensive text on any of the topics covered in this book would take several volumes and the combined mind power of multiple subject matter experts and scholars across industry and academia. Thus, this book makes some assumptions about the skillset, expectations, and needs of its audience to limit the scope to the most valuable content. My goal is to distill complex topics to the most effective level of detail necessary to help you learn how to communicate business-relevant implications of data analyses using the visualization and storytelling capabilities of Tableau. Additional learning resources to expand on the concepts covered in these chapters are provided at the end of this book.

First, this book is focused primarily on storytelling and presentation. While analysis is an intrinsic part of this, in this book you work from a perspective of communicating insights rather than statistical analysis—data explanation rather than exploration, if you will. Thus, the way you curate visualizations for storytelling purposes may be slightly different than how you would approach these tasks if you were designing analytically accurate data representation not intended for presentation. Additionally, while I will touch on subjects like data preparation and wrangling tasks associated with getting data ready for analysis, the full scope of what is involved in all the steps necessary to transform raw data into a workable format is beyond what is covered in this book. Instead, I provide some basic information on these tasks and lean on the capabilities of Tableau as well as other available software, such as Alteryx and Excel.

Last, but not least, this book assumes that the reader has access to Tableau Desktop 10, which is currently available to install on either Windows or Mac operating systems Free trials are available for business users or general audiences, while students and educators can take advantage of the Tableau for Teaching program, which offers free licenses to the full desktop version, as well as the Alteryx for Good program, which is similar.

note

Here are a few caveats and notes:

- Versions of Tableau prior to version 10 support much of the same functionality as version 10. However, the interface is notably different and may affect navigability of instructions in this text.
- Alteryx runs solely on Windows; Mac users will need to install Parallels or a similar program (most offer free trials) to follow along.

- All sample data files are provided in Excel-ready formats; SPSS files may also be available.
- Data not available for public use or sharing will be noted as such.

WHY TABLEAU

If you browse the shelves of your local bookstore, you'll find several wonderful books available that teach data visualization and data storytelling skills in a tool-agnostic manner. (I've included some of these titles in the recommended reading resources in <u>Chapter 10</u>.) There is a good reason for this. To borrow the aptly stated words of Cole Nussbaumer Knaflic, author of *Storytelling with Data: A Data Visualization Guide for Business Professionals,* "No matter how good the tool, it will never know your data or its story like you do." With any software there will always be weak points to balance out the strong ones. However, my goal in this book is to not only give you the information you need but the application to use it. For that, we need a tool.

Many software packages are available on the market that would serve as capable platforms to support this book, including Excel, which is still the most ubiquitous, if unexciting, analysis tool, with the capability to functionally create basic charts and graphs. However, although many of the more advanced available technologies meet the rigors of building beautiful data visualizations, few provide the end-toend capabilities that Tableau does. What we're looking for is a best-of-breed tool that delivers an approachable, intuitive environment for self-service users of all levels to prepare, analyze, and visualize data, as well as delivery platforms like dashboards and story preparation. All of these are native to Tableau.

Today, Tableau is the world's leading data visualization analytics software company with 57,000 customer accounts ranging from small to large organizations across all industries and 160 countries (as of Q1 2017¹). Tableau provides a suite of licensed and free software products—including a recently released mobile product called Vizable—and excels at displaying data visually, using a drag-and-drop canvas on top of embedded analytics to help users explore their data. Although Tableau can mimic Excel by providing the capability to analyze rows and columns of numbers, its focus is on interactive, visual data exploration through complex analytical capabilities as well as dashboarding and storytelling features not found in other tools. For more advanced users, Tableau supports a complete formula language and robust data connections: Tableau's live query engine enables users to connect to more than forty difference data sources; its inmemory data engine leverages the complete memory hierarchy from disk to L1 cache and shifts the curve between big data and fast analysis. And according to Tableau's aggressive product roadmap, the fine-tuning of some of these capabilities as well as several worthwhile new features are on their way.

Another aspect of Tableau that I find impressive and worthwhile to a larger data storytelling movement is its focus on building a community of data users. I encourage you to join the Tableau Community and connect with the resources and peers you will find there.

HOW TO USE THIS TEXT

Like traditional classroom instruction, this book's chapters are organized as individual modules that will be your guide as you learn how to go beyond the dashboard to communicate business-relevant implications of data analyses using the analytic, visualization, and storytelling capabilities of Tableau. Some chapters provide complete coverage of a story, from data collection to a completed storyboard. Others are organized as granular exploration of a single concept.

Although you are not limited to working through this book cover to cover, it is recommended that you do so for incremental development of learning and reinforcement of skills. Each module builds on concepts and skills discussed in the preceding one, and may include advancements on working through an end-to-end data project that are necessary before taking the next steps forward.

note

With the exception of a very few, all visualizations and screenshots in this book are created using Tableau version 10 for Mac. Differences in operating system versions are negligible.

SUPPORTING MATERIALS

Beyond the modules of this text, I have developed several companion materials to support ongoing skills development and learning. These are intended to go beyond the confines of these chapters and to attempt to keep pace with innovations in Tableau functionality as well as review some of its more nuanced advanced features that are out of scope for this book. These resources are suitable for the workplace, although special attention has been given to classroom use:

- Companion website (www.visualdatastorytelling.com): Includes presentation materials and an ongoing blog, as well as a library of visual data stories contributed by storytellers from industry to academia
- Educator portal: Provides lecture materials as well as inclass assignments and rubrics for individual and group projects, as well exams that support student learning at the undergraduate and graduate levels
- Recommended reading: A list of additional reading, organized by topic
- Glossary: Provides a list of terminology and definitions used throughout this text

CONTENTS OF THIS BOOK

Each chapter in this book is intended to achieve two purposes:

 Provide a foundation of knowledge that forms the basis for education on the concepts we'll be covering. These are the chapters grounded in best practices and empirical evidence. Give you the opportunity to get hands on with the data in Tableau and begin to develop these skills for yourself. These chapters provide step-by-step instruction with accompanying screenshots and examples of outputs to verify your work.

The following list provides a brief description of each of the chapters.

Chapter 1: Storytelling in a Digital Era

This chapter sets the context for the book with an introductory discussion on data visualization and visual data storytelling, how these two concepts are similar and different, and how both practices have transformed in the digital era, propelled by new technologies and more data. The chapter explores the value of visual data storytelling for data communication and establishes how data storytelling is the necessary skill that bridges the business-IT gap.

■ Chapter 2: The Power of Visual Data Stories

This chapter uses real-life and quintessential examples to analyze the power of visual data stories to communicate discoveries and insights hidden in data. You ground these lessons by taking time to understand what makes visualization and stories so powerful to the human brain from both a cognitive and an anthropological perspective by comparing the brain on data versus the brain on stories.

Chapter 3: Getting Started with Tableau

This chapter shifts focus to begin exploring the Tableau

ecosystem. It reviews the different software products and provides a detailed tour of the new and improved Tableau user interface. Finally, you will walk through the Getting Started process to begin working hands-on in Tableau and review what users need to know about bringing data into Tableau to prepare for the analytic and visual process.

Chapter 4: Importance of Context in Storytelling

This chapter describes the importance of understanding data's context and its role in helping data storytellers ask the right questions to build a story framework. It discusses exploratory and explanatory analysis; gathering stakeholder requirements; and strategies for successful storytelling, including repetition, narrative flow, considerations for spoken versus written narratives that support visuals, and structures that can support your stories for maximum impact. You will also explore helpful techniques in Tableau that guide you to crafting effective data narrative structure.

Chapter 5: Choosing the Right Visual

This chapter introduces the common types of visuals used to communicate data in a business setting, discusses appropriate use cases for each, and highlights their use through examples built from the catalog of charts available in Tableau. The chapter also covers techniques to help you assess when to use these graphs, when to avoid certain types of charts, and how to generate them according to best practices, along with some of the special features in Tableau designed to help you get the most from your visual.

■ Chapter 6: Curating Visuals for Your Audience

This chapter dives into human cognition and visual perception to frame the contribution of pre-attentive attributes like size, color, and position and how important they are to the storytelling process. You will explore how to use these strategically to help direct audiences' attention and create a visual hierarchy of components to communicate effectively. This chapter provides the framework for curating story arcs and layouts with visualizations in Tableau that the following chapters explore in-depth.

Chapter 7: Preparing Data for Storytelling

This chapter covers the very beginning of the data storytelling process with the processing steps necessary to ready messy data for visual analysis and storytelling in Tableau. You will leverage the lessons learned thus far in the text by working through preparing data for analysis, connecting to data, and beginning to visually explore it in Tableau. The chapter walks you through this process beginning with exporting raw data from survey platforms, through manually preparing it in Excel, to using Tableau 10 and other external tools to get data just where it needs to be so you can start building a compelling visual data story.

Chapter 8: Storyboarding Frame by Frame

This chapter picks up where the previous chapter left off and looks deeper at the process of constructing a data narrative by covering how to build purposeful visualizations and organizing them to tell a story. It offers a closer look at building a sequence of data visualizations, reviews how to build dashboards and organize them as well as individual visualizations in story points, incorporating features like annotations and highlighting, and covers how to revisit earlier discussions on context to present a compelling visual data story.

Chapter 9: Advanced Storytelling Charts

This penultimate chapter explores advanced strategies for visual data storytelling beyond the basic charts and graphs provided in Tableau's core functionality. It covers how to create advanced charts that require additional formatting and calculations, including timelines, Likert scale charts, lollipop charts, and more.

Chapter 10: Closing Thoughts

This chapter recaps the main lessons covered throughout the text. As a resource kit for life beyond the book, this chapter provides checklists of best practices and practical suggestions for continuing to master data storytelling, as well as discusses additional resources available to support the text.

Good luck! Let's get started.

^{1.} https://www.tableau.com/about/press-releases/2017/tableau-reports-first-quarter-2017-financial-results

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Although only one name appears on the cover of this book, innumerable others have contributed in ways both big and small to the creation of this text. It is with utmost sincerity that I say that without these people much of this work would not have been possible, or half as interesting.

First and foremost, my deepest thanks go to my colleagues in academia at Rutgers University, Montclair State University, and City University of Seattle: Drs. Manish Parashar and Deborah Silver at Rutgers; Rashmi Jain and Richard Peterson at Montclair State University; and Pressley Rankin, Greg Price, and Kelly Flores at City University of Seattle. A special thank you also to Dr. Mark Berenson for gifting me two splendid books on "antique" data visualization, and for spurring my thoughts on visual storytelling through the ages. I am eternally grateful for all of your support of my research, for your belief in me as an educator, and for your guidance and mentorship over the years.

To my former second-half at Radiant Advisors, John O'Brien, for having exposed me to the world of data visualization and giving me the courage to venture out on my own and pursue my passions, both within industry and out. To Robert "Dr. Bob" Brownlow for being a consistent source of wisdom and encouragement every day, from that fateful first phone call in 2011 when I began work on my graduate thesis to now, and every moment in between.

To my friends at Tableau and the entire Tableau Academic Team: Thank you for everything you do and continue to do, for data visualization and for students of all ages! Additionally, many thanks are due to some of my most inspirational friends in the data science industry, among them Anne Buff, Josh Howard, Nate Halko, and Stephen Faig.

To Debra Williams, Chris Zahn, and the entire editing, review, and design team at Pearson, for making this project possible, for seeing it through, and for bringing a beautiful new book into the world. It has been an honor to work with you.

To my partners at New Jersey Public Schools and Sussex County, who have contributed the data used to create some of the tutorials and visuals in this text and afforded me the opportunity to work together on meaningful research.

Much appreciation is owed to several former and current students and research assistants: Sierra Gratale, Gerald Wrona, and Chantel Diaz for your hard work and diligence, and to Craig Moran for volunteering time, ideas, and constructive feedback. I am privileged to have worked alongside you, and I hope you have taken away as much from your time with me as I have from my time with you.

Of course, I am grateful for the love and support of my family: my parents, Lydia and Paul, John and Viktoria; my in-laws,

Dave and Korla; my son and personal sunshine, Wake, for being the most amazing person in the entire world. And, of course, I've saved the best for last: to my husband, Mike, for unconditional love and support.I love you all.

Finally, to all my students—past, present, and future—who I am humbled and grateful to have the pleasure of teaching and learning from:

Sweet Circle of Thanks

My sincerest gratitude to the mentors, friends, colleagues, students, and family who have made this journey so special!



ABOUT THE AUTHOR



Lindy Ryan is passionate about telling stories with data. She specializes in translating raw data into insightful stories through carefully curated visuals and engaging narrative frameworks.

Before joining academia, Lindy was the Research Director for research and advisory firm Radiant Advisors from 2011 through 2016. In this role Lindy led Radiant's analyst activities in the confluence of data discovery, visualization, and visual analytics. She also developed the methodology for the Data Visualization Competency Center (DVCC), a framework for helping data-driven organizations to effectively implement data visualization for enterprise-wide visual data analysis and communication. Her tool-agnostic approach has been successfully implemented at a variety of organizations across several industries and with multiple visualization technologies, including Tableau, Qlik, and GoodData. She remains a respected analyst in the data visualization community and is a regular contributor to several industry publications as well as a speaker at conferences worldwide.

Lindy began her academic career as an associate faculty member at City University of Seattle's School of Applied Leadership where she taught graduate courses in business leadership from 2012 to 2016. In early 2016 she joined the ambitious team at the Rutgers Discovery Informatics Institute and began contributing to multidisciplinary research focused on designing solutions for the next generation of supercomputers tasked with enabling cutting-edge extremescale science. Currently, Lindy leads RDI²'s research on understanding and preventing cyberbullying behaviors in emerging technology users through advanced computing approaches.

Today, Lindy teaches courses in visual analytics and data visualization in Rutgers University's Professional Science Masters program and in Montclair State University's Business Analytics program. She is a recipient of the MSU Professing Excellence Award, which recognizes professors' teaching excellence, particularly those who inspire and motivate students. This honor is especially meaningful to Lindy because in addition to her passion for teaching, her research includes a commitment to STEM advocacy, and she spends time on research related to increasing gender equity in CS&E and finding new and novel ways to nurture visual data literacy skills in early STEM learners.

Lindy is an active committee member of the New Jersey Big Data Alliance, a partnership of New Jersey-based academic institutions that serves as the State's legislated consortium on research, education and outreach in advanced computation and big data. She is the author of *"The Visual Imperative: Creating a Culture of Visual Discovery"* released by Morgan Kaufmann in 2016, and the owner of Black Spot Books, a traditional, analytics-driven small-press publishing house.

Learn more about Lindy at www.visualdatastorytelling.com. You can also follow her on Twitter @lindy_ryan or view samples of her work on her Tableau Public page at https://public.tableau.com/profile/lindyryan#!/.

The Journey from Student to Professor



CHAPTER 1

STORYTELLING IN A DIGITAL ERA

This chapter sets the context for the rest of this book with an introductory discussion on data visualization and visual data storytelling. It explores how these two concepts are similar and different and how both practices have been transformed in the digital era by new technologies and bigger, more diverse, and more dynamic data. Lastly, the chapter explores the value of visual data storytelling for data communication, and establishes how data storytelling is the perfect skill to bridge the very broad and expansive business— IT gap.

A VISUAL REVOLUTION

A data revolution is happening across the globe. From academics to politics and everywhere in between, the world's stories are being told through their data points. Although using visualization to tell stories about data isn't particularly new (in fact, as you'll soon discover, we've been doing it for quite some time), we are now telling them in more influential and impactful ways than ever before.

Today, the resurgence in the power of data visualization alongside a virtual gold rush of bigger, more diverse, and more dynamic data—is providing new tools and innovative techniques to help us transform raw data into compelling visual data narratives. Propelled by this newfound horsepower in data visualization, we are recreating the entire analytic process. We're also making it increasingly more visual—from how we explore data to discover new insights all the way to how we curate dashboards, storyboards, and interactive visualizations to share the fruits of our labor. We are always looking for new ways to show off the messages hidden within our data, and we're getting pretty good at it, too. Charts and graphs created five years ago in Excel do not compare to the incredible visuals we are now producing with best-of-breed tools like Tableau, or scripting with dynamic JavaScript libraries like D3.js (see Figure 1.1).

Our newest breed of data visualizations are moving beyond the classic bar, line, and pie charts of the past, and pushing beyond

the boundaries of traditional information displays to powerful new territories of graphic representation. With determination and a healthy spirit of curiosity and adventure, we are visually representing our data on everything from massive, mural-sized visualizations like the Affinity Map,¹ a 250-square meter visualization produced by the Swiss Federal Institute of Technology in Lausanne, to interactive visualizations like Trendalyzer,² a statistical animation visualization developed by the late Hans Rosling's Gapminder Foundation, to streaming visualizations that bring data to life with real-time movement, to fluid, customizable dashboards that toggle between form factors from the desktop to the smartphone with pixel-perfect rendering. If Gene Roddenberry, creator of the science fiction series Star Trek, had scripted today's visual analytics movement, he might have said we are boldly going where no viz (visualization) has gone before—and he'd be right.

However, all of these visualizations, from the most dynamic to the most static, need more than just data to make the leap from information representation to resonation. They need a story something to show, or, more aptly, to "tell" visually—and finding this tale isn't always obvious when digging through a data set. It takes exploration, curiosity, and a shift in mindset to move from creating a data visualization to scripting a data narrative. They are similar, but not identical, skill sets.



Scotland Trading





Figure 1.1 An example of "old" data visualization compared to its modern equivalent.

Scripting a data narrative might sound like a vague or even an overwhelming process. After all, many of us would consider ourselves analysts first, "data people" before storytellers. We enjoy numbers and analytics and computation more so than the artsy craft of writing stories. Nevertheless, the two are fundamentally intertwined: We must know our data, its context, and the results of analytics in order to extrapolate these into meaning for an audience who doesn't. That's all a story is, really—one person sharing something new and unknown with another in a way that is easily understandable and relatable. The good news? There's no single way to do it. We can use several proven narrative frameworks to design a data storyboard, and numerous quintessential examples exist where a data storyteller has exercised a generous amount of creative liberty and done something entirely new. After all, like any kind of story, data stories require a certain amount of creativity—and although tools and technology can do much with our data for us, creativity is a uniquely human contribution to any narrative (see Figure 1.2). We'll take a look at some of these examples as we go forward.

note

Data *visualization* is the practice of graphically representing data to help people see and understand patterns, insights, and other discoveries hidden inside information. Data *storytelling* translates seeing into meaning by weaving a narrative around the data to

answer questions and support decision making.

Data visualization and data storytelling are not the same thing; however, they are two sides of the same coin. A true data story utilizes data visualizations as a literary endeavor would use illustrations—proof points to support the narrative. However, there's a little bit of a role reversal here: whereas data visualizations provide the "what" in the story, the narrative itself answers the "why." As such, the two work together in tandem to translate raw data into something meaningful for its audience. So, to be a proper data storyteller you need to know how to do both: curate effective data visualizations and frame a storyboard around them. This starts with learning how to visualize data, and more importantly, how to do so in the best way for communication rather than purely analytical purposes. As discussed later in this book, visualizations for analysis versus presentation are not always the same thing in data storytelling.

One of the most common clichés in the viz space is that "data visualizations are only as effective as the insights they reveal." In this context, effectiveness is a function of careful planning. Any meaningful visualization is a two-pronged one. It requires analytical perfection and correct rendering of statistical information, as well as a well-orchestrated balance of visual design cues (color, shape, size, and so on) to encode that data with meaning. The two are not mutually exclusive.





Data visualization is a place where science meets art, although the jury is still out on whether the practice is more a scientific endeavor or an artistic one. Although experts agree that a compelling visual requires both, it tends to be something of a chicken and egg scenario. We haven't quite come to a consensus as to whether science comes before design or we design for the science—and the decision changes depending on whom you ask, who is creating the visualization, and who its audience is. That said, whichever side of the argument you land on, the result is the same. We need statistical understanding of the data, its context, and how to measure it; otherwise, we run the risk of faulty analysis and skewed decision making that, eventually, leads to risk. Likewise, our very-visual cognition system demands a way to encode numbers with meaning, and so we rely on colors and shapes to help automate these processes for us. An effective visual must strike the right balance of both to accurately and astutely deliver on its goal: intuitive insight at a glance.

This might sound like an easy task, but it's not. Learning to properly construct correct and effective data visualization isn't something you can accomplish overnight. It takes as much time to master this craft as it does any other, as well as a certain dedication to patience, practice, and keeping abreast of changes in software. In addition, like so many other things in data science, data visualization and storytelling tend to evolve over time, so an inherent need exists for continuous learning and adaptation, too. The lessons in this book will guide you as you begin your first adventures in data storytelling using data visualizations in Tableau.

FROM VISUALIZATION TO VISUAL DATA STORYTELLING: AN EVOLUTION

With all the current focus on data visualization as the best (and sometimes only) way to see and understand today's biggest and most diverse data, it's easy to think of the practice as a relatively new way of representing data and other statistical information. In reality, the practice of graphing information—and communicating visually reaches back all the way to some of our earliest prehistoric cave drawings where we charted minutiae of early human life, through initial mapmaking, and into more modern advances in graphic design and statistical graphics. Along the way, the practice of data visualization has been aided by both advancements in visual design and cognitive science as well as technology and business intelligence, and these have given rise to the advancements that have led to our current state of data visualization.

In today's data-driven business environment, an emerging new approach to storytelling attempts to combine data with graphics and tell the world's stories through the power of information visualization. For as far back as we can trace the roots of data visualization, storytelling stretches further. Storytelling has been dubbed the world's oldest profession. Likewise, it is now and has always been an integral part of the human experience. There's even evidence of the cognitive effects of storytelling in our neurology. It's a central way that we learn, remember, and communicate information—which has important implications when the goal of a visualization or visual data story is to prepare business decision makers to leave a data presentation with a story in their head that helps them both remember your message and take action on it. We'll discuss the cognitive and anthropological effects of stories more in later chapters.

Graphing stories is the intersection of data visualization and storytelling. American author Kurt Vonnegut is quoted as having famously said, "There is no reason that the simple shapes of stories can't be fed into a computer—they have beautiful shapes." Likewise, we could restate this to say that data stories provide the shapes to communicate information in ways that facts and figures alone can't. Just as much as today's approach to data visualization has changed the way we see and understand our data, data storytelling has equally—if not more —been the catalyst that has radically changed the way we talk about our data.

Learning to present insights and deliver the results of analysis in visual form involves working with data, employing analytical approaches, choosing the most appropriate visualization techniques, applying visual design principles, and structuring a compelling data narrative. Also, although crafting an effective and compelling visual data story is, like traditional storytelling, a uniquely human experience, tools and software exist that can help. Referring back to Vonnegut's quote, stories have shapes. In visual data storytelling, we find the shape of the story through exploration of the data, conduct analysis to discover the sequence of the data points, and use annotations to layer knowledge to tell a story.

To visualize the data storytelling process, consider the graphic shown in Figure 1.3. This is the process we'll follow throughout this book. It's worthwhile to note that this process isn't always as straightforward or linear as it might initially appear. In reality, this process is, like all discovery processes, iterative. For example, as a result of analysis we might need to revisit data wrangling (for example, if we find that we are missing a required attribute that we need for our proposed model). Further, as we find insights we might need to revisit the analysis or adjust the data. Finally, as the story unfolds we might need to revisit previous steps to support claims we did not originally plan to make.



Figure 1.3 The storytelling process, visualized.

FROM VISUAL TO STORY: BRIDGING THE GAP

Before we move into building skills and competencies in visual data storytelling, let's take a moment to pause and think about why we are doing this. We've danced around this already in previous conversations, and while we could make a convincing argument that mastering new tools and ways to interact with data is an inevitable result of the big data era, that would only be half of the reason. Data will continue to grow, technologies to adapt and innovate, and analytical approaches to chart new territory in how we work with and try to uncover meaning and value hidden within our data. The real value in becoming a data storyteller is to amass the ability to share—to communicate—about our data.

So far, I've put data visualization first and communication second, because that is the order you follow when you structure your visual analysis—you have to explore and build something before you can tell a story about it. However, we shouldn't underestimate the communication that happens before you ever touch your data. Communication skills are a prerequisite listed on every job description, but just how important are these skills in data analysis and visual data

storytelling—and why?

In 2012, academic researchers with the AIS Special Interest Group on Decision Support, Knowledge, and Data Management Systems (SIG DSS) and Teradata University Network (TUN) formed the Business Intelligence Congress 3 to survey and assess the state of business intelligence and analytics. They surveyed more than 400 recruiters from technical companies, asking what skills and competencies they looked for in new analytic hires.

Their number one answer? Communication skills³ (see Figure 1.4).

The BI Congress survey isn't the only piece of data to pinpoint the importance of communication skills in analysis. A second recent piece of research comes from data research and advisory firm Gartner.⁴ It conducted a research study to determine why big data projects fail—specifically, what percentage of big data projects fail due to organizational problems, like communication, and what percentage fail due to technical problems, like programming or hardware? Only about 1% of companies responded that technical issues alone were the fail point of their data analytics problems. The other 99% of companies said that at least half of the reasons their data analytics projects failed were due to poor organizational skills, namely communication, and not technical skills.
How Important are Communication Skills?

According to a survey of recruiters, managers, and practitioners in analytics: very important.

SOURCE: The Current State of Business Intelligence in Academia: The Arrival of Big Data, 2014



Figure 1.4 According to the BIC3 Survey published in 2014, communication skills outrank technical skills for getting a business analysis job.

Of course, there isn't a perfect correlation between organizational skills and communication, but the reality is that one of the most important organizational skills *is* the ability to communicate—hence its inclusion in every business academic program and on every aforementioned job posting. Although communication skills might live on the softer side of things in terms of skillsets, it is nonetheless a skill that is critical for success, particularly when helping others to see the story within data. However, sharing a story isn't enough. Anyone can do that. If we can't communicate, we can't inspire change or action. Real communication is a two-way dialogue between a sender and a receiver, or receivers. It prompts an action, supports a decision, or generates understanding.

When we discuss the importance of communication skills within the context of data storytelling we are looking at it from an audience-first perspective. This means putting the audience's needs ahead of the storytellers. Successful communication hinges on the ability to influence the people who matter the most—the stakeholder to your analysis, be that an executive, a teacher, the general public, or anyone else. Ultimately, how data—visual or otherwise—is interpreted is fundamentally influenced by context. Context is a multifaceted thing. It is driven in part by your audience, but just as important to your story is the part of the context driven by you —your assumptions, your goals, and what you already know.

Understanding the importance of context is the focus of <u>Chapter 4</u>. For now, to answer the question I posed earlier—how important are communication skills in visual data storytelling?—they are paramount.

A NOTE ABOUT "DESSERT CHARTS"

After more than 200 years of use (the first being

credited to William Playfair's Statistical Breviary of 1801) what have come to be called "dessert charts" those circular visualizations including pie and donut charts that "slice" data into wedges reminiscent of our favorite sweets—have had a bit of a fall from grace. Although still widely in use, many visualization experts and educators preach against the use of these types of charts, myself included. However, it should be noted that hatred of pie charts is not merely an opinion, and there is empirical research that provides the basis for why these types of charts just don't work analytically. That said, there are ways to use them productively—particular as mechanisms for data storytelling—if a few words of caution are followed. We'll take a deeper look at how to best curate "dessert charts" for visual data storytelling in Chapter 7, "Preparing Data for Storytelling."

DATA SCIENCE EDUCATION GETS ON THE MAP

By now we are all in agreement: The business of data is changing. Business users are more empowered to work with data; IT is shifting its focus to be less about control and more about enablement. New data science job descriptions—like data scientist and visual data artist—are springing up as companies look for the right people with the right skill sets to squeeze more value from their data. Data itself is getting bigger, hardware more economical, and analytical software more "self-service." We've embraced the paradigm shift from traditional BI to iterative data discovery. We're depending on data visualization and data storytelling to see, understand, and share data in ways like never before. It's the visual imperative in action.

As you might expect, these changes have a significant effect on how people work in data science, be they executives, data scientists, researchers, analysts, or even data storytellers. There are a lot of skills available and a very big toolbox to choose tools from, and we are all learning together. Adding to that, over the past few years we've been reminded that data workers are in high demand, and we've seen firsthand how limited the current supply is. There's the familiar U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics estimate that expects 1.4 million computer science jobs by 2020. Another familiar statistic from the McKinsey Global Institute estimates that there will be 140,000 to 180,000 unfilled data scientist positions in the market in 2018. That's a lot of empty seats to fill. So, we are faced with two challenges: 1) we need more capable data people and 2) we need them with deeper, more dynamic skillsets. This means we have to start thinking about cultivating talent—rather than recruiting it—and training an incoming workforce isn't something that an industry can do alone, no matter how many specialized software training programs, MOOCs, conferences, and excellent publications we produce. To enact lasting change and a sustainable funnel of competent data workers suited

to the new era of the data industry, we need to move further down the pipeline to that place where we all discovered we wanted to be data people in the first place: the classroom.

That's exactly what we're doing. The academic community has been tasked with developing new educational programs that can develop the skills and education needed by new data science professionals. These university information science programs called business analytics, data science, professional business science, or the dozen or so terms used by academia—are only just beginning to be sorted out. However, they are growing exponentially across the country, and so far enrollment is promising.

Different universities are taking different approaches to structuring a new kind of data science education. Some are developing entirely new pedagogy focused on the fluid and dynamic fields of data science. Others are reshaping existing curricula by unifying across academic silos to integrate disciplines of study, particularly among business and IT domains. Others are forming academic alliance programs to give students learning experiences with contemporary industry tools and creating projects that expose students to analytical problems within real-world business context.

Nevertheless, all universities are listening to campus recruiters, who are clearly saying that we need people with more data skills and knowledge, and they're working hard to fill that gap. More importantly, there are a few things that these programs have in common. They're focused on real-world applications of data problems. They're doing their best to keep pace with fluid changes in technology adoption, new programming languages, and on-the-market software packages. They're also putting a premium on data visualization and data storytelling. Vendors like Tableau with its Tableau for Teaching program are helping, too.

As you might expect, these changes have a significant effect on how people work in data science, be they executives, data scientists, researchers, analysts, or even data storytellers. There are a lot of skills available and a very big toolbox to choose tools from, and we are all learning together. Adding to that, over the past few years we've been reminded that data workers are in high demand, and we've seen firsthand how limited the current supply is. There's the familiar U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics estimate that expects 1.4 million computer science jobs by 2020. Another familiar statistic from the McKinsey Global Institute estimates that there will be 140,000 to 180,000 unfilled data scientist positions in the market in 2018. That's a lot of empty seats to fill. So, we are faced with two challenges: 1) we need more capable data people and 2) we need them with deeper, more dynamic skillsets. This means we have to start thinking about cultivating talent—rather than recruiting it—and training an incoming workforce isn't something that an industry can do alone, no

matter how many specialized software training programs, MOOCs, conferences, and excellent publications we produce. To enact lasting change and a sustainable funnel of competent data workers suited to the new era of the data industry, we need to move further down the pipeline to that place where we all discovered we wanted to be data people in the first place: the classroom.

That's exactly what we're doing. The academic community has been tasked with developing new educational programs that can develop the skills and education needed by new data science professionals. These university information science programs called business analytics, data science, professional business science, or the dozen or so terms used by academia—are only just beginning to be sorted out. However, they are growing exponentially across the country, and so far enrollment is promising.

Different universities are taking different approaches to structuring a new kind of data science education. Some are developing entirely new pedagogy focused on the fluid and dynamic fields of data science. Others are reshaping existing curricula by unifying across academic silos to integrate disciplines of study, particularly among business and IT domains. Others are forming academic alliance programs to give students learning experiences with contemporary industry tools and creating projects that expose students to analytical problems within real-world business context. Nevertheless, all universities are listening to campus recruiters, who are clearly saying that we need people with more data skills and knowledge, and they're working hard to fill that gap. More importantly, there are a few things that these programs have in common. They're focused on real-world applications of data problems. They're doing their best to keep pace with fluid changes in technology adoption, new programming languages, and on-the-market software packages. They're also putting a premium on data visualization and data storytelling. Vendors like Tableau with its Tableau for Teaching program are helping, too.

So just how big is data science education? Over the past couple of years, the number of new business analytics program offerings has significantly increased. In 2010 there were a total of 131 confirmed, full-time BI/BA university degree programs, including 47 undergraduate-level programs. Today, that number has nearly tripled and continues to rise with new and improved programs at the undergraduate, graduate, and certificate levels—both on and off campus—springing up at accredited institutions across the country (see Figure 1.5). So, while we might not have access to all this new data talent yet, if academia has anything to say about it, help is on the way.

note

This dataset is regularly updated and maintained by Ryan Swanstrom, and is available via Github at



SUMMARY

This chapter focused on providing an introductory discussion on data visualization and visual data storytelling

by taking a look at how these concepts are similar and different, and how both have been transformed in the digital era. The next chapter takes a closer look at the power of visual data stories to help us understand what makes them so powerful and important in today's data deluge.

^{1.} https://actu.epfl.ch/news/the-world-s-largest-data-visualization/

^{2.} https://www.gapminder.org/tag/trendalyzer/

^{3.} Wixom, Barbara; Ariyachandra, Thilini; Douglas, David; Goul, Michael; Gupta, Babita; Iyer, Lakshmi; Kulkarni, Uday; Mooney, John G.; Phillips-Wren, Gloria; and Turetken, Ozgur (2014). "The Current State of Business Intelligence in Academia: The Arrival of Big Data," *Communications of the Association for Information Systems*: Vol. 34, Article 1.

^{4.} http://www.gartner.com/newsroom/id/2593815

CHAPTER 2

THE POWER OF VISUAL DATA STORIES

This chapter uses quintessential and reallife examples from the visual storytelling canon to display the powerful ability of data stories to communicate discoveries and insights hidden in data. We will ground these lessons by taking time to understand what makes data visualization and stories so influential to the human brain from both a cognitive and an anthropological perspective.

THE SCIENCE OF STORYTELLING

The world of data is changing. So is how we tell stories about it.

In a September 2016 interview with NPR Marketplace, ¹______ *National Geographic* editor-in-chief Susan Goldberg spoke to host Kai Ryssdal about the power of visual storytelling, which has provided a transformative conduit for the publication in the new digital era. Speaking to *National Geographic*'s conversion from traditional print magazine to social media heavyweight, Goldberg commented that "everything is visual today"—especially stories. It's worth noting that *National Geographic* is dominating visual storytelling online, using powerful imagery to captivate and educate 19 million Snapchat users, 60 million Instagram followers, and 50 million Facebook followers. The magazine is also throwing its hat in the ring with data visualization with its Data Points blog.

Media and journalists are not the only ones putting emphasis on data storytelling, although they arguably have been a particularly imaginative bunch of communicators. Today we've seen the power of storytelling used to color in conversations on just about every type of data imaginable from challenging astronomical principles, to visualizing the tenure pipeline at Harvard Business School, to quantifying the fairytale of Little Red Riding Hood. In every organization and every industry, data stories are becoming the next script for how we share information.

For as diverse as data stories can be, they all have one thing in common: They give us something to connect to in a very literal sense. Let's delve into the power of stories, first by looking behind the curtain at the science of storytelling and then looking at some incredible data stories over time to see how they have capitalized on the secret sauce of storytelling.

The Brain on Stories

In <u>Chapter 1</u> I mentioned that evidence exists of the cognitive effects of storytelling embedded within our neurology. Here's how: When we are presented with data, only two parts of our brain respond. These are Wernicke's area—responsible for language comprehension—and Broca's area—responsible, again, for language processing. For the very powerful human brain, data is easy. The brain's response to these stimuli is a relatively simple input-and-respond transaction that requires the utilization of these two basic areas. Because we're focused only on seeing and responding to information (agree/disagree), there's no great need to overexert our neuro-horsepower.

Unlike simple data, stories require a substantial cognitive boost. Here's an easy thought exercise. Imagine that tonight we have pasta on the menu. However, our pantry is empty, so to prepare this meal we need to go to the market. Let's make a quick mental list of our ingredients: pasta, some tomato sauce, perhaps some herbs, garlic, and Parmesan cheese—if we're feeling fancy we can grab a loaf of garlic bread, too. Now, let's pretend we get to the market, only to discover it's closed. So, instead of cooking we decide instead to go to our favorite Italian restaurant (it's okay if yours is Olive Garden—mine is, too) and order something from the menu. Suddenly the image changes: We're no longer looking at a bunch of individual items on a grocery list; we're imagining a waiter setting down a big, beautiful dish of flavorful and delicious spaghetti in front of us. Perhaps we also hear the buzzing backdrop of restaurant sounds—water glasses, clinking silverware, and so on. If we think about it long enough—or if we're hungry enough—we can almost *taste* the food.

This is the difference between visualizing data, and presenting a story: rather than itemizing a list of ingredients (data points) we are presenting a full, sensory-engaging dining experience (see Figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1 Visualizing versus presenting.

You can think of this storytelling experience in a more traditional way, too, by considering the difference in reading a novel and watching a film. When reading, you are tasked with using your imagination—you're reading the raw data of words and building the story in your own mind. Conversely, when watching a film, your imagination is off the hook. Images of characters and settings, costumes, spoken dialogue, music, and so on are displayed for you on the screen. When you watch a live presentation, like a play or a 4D movie, you also get a few extra pieces of sensory information, like the smell of a smoke machine or carefully chosen scents to accompany the story pumping through the air.

These extra storytelling details have a profound effect on the brain (see Figure 2.2). Beyond the two areas of the brain that activate when presented with data, when presented with a story, five additional areas respond. These are

- The visual cortex (colors and shapes)
- The olfactory cortex (scents)
- The auditory cortex (sounds)
- The motor cortex (movement)
- The sensory cortex/cerebellum (language comprehension)



Figure 2.2 The brain on stories.

The Human on Stories

Beyond the sciences, there's also a lot of truth to the old saying "everyone loves a good story."

Storytelling has been an integral part of human expression and culture throughout time. All human cultures tell stories, and most people derive a great deal of pleasure from them—even if they are untrue (think of fantastical stories or fables). Beyond entertainment, stories teach us important lessons; we learn from them. In many cases they are how we transmit information—whether through metaphoric tales, instructions, or legends. Stories also have the ability to transport us; we give the author license to stretch the truth—although, in data storytelling, this license extends only as far as it can before the data loses its elasticity and begins to break down. Data stories, above all, must be true. They are works of narration, but of the non-fiction variety.

Okay, so we love stories—but why? There's no easy answer to this question, and frankly from academe to industry, the research is crowded with books and articles attempting to explain the cognitive basis of all storytelling and literature under the heading of storytelling psychology. That said, we can distill all of these dialogues into two primary possible contenders for *why* we tell stories: the need to survive (fitness) and the need to know (closure).

Fitness

As much as we might try to argue it, human beings did not evolve to find truth. We evolved to defend positions and obtain resources—oftentimes regardless of the cost—to survive. These concepts are at the heart of Darwinian theory of natural selection: survival of the fittest as the mechanism, and our ability to overcome (or, biologically, to reproduce), fitness.

Human biology aside to survive in competitive and often unstable environments—whether wilderness or business—one thing we've always had to do is understand other people. In fact, one of our most expensive cognitive tasks where we exert an impressive amount of energy is in trying to figure out other people: predict what they're going to do, understand motivations, assess relationships, and so forth. Beyond people, we are also driven to understand how things work. If we know how they work, we can conquer, fix, or control. All of these lead to winning, which equates to survival and continuation. Stories act as guides to give us the information and confidence we need to harness this knowledge. They increase our fitness.

Closure

Aside from being bent on survival, humans also tend to require closure. The few philosophical exceptions notwithstanding, in general we don't enjoy ongoing questions and curiosities with no resolution—we *need* endings, even unhappy ones. We simply can't abide cliffhangers; they're sticky in the worst of ways, bouncing around in our brains until we can finally "finish" them and put them to rest. There's actually a term for this phenomenon called the *Zeigarnik effect*. It was named for Soviet psychologist Bluma Zeigarnik who demonstrated that people have a better memory for unfinished tasks that they do for finished ones. Today, the Zeigarnik effect is known formally as a "psychological device that creates dissonance and uneasiness in the target audience."

In essence, the Zeigarnik effect speaks to our human need for endings. No matter the story's goal—to focus, align, teach, or inspire—we build narratives to foster imagination, excitement, even speculation. Successful narratives are those that are able to grab the audience's attention, work through a message, and then resolve our anxiety with a satisfactory ending. Thus, stories are therapeutic—they give us closure.

THE POWER OF STORIES

We've established that data stories are powerful, and that

they are powerful because of their ability to communicate information, generate understanding and knowledge, and stick in our brains. However, as information assets, visual data stories have a few other noteworthy qualities.

But first, let's set the record straight. There is much to be said about how visual data stories creating meaning in a time of digital data deluge, but it would be careless to relegate data storytelling to the role of "a fun new way to talk about data." In fact, it has *radically changed* the way we talk about data (though certainly not invented the concept). The traditional charts and graphs we've always used to represent data are still helpful because they help us to better visually organize and understand information. They've just become a little static. With today's technology, fueled by today's innovation, we've moved beyond the mentality of gathering, analyzing, and reporting data to collecting, exploring, and sharing information —rather than simply rendering data visually we are focused on using these mechanisms to engage, communicate, inspire, and make data memorable. No longer resigned to the tasks of beautifying reports or dashboards, data visualizations are lifting out of paper, coming out of the screen, and moving into our hearts, minds, and emotions. The ability to stir emotion is the secret ingredient of visual data storytelling, and what sets it apart from the aforementioned static visual data renderings.

As we'll explore in later chapters, emotional appeal isn't enough to complete a meaningful visual data story. Like any good tale, a data story requires an anchor, or a goal—be it a reveal, a call to action, or an underlying message—to pass to its audience. This idea isn't unique to data storytelling by any means, but a construct applied to all varieties of stories. When a story imprints on our memory, it requires emotion plus a willingness to act on that emotion.

Instead of talking about the power of visual data stories, let's see them in action. As we do, we'll be looking for the following key takeaways:

- Sometimes the only way to see the story in data is visually.
- A good story should meet its goals—and it should be actionable.
- A story should change, challenge, or confirm the way you think.
- Storytelling evolves—don't be afraid to try something new.

The Classic Visualization Example

One of the core tenants of a visual data story is that it uses different forms of data visualization—charts, graphs, infographics, and so on—to bring data to life. Perhaps one of the most archetypal examples of the power of data visualization to help people see and understand data in ways they never would by looking at rows and columns of raw black and white data comes from Anscombe's Quartet (see Figure 2.3). Constructed in 1973 by statistician Francis Anscombe, these four datasets appear identical when compared by their summary statistics. If you review the table, you will notice that each dataset has the same mean of both X and Y, the same standard deviation, the same

	1		1		III		IV	
	Х	Y	Х	Y	Х	Y	Х	Y
	10	8.04	10	9.14	10	7.46	8	6.58
	8	6.95	8	8.14	8	6.77	8	5.76
	13	7.58	13	8.74	13	12.74	8	7.71
	9	8.81	9	8.77	9	7.11	8	8.84
	11	8.33	11	9.26	11	7.81	8	8.47
	14	9.96	14	8.1	14	8.84	8	7.04
	6	7.24	6	6.13	6	6.08	8	5.25
	4	4.26	4	3.1	4	5.38	10	12.5
	12	10.84	12	9.13	12	8.15	8	5.56
	7	4.82	7	7.26	7	6.42	8	7.91
	5	5.68	5	4.74	5	5.73	8	6.88
MEAN	9.00	7.5	9.00	7.5	9.00	7.5	9.00	7.5
STD	3.32	2.03	3.32	2.03	3.32	2.03	3.32	2.03
CORR	0.82		0.82		0.82		0.82	
LIN REG	y = 3.00	+ 0.500x	y = 3.00	+ 0.500x	y = 3.00 + 0.500x		y = 3.00 + 0.500x	

Figure 2.3 Four seemingly identica	l datasets known as
Anscombe's Quartet.	

Even though the individual variables are different, if the statistical outputs are the same, we would expect these, when graphed, to *look* the same. The "story" for each of these datasets should be the same—right? Wrong.

When graphed (see Figure 2.4), we can see beyond the limitations of basic statistical properties for describing data, and can tell a bigger picture of the datasets and the relationships therein.

Anscombe's example might be classic in terms of putting some support behind visual horsepower, but it only brushes the tip of the iceberg in terms of visual data storytelling. Although we might not yet have everything we need to tell a story, we can start to see that the sets are not so similar as they might appear, and there is *something* worth talking about in these datasets. We know there is a story there, and we know we need to visualize it to see it, but we are still left wanting. This isn't quite a visual data story, but it's definitely a first step.



Figure 2.4 Anscombe's Quartet, visualized.



Sometimes the only way to see the story in data is visually.

Using Small Personal Data for Big Stories

When it comes to telling a story, no one knows how to do it better than Hollywood—except maybe networks like Netflix and AMC that are using massive amounts of consumer-generated data as recipes to create new content.

Graphic designer Chelsea Carlson decided to take this approach to a personal level. In a 2016 experiment, Chelsea focused on analyzing her personal Netflix viewing habits to see what story her own data might tell about her television binging habits, tastes and preferences, and—perhaps more important in a streaming TV market saturated with more new shows every day—possibly even help her predict a new favorite by telling her exactly what to look for (this, by the way, is not too unlike how Netflix is using its user viewing data to curate new shows).

Like many analysts, Chelsea began her experiment by collecting and organizing her Netflix viewing data in spreadsheets organized in Microsoft Excel. She tracked several variables on her top 27 favorite shows, including things like genre, language, main character gender, episode length, IMDB rating, and more (see Figure 2.5). As a tool, a color-coded spreadsheet helped Chelsea get a bird's eye view of some of the interesting patterns and trends in her data (like whether she seemed to prefer multi-season shows or if her favor aligned with award winners) as well as areas where her tastes were less predictable (no preference for age and race of the lead character or the show's setting or length). However, this was

the extent of meaningful analysis that Chelsea could achieve when limited to scouring rows and columns of information even colored ones (see the upcoming sidebar "Color Cues").

Like Anscombe's Quartet, when Chelsea plotted her data it transformed beyond its meager Excel boundaries and moved into the realm of visual storytelling, this time showing a much richer tale (see Figure 2.6).

eral see	.00 123 - Arial -	10 - B	I \$ <u>A</u> .	4. - 3 - 33 -	⊪ · <u>1</u> · + ·	00 🖬 🖬	-Σ		
A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	I	l
ow name	time period	main character	length	costume drama	# of seasons	years on the	IMDB us IM	IDB # of users	golder show creator
d Men	mid 20th	man	45	yes	7	2007-2015	8.7	131,187	4 Mathew Weiner
vet	mid 20th	ensemble	60	yes	4+	2013-	7.9	879	0 Ramón Campos, Gema R.
andal	present	woman	45	yes	5+	2012-	7.9	45,209	0 Shonda Rhimes
REAL	present	woman	45	no	2+	2015-	7.8	3,732	0 Marti Noxon, Sarah Ger
e Office	present	ensemble	20	no	5	2005-2013	8.8	179,606	1 Greg Daniels, Ricky Ger
rks & Recreation	present	woman	20	no	7	2009-2015	8.6	103,152	1 Greg Daniels, Michael S
wnton Abbey	early 20th	ensemble	60	yes	6	2010-2015	8.7	98,003	3 Julian Fellowes
erlock	present	man	45	no	4+	2010-	9.3	430,133	0 Mark Gatiss, Steven Mo
pire	present	ensemble	45	yes	2+	2015-	8	20,544	0 Lee Daniels, Danny Stro
afly	future (2517)	man	45	yes	1	2002-2003	9.1	171,351	0 Joss Whedon
ested Development	present	man	20	no	6	2003-2013	9	195,532	1 Mitchell Hurwitz
les Motel	retro present	woman	45	yes	3+	2013-	8.1	49,820	0 Anthony Cipriano, Carlt
aks & Geeks	1980s	woman	45	no	1	1999-2000	8.9	82,813	1 Paul Feig
light Zone	assorted	ensemble	20	no	5	1959-1964	9	39,253	1 Rod Serling
ad City	present	woman	20	no	3+	2014-	8.5	10,154	0 Ilana Glazer, Abbi Jacob
shing Daisles	retro present	couple	45	yes	2	2007-2009	8.4	42,479	0 Bryan Fuller
-So-Called Life	present	woman	45	no	1	1994-1995	8.4	14,541	1 Winnie Holzman
ange is the New Black	present	women ensemb	45	no	4	2013-	8.4	159,370	0 Jenji Kohan
erican Horror Story	assorted	ensemble	45	yes	6	2011-	8.3	173,899	1 Brad Falchuk, Ryan Mur
ad Like Me	present	woman	45	no	2	2003-2004	8.2	33,669	0 Bryan Fuller
e Riches	present	couple	45	no	1.5	2007-2008	8	7,004	0 Dmitry Lipkin
e Tudors	17th century	man	45	yes	4	2007-2010	8.1	47,512	0 Michael Hirst
fly the Vampire Slayer	present	woman	46	no	7	1997-2003	8.2	96,018	0 Joss Whedon
lihouse	present	woman	46	no	2	2009-2010	7.8	38,314	0 Joss Whedon
ect Runway	present	ensemble	45	yes	14+	2004-	7.3	7,881	2 n/a
e Grand Hotel	early 20th	ensemble	60	Ves	3	2011-2013	8.5	2.079	0 n/a

Figure 2.5 Chelsea Carson's Netflix data spreadsheet, in table form.



Figure 2.6 Chelsea Carlson's Netflix data visualized.

note

See more of Chelsea's Netflix data story at https://www.umbel.com/blog/data-visualization/netflixchill-little-data-experiment-understanding-my-owntaste-tv/.

As a visual storyteller, Chelsea worked through visual discovery and a variety of graph types that included scatter plots, packed bubble charts, timelines, and even pie charts to build her data story. She also integrated expressive visual elements—particularly size and color—to provide visual cues to assign meaning to the visualization and highlight certain insights. As a result, Chelsea was able to come away with a rich visual data story encapsulated within a series of very deliberately crafted visualizations. There are several interesting story points to pick out within this visualization including a strong bias for costume dramas and shows cut short—and you can explore them for yourself in the URL included. However, perhaps the most salient point is that through this story Chelsea can take action on the goals she set

for this visual story. She can clearly see her tastes and preferences, and when she goes scrolling through Netflix for her next binge-worthy show, she'll know to look for a female-

led costume drama with a genre-bending storyline.

Story Takeaway

A good story should meet its goals—and it should be actionable.

COLOR CUES

The Netflix experiment brings to mind an important learning point in the power of data visualization. One of the most important lessons in learning how to build data visualization is learning how to leverage what are referred to as pre-attentive features—a limited set of visual properties that are detected very rapidly (around 200 to 250 milliseconds) and accurately by our visual system, and are not constrained by display size. A good visualization—the building blocks of a visual data story—reduces time to insight and leverages our brain's pre-attentive features to shave time as low as possible.

Let's take a look at the pre-attentive feature known as *perceptual pop-out*. Perceptual pop-out is the use of color as a beacon to pre-attentively detect items of importance within visualization. The shape, size, or color of the item here is less important than its ability to "pop out" of a display. Further, these should be used sparingly, and with intention. Too many of these features at once negates their impact, or—worse—can have a detrimental effect on your visual.

Consider a visit to the eye doctor, when your vision is tested by the ability to spot a flash of color in a sea of darkness, or take a look at Figure 2.7.

	2013	2014	2015	2016
Target	22.27B	21.44B	21.34B	21.79B
Disney	9.45B	22.39B	24.1B	25.64B
Starbucks	8.51B	9.59B	11.38B	12.8B

Figure 2.7 A table showing companies with respective annual gross profits, 2013–2016.

*All data gathered from www.amigobulls.com

This is a simple table with only three companies, but suppose I asked you to tell me, in each year, which company had the highest gross profit? You are tasked with analyzing each box of the table, line by line, to assess each year independently and select the highest number. You might even have to write it down or mark it in some way to help you remember the winner. Go ahead and give it a try. It should take you roughly one minute to complete the exercise.

Now, take a look at Figure 2.8 and try again.

	2013	2014	2015	2016
Target				
Disney				
Starbucks				

Figure 2.8 A table showing companies with respective annual gross profits, replaced by color, 2013–2016.

This time, we've replaced the numerical data with a visual cue. Rather than reading the table, perceptual pop-out makes completing this exercise near instant. We don't have to actually "look" for answers; we simply "see" them instead.

Because the sample we are looking at is so small, this is a good time to remark on the special partnership between color and counting. Essentially, the fewer things there are to count, the quicker we can count them—which makes sense. If I asked you which company outperformed the others, Disney would be an easy response as it has three out of four of the orange squares.

Our ability to "count" visually is called *numerosity*. It is a numerical intuition pattern that allows us to see an amount without actually counting it, and it varies among individuals although the typical counting amount ranges between two and ten items.

As you build visualizations as part of your storyboard framework, be sure to pay careful attention to color

and counting to help your audience easily and intuitively experience your story.

The Two-or-Four Season Debate

In school, we're taught that a full year includes four distinct seasons—spring, summer, fall, and winter. Yet, some people argue that only two true seasons exist—summer and winter —and they're using a form of visual data storytelling (and a good heaping of rationality) to prove their point. My favorite of these comes from artificial intelligence researcher Nate Soares' blog, Minding Our Way.²

The item up for debate in this story is a simple one: Is it fair to qualify "waxing summer" (also known as spring) and "waning summer"" (also known as autumn) as full seasons? Sure, it's *familiar* and if you live in the northern hemisphere you can likely distinguish the seasons according to their observable natural phenomena—such as their colorful transitions—flowers blooming or leaves changing color—rather than their actual astronomical dates (and this doesn't even begin to open the conversation on astronomical versus meteorological dates of change³.

Let's begin to build a story around this and see where we end up. First let's agree on a foundation: The year follows a seasonal cycle that starts cold and gets progressively warmer until it peaks and begins to cool again. Repeat. Right? This is a pretty basic assumption. More importantly, it's one that we can successfully chart—loosely and without requiring any more specific data or numbers at all. Rather, we'll use points from the basic story premise we laid out earlier to graph a seasonal continuum for the year, using length of daylight as our curve (see <u>Figure 2.9</u>). From there, we can try to decide just how many seasons are really in a year.



Figure 2.9 The seasonal cycle of a single year.

How many curves does the orange line trace? The answer, obviously, is two—hence the two-season viewpoint (see Figure 2.10).



Figure 2.10 Two seasons.

Now, we could break this down further with more information. We could add in astronomical dates or mull over geographic differences in weather or meteorology. However, whether or not you agree with Nate and me (and others!) on the number of qualifying seasons that occur over the course of one year, the preceding two graphs represent a powerful data story—and they don't even require the type of "hard data" (rows and columns of numbers) that we would typically expect. This shows us—quite literally—that to tell a great story doesn't necessarily require a ton of data. It just requires a few points, a goal, and the creativity to visualize it for your audience in a way that affects their opinion.

Story Takeaway

A story should change, challenge, or confirm the way you think.

Napoleon's March

As I've mentioned, using visualizations to tell stories about data is not a new technique. French civil engineer Charles Joseph Minard has been credited for several significant contributions in the field of information graphics, among them his very unique visualizations of two military campaigns—Hannibal's march from Spain to Italy some 2,200 years ago and Napoleon's invasion of Russia in 1812. Both of these visualizations were published in 1869 when Minard was a spry 88 years old.

Minard's flow map of Napoleon's invasion of Russia (see <u>Figure 2.11</u>)—unofficially titled "Napoleon's March by Minard"—tells the story of Napoleon's army, particularly its size (by headcount) as it made its way from France to Russia

and home again. As you read this visualization, moving left to right, the beige ribbon thins, signaling the waning of Napoleon's army from 422,000 to 100,000 as they marched east, during the winter, to Moscow. The army turned around and retreated, returning to France with a mere 10,000 men. We can move through the visualization, imagining the soldiers' journey and peril as they hiked through increasingly inhospitable and unfamiliar territory, turning around and coming home, losing more than 400,000 comrades on the way to war, cold, and disease.



Figure 2.11 Napoleon's 1812 March by Minard, 1869.

Obviously, this was not a successful war, and as an analysis piece Minard's map is not a successful one analytically. However, as a visual story around human drama, it has earned the distinction of becoming known as one of the best storytelling examples in history. You would be hard pressed to take a data visualization class today and not experience Napoleon's march. It's fair to note, too, that several analysts have tried to recreate it, using more common statistical methods but all fall short of the original's storytelling appeal.

Minard's second military visualization, Hannibal's journey through the Alps (not pictured), is similar in concept to Napoleon's march, although it didn't quite pull off the same memorable story. Most stories have an inherent amount of entropy—we need to tell them quickly and succinctly, and many times this means we only get one chance. In fact, numerous examples of this "once and done" effect exist in more modern visual data stories, too. These one-hit wonders are an expected consequence of good stories. Sometimes we only need to tell them once—no sequels necessary.

Story Takeaway

Stories have an inherent amount of entropy, and some we tell only once.

Stories Outside of the Box

Thus far we've looked at some of the most classic examples of visual data stories to those more modern. We've even looked at visual data storytelling without data in the classic sense. Now, let's finish our tour of the power of visual data storytelling with one of the most quintessential instances on the books: Nigel Holmes' "Monstrous Costs" (see Figure 2.12).



Figure 2.12 Nigel Holmes' Monstrous Costs.

This hand-drawn illustration does exactly what a visual data story is supposed to do: It transforms boring data into something alive. At its core, this data visualization is little more than a bar chart that shows rising costs on political campaign expenditures, but it's the storytelling detail that gives it the flair that has made it such a powerful example. It weaves a story around the data, anthropomorphizing these costs from dollars and cents to a ravenous beast, replete with jagged teeth and flying spittle. As with the Napoleon's March by Minard graph, we'll take a much closer and more critical look at this story in a later chapter, but for now the lesson is simply that visual stories come in all shapes and sizes, some more technical looking and some so unique and personalized that they are barely recognizable as visualizations.

What masterful storytellers can do is to straddle that balance, and capitalize on the best features to tell their story. In Monstrous Costs, these features allow the image to hook into memory, clearly telling the story of rising campaign costs with the intended emotion of the storyteller.

Story Takeaway

Don't be afraid to try something new.

SUMMARY

In this chapter we discussed what makes stories so impactful on the human brain. We then looked at a few reallife examples of visual data storytelling in action. We could analyze many more examples for this purpose, and more are available online at the website companion to this book, www.visualdatastorytelling.com.

Now, let's get ready to put this information to work in Tableau. In the next chapter we'll begin exploring the Tableau ecosystem, and take a journey through its freshly redesigned user interface. This will form the basis for later hands-on practice in exploring and analyzing data visually as we work toward building complete visual data stories.

 ^{1.} www.marketplace.org/2016/09/26/sustainability/corner-office-marketplace/dont-callnationalgeographic-stodgy

^{2.} http://mindingourway.com/there-are-only-two-seasons/

^{3.} https://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/news/meteorological-versus-astronomical-seasons

CHAPTER 3

GETTING STARTED WITH TABLEAU

The goal of this chapter is to help you get your footing with the Tableau product ecosystem and use the basic Tableau interface so that you are familiar enough with the tool to begin working hands-on with data. This chapter covers how to get started with Tableau, reviews the tool's basic functionality, discusses how to connect to data, and provides an overview of data types in Tableau. From here, you will be able to move on to the visual analysis process, curating visuals, and building stories. The version of Tableau available at the time of this writing is **Tableau 10, and this chapter illustrates** using the Mac version of the software (little to no difference exists between Mac and Windows versions, although some aesthetic differences might be apparent).
If you are already an intermediate Tableau user and familiar with the v10 interface and Tableau terminology, you might want to skip this chapter and move on to <u>Chapter 4</u>, "Importance of Context in Storytelling."

USING TABLEAU

Standing out against many other data visualization tools on the market, Tableau is an industry-leading, best-of-breed tool that delivers an approachable, intuitive environment for self-service users of all levels to help them prepare, analyze, and visualize their data. The software also provides delivery channels for the fruits of its user's visual analysis, including dashboards and native storytelling functionality, called "story points" in Tableau.

Tableau's stated mission is to help everyone "see and understand" their data, and to facilitate this the company offers a suite of software products, including a recently released free mobile app called Vizable, designed to suit the needs of a diverse group of clients from enterprise-level organizations to academic users and visualization hobbyists who want to visualize data in a mobile-first format. All the Tableau products excel at displaying data visually, using a drag-anddrop canvas on top of embedded analytics to help users explore their data. Tableau Desktop can connect to a wide variety of data, stored in a variety of places—from local spreadsheets, to multidimensional databases, and even some cloud database sources, like Google Analytics, Amazon Redshift, or Salesforce—and the number of connections is always increasing.¹ Although Tableau can mimic Excel by providing the capability to analyze rows and columns of numbers, its focus is on interactive, visual data exploration through its analytic capabilities as well as dashboarding and storytelling features, no programming required. For more advanced users, Tableau supports a complete formula language and robust data connections: Tableau's live query engine allows users to connect to more than forty different data sources; its in-memory data engine leverages the complete memory hierarchy from disk to L1 cache and shifts the curve between big data and fast analysis.

WHY TABLEAU?

In his book, *Communicating Data with Tableau*, author Ben Jones included a personal note to his readers on why he chooses Tableau. I thought I might do something similar.

My reference for Tableau is part personal preference and part professional opinion. When I was an analyst in the data science community, I had the opportunity to work hands-on with many of the leading data visualization technologies on the market and get to know the vendors in the space. Being fluent on the tools available, their capabilities and limitations, and the viability of their provider was a required part of my job as clients, and the industry-at-large looks to trusted voices to help them navigate a sea of options. Many impressive data visualization and storytelling tools are available, but Tableau was—at least in my opinion—always at least one step ahead of the pack with its intuitive user interface, dynamic and everexpanding off-the-shelf capabilities, and dedication to building and supporting an engaged community of visual analysts from the workplace to the classroom and everyone in between.

Today, much like Google has outgrown its noun-based role of search engine and data collection superpower and become a common use verb that encompasses all Internet searching, Tableau has expanded beyond the boundaries of a software package and become a required job skill—and one that is top of the list for employers. We searched Labor Insight, an analytics software company powered by the largest and most sophisticated database of labor market data (Burning Glass), to analyze data visualization-related IT job descriptions posted between the period of March 2017–February 2018 across the nation, and can you guess what popped up as the second most in demand skill of applicants—right behind data visualization and SQL itself? If you guessed Tableau, you are right (see Figure 3.1). The message that this look into the job market is sending is clear: If you're looking for a job as an analyst which by the way is the number one job in this sector of IT then employers expect you to have a working knowledge of Tableau.

Data Visualization Top Specialized Skills

Of ~31k visualization related jobs posted between March 2017 and February 2018, ~13k listed Tableau as a desired specialized skill. Above Excel (~11k) and SAS (~7k) it is the only software listed in the top specialized skill set. Source: Labor Insight (Burning Glass Technologies)



Figure 3.1 Out of a total 30,786 jobs that listed "data visualization" as a skill, roughly 13k (42%) listed Tableau as a critical specialized skill for applicants.

TABLEAU IN DEMAND

From my analysis of Labor Insight, approximately 30,786 jobs listed "Data Visualization" as a desirable skill—an increase of about 17.6% from the preceding annual period. Among the top job titles were Data Analyst (7%), Business Analyst (3%), and Data Scientist (3%). Interestingly, only 3.4% (1,050) of these jobs actually listed "Data Visualization" as the job title itself.

In addition to "Data Visualization," other high-ranking skills included SQL (50%) and Tableau (44%). Excel, Python, SAS, R, and Java also received mention. When pitted against the intersection of other required baseline "soft" skills, those listed were communication (47%), research (37%), writing (32%), teamwork (31%), problem solving (30%), and mathematics (28%). As a testament to visual data storytelling, data visualization and communication were the top skills in either category.

If you're wondering where these jobs are located, adjusted by population, "above average" job postings were found in the combined metropolitan areas of New York/New Jersey (13.7%), followed by Washington DC (8.45%), San Francisco (6.1%), Chicago (5.11%), Boston (5%), Santa Clara (4%), and Seattle (3.83%, and home to Tableau headquarters).

THE TABLEAU PRODUCT PORTFOLIO

Although Tableau Desktop is Tableau's cornerstone data visualization software product, and is the focus of the work in this book, Tableau also offers several other software products that incorporate essentially the same user interface and VizQL engine that makes it such a powerful tool. The primary differences between these core products is the different types of data sources users can connect to, how visualizations can be shared with others, and, in some cases, primary form factor intended for use.

note

VizQL is Tableau's proprietary analysis technology You can read more on VizQL at https://www.tableau.com/products/technology.

note

The Tableau pricing model is based on users and designed to scale as your organization's needs grow. Free software trials are also available as well as free licenses for students and teachers—more at https://www.tableau.com/pricing.

Tableau Server

As you might expect, Tableau Server is best suited for enterprise-wide deployments. It is intended to provide entire organizations with the ability to connect to any data source —on-premise or in the cloud—with centrally managed governance and granular security protocols to maintain balance between user flexibility and IT control. This product is used in conjunction with Tableau Desktop.

Tableau Desktop

Tableau's flagship product, Tableau Desktop is an application that can be used on either Windows or Mac machines. It allows connection to data on-premise or in the cloud, and facilitates the entire visual discovery and analytics process from connecting to data to sharing visualizations, dashboards, or interactive stories using Tableau Server or Tableau Online. The software also includes a device designer to help users design and publish dashboards optimized for various form factors.

Tableau Online

The online version of Tableau eliminates the need for a server and is a fully cloud-hosted platform that primarily works with cloud databases, but can also work with live onpremises queries or scheduled extract refreshes. It provides the ability for on-the-go users to build, explore, curate, and share visualizations and dashboards that are accessible from a browser or a Tableau Mobile app.

Tableau Public

One part data visualization hosting service, one part social networking, Tableau Public is a free service that allows users to publish interactive data visualizations online. These visualizations can be embedded into webpages and blogs, shared via social media or email, or made available for download to other users.

note

You can follow me and see many of the visualizations included in this book on Tableau Public at https://public.tableau.com/profile/lindyryan.

GETTING STARTED

The first thing you need to do to get started with Tableau is to get your hands on a license. If you have not done so already, refer to the Introduction for guidance on how to get a free trial of Tableau Desktop. You can also visit the Tableau website to explore trial and purchase options.

CONNECTING TO DATA

When you first open Tableau Desktop, the Connect to Data screen appears (see Figure 3.2).

٠					
Connect	Open				Discover
To a File				Open a Workbook	
Deel					 Training
Text file					Getting Started
JSON file					Connecting to Data
POP THE Excelled File					Manual Association
Spacial file					YISUBI ANBYCICS
More					Understanding Tableau
					More training videos
To a Server					
Tableau Server					Viz of the Week
Microsoft SQL Server					Data Role T Models
MySQL					
Oracle					Resources
Amazon Redshift					Blog - Get Tableau 10.4 beta to
More.					better collaborate on trusted data
	Sample Workbooks			More Samples	Tableau Conference 2017
Saved Data Sources		and a			Forums
Sample - Superstore		1 All and a second			
World Indicators		1.027			
	Superstore	Regional	World Indicators		

Figure 3.2 The Tableau Connect to Data screen.

There are several important elements to know on this screen:

 Connect: A long list of native connections to various data sources.

- Open: As you create your own workbooks, recently opened workbooks appear here for quick access.
- Sample Workbooks: These are default samples provided by Tableau.
- Discover: This pane connects you to various Tableau training, visualization, and other resources.

note

This book focuses on the art of visual data storytelling, and as such is not a user manual for Tableau. I recommend you review the Training videos provided by Tableau in the Discover pane.

Connecting to Tables

tip

I'm using the Global Superstore Excel training file provided by Tableau. This is a simple dataset of sales for a global retailer that sells furniture, office supplies, and technology goods. You can download this file from the Tableau Community to follow along.

For our purposes, connect to a very common file format—an Excel file. You can connect to any Excel file by clicking the Excel option under the Connect menu and navigating to the file's location on your machine. Once connected to your data file, Tableau opens the data connection window (see Figure 3.3).

Connections Add	C - Global Supersione	
Global Superstore Doat		
Sheets p Use Data Interpreter Data Interpreter might be able to clean work Faral workhook	Drag sl	heets here
Orders		
People	🔟 🖩 Sort fields Data source order 🔹	Show allases Show hidden fields + row
Returns		
To New Union		

Figure 3.3 The Data Connections screen.

The screen provides several options to help you prepare this file for analysis in Tableau.

- Connections: You can add additional data sources by clicking Add. You can also edit the name of the connection or remove it as desired by clicking the drop-down arrow to the right of the filename. (You can also rename the connection by clicking on its title on the canvas to the right.)
- Sheets: This pane displays all the sheets in the Excel file, corresponding to the names of individual worksheet tabs. Sheets in Excel are treated the same as tables in a database, and you can choose to connect to a single table or join multiple tables. To connect to a sheet, simply click and drag it into the data connection canvas to the right (you will notice a "Drag sheets here" prompt) or by double-clicking the sheet desired. After you connect to a sheet, three things happen (see Figure 3.4):

- The sheet name appears in the data connection canvas.
- The data displays in the preview pane below the data connection canvas.
- A Go To Worksheet icon displays.

 i ← → □ ○ Connections Add 	⊖• Ord	⊖ · Orders (Global Superstore)					C Extract	Filters 0 Ac	sd
Global Superstore Dox	Orders								
Sheets p Use Data Interpreter Data Interpreter might be able to clean your Eacet workbook. Image: Compare the second	III II Sot	fields Data source of	vder •			9	ow aliases 🗌 Show hidd	enfields 1,000	+ 10#5
Returns Returns New Union	e Ordens Row ID	Ate Orders Order ID	Coders Order Date	Crows Ship Date	AM Orders Ship Mode	AM Onters Customer ID	Ate Onioni Customer Name	AM Orders Segment	0 Orders City
	32298	CA-2012-124891	7/31/2012	7/31/2012	Same Day	RH-19495	Rick Hansen	Consumer	New
	26341	IN-2013-77878	2/5/2013	2/7/2013	Second Class	JR-16210	Justin Ritter	Corporate	Wolk
	25330	IN-2013-71249	10/17/2013	10/18/2013	First Class	CR-12730	Craig Reiter	Consumer	Brist
	13524	ES-2013-1579342	1/28/2013	1/30/2013	First Class	KM-16375	Katherine Murray	Home Office	Berli
	47221	56-2013-4320	11/5/2013	11/6/2013	Same Day	RH-9495	Rick Hansen	Consumer	Daka
	22732	IN-2013-42360	6/28/2013	7/1/2013	Second Class	JM-15655	Jim Mitchum	Corporate	Sydn
	30570	IN-2011-81826	11/7/2011	11/9/2011	First Class	TS-21340	Toby Swindell	Consumer	Porie
IL Go to Worksheet	× 31192	IN-2012-86369	4/14/2012	4/18/2012	Standard Class	M8-18085	Mick Brown	Consumer	Hami
0 Data Source Steet 1 E. E.	01	71 AATT 147AAA	144119411		Pa		1	·····	

Figure 3.4 You have connected to the Orders sheet of the Excel file, populating the data preview pane. Tableau also provides the prompt to Go To Worksheet and begin visually exploring the data if you are ready.

Before moving on, there are a few more things to take note of on this screen.

First, if you aren't satisfied with any individual column name, you can click on the drop-down arrow to the right of the name and select Rename. Additionally, clicking on the data type icon allows you to change the default data type for that column (see Figure 3.5). You can also:

Adjust the default data source sort order.

- Create calculated fields to populate in your worksheet.
- Hide or show hidden fields.
- Split fields by delimiter using an automatic or custom split.
- Pivot data fields as necessary.

# •	Abc		Ë
Number	(decimal) (whole)		Orders Order Date
Date & T	ïme	391	7/31/2012
Date String		78	2/5/2013
Boolean		19	10/17/2013
√ Default		9342	1/28/2013
Geograp	hic Role 🕨	D	11/5/2013
22732	IN-2013-423	360	6/28/2013
30570	IN-2011-818	326	11/7/2011

Figure 3.5 Clicking the data type icon allows you to change the default data type for that column. This determines how the fields are displayed on your worksheet in the next step.

Live Versus Extract

You might have noticed the option for a Live or Extract connection on the sheet canvas. The default is Live. However, before you begin analyzing data, this might be something you want to consider (see Table 3.1).

Table 3.1 Be sure to understand the benefits anddrawbacks of Live versus Extract connection options.

Connection	Pros	Cons
Live	 Leverage a high- performance database's capabilities See real-time changes in data 	 Can result in a slower experience Some cloud-based data sources must be extracted
Extract	 Can deter latency in a slow database Could reduce query load on critical systems 	• Most Online Analytical Processing (OLAP) data sources cannot be extracted

Connecting to Multiple Tables with Joins

Previously I mentioned that you can connect to multiple data sources in Tableau. You can also connect to multiple tables in the same data source.

To do this, drag and drop or double-click the second sheet you want to connect to (in Figure 3.6 I have selected the sheet named People). The join icon with the blue center indicates that Tableau has automatically joined these tables as an inner

join, making it the default join clause. Clicking on the join icon displays the details as well as gives the option to edit the join clause, or even create a new one.

It's important to note that while Tableau will automatically join your tables, it does so by guessing what your matching ID is. You can change this by clicking on the fields, which shows a drop-down menu of all data fields available to join.

Orders		-	-00	People	9	
	000		Join			
	Inner	Left		Right	Full Outer	
	Data Source			People		
	Region		=	Region (Pe	ople)	
# Orders	Add new Join Claus	se		010010		ers
Row ID	Order ID	Order	Date	Ship [Date	Ship Mode
32298	CA-2012-124891	7/31/2012		7/31/	/2012	Same Day
26341	IN-2013-77878	2/5/2013		2/7/2	2013	Second Class
25330	IN-2013-71249	10/17	/2013	10/18	8/2013	First Class

Figure 3.6 Tableau has automatically joined these tables by recognizing that Region is a common field between the two.

Overview of Join Types

As you prepare your data for analysis in Tableau, you might need to "join" data by connecting a collection of tables that are related by a specific field (or column). In a nutshell, joining is a method for combining the data located in those common fields into one virtual table for analysis.

Tableau provides four types of joins that you can use to combine your data: inner, left, right, and outer. Inner and left joins are the two most common types of joins.

- Inner join: Joins records where there is a matching field in both datasets. Using an inner join to combine tables produces a new virtual table that contains values that have matches in both tables.
- Left join: Joins records from the left and right sides of your equation when there is a match. Using a left join to combine tables produces a new virtual table that contains all values from the left table and corresponding matches from the right table. When there is no corresponding match from left to right, you will see a null value.
- Right join: Joins all the records from the data on the right side of your equation and any matching records from the left side. Opposite of a left join, using a right join to combine tables produces a table that contains all values from the right and corresponding matches from the left. Likewise, when a value in the right table doesn't have a corresponding match in the left table, you see a null value.
- Outer join: Joins all the records from each dataset together, even when there is no join—and rarely used. Using a full outer join to combine tables produces a table that contains all values from both tables. If a value from either table doesn't have a match with the other table, you

see a null value.

WHAT ARE "NULLS"?

Occasionally as you work with data, you will discover a field name called null. What is that?

Null means that some empty cells are in your data and Tableau is, essentially, letting you know. Checking fields and formatting for extraneous information is always important when doing data analysis because you want to ensure these blank fields do not skew out results. A null field might indicate an error in the data, or some other inaccuracy.

In many cases, you don't want empty fields to show up in your data, and you'll want to exclude null fields. To do so, select the Null field and Ctrl-click (or rightclick), and then select Exclude (see Figure 3.7). This excludes the null values from your analysis.



Generally speaking, Tableau will do its best to automatically determine the best join. However, if you're unsure which type of joins your data supports, you can check the join dialog after you've connected your data. Additionally, you can adjust the join type by selecting a different join type in the Join dialog.



BASIC DATA PREP WITH DATA INTERPRETER

The preceding example shows an Excel file that is already nicely formatted and ready to go for analysis in Tableau. However, in reality, data files are not always so analysis ready and might require extensive prep work before they are ready to be brought into Tableau for analysis and visualization work.

Tableau Desktop delivers some features to help automatically reshape files to get them ready for analysis in Tableau. Primary among them is Data Interpreter, Tableau's built-in tool for preparing data for analysis. When you connect to an Excel sheet in Tableau, the software can recognize issues such as missing column names, null values, and so on. To remedy these and clean the file for use in analysis, Tableau will suggest Data Interpreter (refer to Figure 3.4 to locate the Data Interpreter option on the Data Source screen). While this is a helpful feature, the tool is limited and somewhat superficial in its ability to prep data.

To use Data Interpreter, select the check box to turn on the tool. This executes a query to the Excel file and confirms its automated prep tasks with a revised data preview pane addressing the issues it has identified. To get more specifics on what Data Interpreter has adjusted in the file, including a before-and-after view and an explanation table, click the link that is provided following the Interpreter's action to "Review the results." This opens an Excel file describing the changes. You can also clear the check box to undo these changes and revert to your original sheet.

After verifying the data you'll be connecting to, you can go to your worksheet and begin exploring the Tableau interface and your data—you are ready to begin your analysis!

NAVIGATING THE TABLEAU INTERFACE

Now that you have some data in Tableau, you can click the prompt to Go To Worksheet and start getting to know the Tableau user interface in a more meaningful way (see Figure 3.9). The Tableau UI is a drag-and-drop interface that fosters rich interactivity between sheets, dashboards, and stories, allowing for in-depth visual exploration and powerful visual communication. Tableau is similar to Excel in that its files are called workbooks and the sheets inside the workbook are called sheets. Every Tableau workbook contains three elements:

- Sheets: For creating individual visualizations. Each workbook can contain multiple sheets—one for each data visualization you create.
- Dashboards: For combining multiple sheets as well as other objects like images, text, and web pages, and adding interactions between them like filtering and highlighting. Dashboards are great for looking at the interactions between multiple visualizations.

Stories: These frameworks can be based on visualizations or dashboards, or based on different views and explorations of a single visualization, seen at different stages, with different marks filtered and annotations added—however is best suited to narrate the story in your data.



Figure 3.9 The Tableau user interface, a blank canvas.

Later chapters cover Dashboards and Stories in more depth. For now, let's focus on sheets and take a high-level view at the various areas of the screen. As you begin to work directly with data to build visualizations and stories, you will take a more detailed approach to each of these areas.

There are four basic elements to the Tableau interface:

- Menus and toolbar
- Data window
- Shelves and cards

Legends

Menus and Toolbar

At the top of the screen are the menus that accompany Tableau Desktop. These contain many powerful controls.

Below, at the top of your Tableau sheet, is the toolbar. It is similar in concept to the ribbon in Microsoft Office products. Like the menu, this toolbar contains many powerful buttons that give you control over your Tableau experience and enable you to navigate from the data source all the way to story presentation mode. A few items of special consideration:

- Logo: The Tableau logo button brings you back to the original Connect to Data screen (clicking the icon from this screen returns you to your sheet).
- Undo: There is no limit to how much you can undo in Tableau, which is an important feature for exploration and discovery. The icon is grayed until there is an action to undo.
- **Save:** There is *no automatic save* in Tableau. Be sure to save your work incrementally.

Another menu appears along the bottom of the sheet. This menu, similar in concept to a Tableau workbook, enables you to return to the Data Source screen; create new sheets, Dashboards, or Stories; and do things like rename, rearrange, duplicate, delete various sheets, and so on.

Data Window

The pane on the left of the sheet is called the Data window and has two tabs: a Data tab and an Analytics tab.

Data

At the top of the Data tab is a list of all open data connections and the fields from that data source categorized as either dimensions or measures (discussed shortly).

Analytics

The Analytics tab enables you to bring out pieces of your analysis—summaries, models, and more—as drag-and-drop elements. We review these functions later.

Shelves and Cards

Shelves and cards are some of the most dynamic and useful features of the Tableau UI.

- Columns and Rows shelves: Control grouping headers (dimensions) and axes (measures)
- Pages shelf: Lets you break a view into a series of pages so you can better analyze how a specific field affects the rest of the data
- Filters shelf: Filters visualizations by dimensions or measures
- Marks card: Controls the visual characteristics of a visualization, including encoding of color, size, labels, tooltip text, and shape
- Show Me" card (shown open): A collapsible card that shows application visualization types for a selected

measure and dimension

Legends

Legends will be created and automatically appear when you place a field on the Color, Size, or Shape card. To change the order (or appearance) of fields in a visualization, drag them around in the legend. Hide legends by clicking on the menu and selecting Hide Card. Likewise, bring them back by selecting the Legend option on the appropriate space in the Marks card or by using the Analysis menu.

UNDERSTANDING DIMENSIONS AND MEASURES

When you bring a data source into Tableau, Tableau automatically classifies each field as a dimension or a measure. The differences between these two are important, though they can be tricky to those new at analysis. Perhaps the best way to differentiate these two classifications is as this: dimensions are categories, whereas measures are fields you can do math with.

Dimensions

Dimensions are things that you can group data by or drill down by. They are usually—but not always—categories (such as City, Product Name, or Color), and they can be grouped into strings, dates, or geographic fields.

Measures

Measures are generally numerical data on which you want to perform calculations—summing, averaging, and so on.

Remember, setting a field as a measure or dimension can be adjusted in the Data Source screen by clicking on the data type icon. You can also change this directly in the sheet by either dragging and dropping a dimension to measure, or vice versa, or by clicking the drop-down menu by any field and selecting the Convert to Measure (or Dimension) option.

Continuous and Discrete

Generally, dimensions are discrete and measures are continuous. We could break this down a little more into four types or levels of measurement: nominal, ordinal, interval, and ratio.

- Nominal measures are discrete and categorical (for/against, true/false, yes/no)
- Ordinal measures have order but there are not distinct, equal values (for example, rankings)
- Interval measures have order and distinct, equal values (at least we assume they are equal; for example, Likert scales)
- Ratio measures have order, distinct/equal values, and a true zero point (length, weight, and so on)

In Tableau, continuous fields produce axes, whereas discrete fields create headers. Continuous means "forming an unbroken whole, without interruption." Discrete means "individually separate and distinct." Be sure you understand the difference between these mathematical terms. Text and categories (dimensions) are inherently discrete. Numbers can be discrete if they can only take one of a limited set of distinct, separate values (like, for example, a rating). Numbers, including dates, can be continuous if they can take on any value in a range.

COLORFUL PILLS

When a field is brought from the data window pane and dropped into the Rows and Columns shelves, Tableau creates a "pill." These pills are color coded: blue pills represent discrete variables whereas green pills are continuous. The data type icons also reflect these color codes (see Figure 3.10).



Figure 3.10 Color-coded pills reflect continuous (green) measures and discrete (blue) dimensions.

SUMMARY

This chapter introduced the Tableau product ecosystem and then took a high-level view of the Tableau user interface, including connecting and preparing data and the core functionality of the Sheets canvas. In future chapters, you will put this knowledge into practice as you begin working hands-on with this functionality.

The next chapter addresses the importance of context in building a visual data story.

^{1.} http://onlinehelp.tableau.com/current/pro/desktop/en-us/basicconnectoverview.html

CHAPTER 4

IMPORTANCE OF CONTEXT IN STORYTELLING

This chapter describes the importance of understanding data's context and its role in helping data storytellers ask the right questions to build a story framework. You'll learn about exploratory and explanatory analysis and strategies for successful storytelling, including narrative flow, considerations for spoken versus written narratives that support visuals, and structures that can support your stories for maximum impact. You will also explore helpful techniques in Tableau that guide you to crafting effective data narrative structure. More than twenty years ago, Bill Gates coined the iconic phrase, "Content is king." Gates was, of course, referring to the importance of content on demand in the early days (circa 1996) of the World Wide Web. His words were prophetic, however, and over the past two-plus decades this mantra has been applied to everything from Internet marketing to media to viral online content—suddenly *everybody* is a media company.

The never-ending quest for bigger, bolder, better online content has radically changed the way people acquire and share information and how we interact and communicate with others. However, although Gates might have been right then, his mantra is missing a critical ingredient: context.

If you type Gates' "content is king" into your Google search bar, you might notice that a "but" is coming right behind it (see Figure 4.1). Content is king—but context is god.



Figure 4.1 Sorry, Bill. Content might be king, but context is god.

Context is especially important in the field of analytics. Just as communication begins before you ever start building your first data visualization, like any good story, a visual data story requires context—a setting, a plot, a need—before you can begin to communicate. Discovering this context is part of the storytelling process.

This chapter focuses on helping you understand the importance of context in data visualization and visual storytelling, how to ask the right questions in analysis that will help you begin to build out your story framework, and how to let context drive the story as you share it with your audience. The context of a data story is made up of four ingredients:

Context of **data** Context of **structure** Context of **audience** Context of **presentation**

context caution

There's more to context than just the data. Context can also be created by the storyteller or by the audience, based on knowledge, biases, and expectations. A successful storyteller needs to learn how to anticipate these issues. A good way to ensure your context works for you rather than against you is to ask and then answer a series of logically thought out and connected questions about the project, the data, and the audience. The answers to these questions provide a framework for your data story.

CONTEXT IN ACTION

To quote football consulting company 21st Club, without context [in analytics] data is "meaningless, irrelevant, and even dangerous."¹_ This might sound aggressive, but in practice, it's an understatement. Without context we can't answer any of the pivotal journalistic questions—who, what, where, when, why, and how—that provide pertinent details to help us get to the bottom of any big question. In fact, we can't do much beyond just make good guesses. We have a whole lot of information, but it is incomplete and this can often cause us to miss out on major points that change the entire scope of our story. Beyond just bad storytelling, omitting critical context carries an even bigger risk. Ultimately, we use data stories to drive decision-making, and nothing paves the way for bad decisions like a lack of good information.

Rather than me just writing about the importance of context in data storytelling, let's take a quick look at a fun example of a story where context makes all the difference. I use this practice in the dissection of data stories throughout this book.

Harry Potter: Hero or Menace?

In June 2017, Harry Potter and JK Rowling's world of

wizards celebrated its 20th anniversary.

By now, most of us are familiar with The Boy Who Lived. The *Harry Potter* series has been distributed in more than 200 territories, translated into 68 languages, and has sold more than 400 million copies worldwide.² However, although we are familiar with Harry's story in its novelized form, most of us haven't taken such a concentrated look on the data inside the story.

note

If you're a Potterhead, you're in luck! A later chapter explores several stories hidden within the wizarding world's data—working through the entire storytelling process from collecting and preparing data to presenting a complete data narrative.

Even if you don't know all the nuances of *Harry Potter*, you likely know that the story follows the journey of young wizard Harry Potter as he fights against the evil dark wizard, Lord Voldemort, and his minions. With that minimal amount of context, we can assume that Harry is the good guy and Voldemort the bad.

To aid in visualizing the story of good versus evil in *Harry Potter*, we can use a fantastic public dataset of all the instances where characters in each of the books acted aggressively. When we visualize this data at the most superficial level (see Figure 4.2)—aggressive acts enacted by Harry and Voldemort in each of the books—these "lightning bolts" seem to show

that over the course of the series Harry committed significantly more aggressive behaviors than did his nemesis, Lord Voldemort. In this version of the story, our good wizard suddenly looks a little more sociopathic than we might have expected. Yikes!



Harry Potter: Wizard or Warlord?

Figure 4.2 A modified bar chart of aggressive actions committed by Harry Potter and Lord Voldemort.

The good news to Potter fans is that if we look at the data like this we are overlooking critical context and showcasing a faulty story. Remember, the danger of a story told wrong is the prospect of making a bad decision based on inaccurate or otherwise incorrect information, and this logic applies to any story—even Harry's. If we had presented this visual to, for example, Rowling's publisher prior to the series being published, we might never have been introduced the wizarding world. Who would want to publish a children's book that condones violence? Who would want their kids to read about a malevolent hero? Thus, telling an incorrect story could have resulted in a wrong decision (no Potter), rather than introducing a pop culture phenomenon that swept the world. Fortunately, we can remedy this by putting context back into the narrative.

Ensuring Relevant Context

To make sure we're including context in a meaningful way, we need to revisit our initial assumptions of how we approached visualizing two key variables: the two characters and their aggressive acts.

In the previous attempt, we simply visualized a count of aggressive acts and neglected to consider the context in which the acts were committed (or the influence of the character on the narrative). Doing so puts an undue spotlight on Harry and presents an immediate contextual fallacy. This is Harry's story, and as the protagonist all of his actions, aggressive or not, are heavily documented. In contrast, Voldemort, while a main character, has a lesser presence in the story. This logic helps us see critical context we neglected in a simple counting exercise. Rather than how many aggressive acts were committed by each character, we need to look at how often each character appears *and* how often they commit aggressive acts when mentioned.

Out of Context: How *many times* Harry and Voldemort acted aggressively.

In Context: How *often* Harry and Voldemort acted aggressively *when mentioned*.

Putting the data back into a relevant context, when we visualize again we see something very different (see Figure 4.3).





With more context added into the narrative, we see Voldemort's true colors emerge. While Harry *rarely* acts aggressively when mentioned, Voldemort *usually* acts aggressively when his name is spoken. This completely changes the story takeaway that we presented before.

Of course, there is much more exploration we could do with this data to dig deeper into the role of aggression in *Harry Potter* and craft a richer visual narrative. We could bring more characters into view to analyze whether Voldemort is the ultimate bad guy in the series. We could look at aggression by book rather than by character, or look at who committed aggressive acts against whom and how and when character relationships affect how these aggressions are brought into play. We could even break down aggressive acts into violent and non-violent categories, or rank aggressive acts by level of severity. In any case, it's unlikely the full context of this story could ever be told without knowledge of the series and its complicated plot, and both of these require support on the part of the presenter. This hints to the value of presentation in a visual data story. No matter how deep, data alone will never be able to tell a story as well as *you*. {55} {56}

note

Be especially careful with *counts* as these can influence your data and present a distorted version of the truth. To prevent this, "normalize" your data with a calculated field.

EXPLORATORY VERSUS EXPLANATORY ANALYSIS

Before moving on to looking at storytelling techniques and story structures, we need to draw a distinction between exploratory and explanatory analysis, and how these contribute to storytelling.

Exploration fuels discovery. It's the process we take to explore data and uncover its story. In my visual analytics classes, I use an image of Indiana Jones to illustrate the concept of exploratory analysis because, like Dr. Jones, this is where we go looking for a discovery to share and hope to find something. We take time to search, digging in and out of data iteratively and with curiosity as we work to build a story, or perhaps many stories, or perhaps even none at all. Exploration is a process of "look and see," and we must explore before we can explain.

Our job as analysts is to explore. Our job as data storytellers is to explain. Exploratory analysis might yield

important story points, but they are not part of the storytelling process. As storytellers, we are focused on explanatory analysis and communicating our discoveries in the form of a story.

The distinction between explanatory and exploratory analysis has an important impact on context, particularly in how we present our results.

It is common for people to present exploratory graphics as part of their data story—after all, the discovery process can be an undertaking and we can be eager to show all of our hard work or display every detail we've found! However, the inevitable result is that this adds bulk to what should be a streamlined, focused story and muddies the message for the audience. In addition to telling a story, data storytellers must also act as their own editors. This requires trimming unnecessary content away so that the core of the data story remains unencumbered and intact. The following sections cover techniques to help achieve this.

recommended reading

For more on visual data discovery and working through exploratory analysis, read my book, *The Visual Imperative*. Additional resources are provided in Chapter 10 as well as on the website www.visualdatastorytelling.com.

EXPAND THE SHOW ME CARD!
You met the Show Me card in Chapter 3. The Show Me card (see Figure 4.4) can help guide you to building visualizations that best represent your data. As you choose measures and dimensions and bring them to the shelves, the Show Me card will display what chart types are available based on the fields you've selected. Likewise, if you're unsure of which data to bring over to the shelves, you can use the Show Me card as a tool to select the right measures and dimensions.



FILTERING OUT, ZEROING IN

Filters are a great way to help cut out the noise and let your data's story shine (see Figure 4.5). You can strip out unnecessary information, or, likewise, focus on specific fields or elements critical to your data story. Like many things in Tableau, filtering can be done in several ways and several places. You explore some of these when working with real data sets later in this book.

	Filter [Job Skill]
Filters	General Wildcard Condition Top
SUM(Baseline Postin SUM(Job Postings) Job Skill	Select from list Custom value list Use all Enter search text Adobe Photoshop Agile Development Apache Hadoop Apache Hive Big-Data Budgeting Business Analysis Business Analysis Business Intelligence Business Intelligence Business Process BusinessObjects
Fiter (Baseline Postings)	All None Exclude
Range of values At least At most Special Special Null values All values	Field: [Job Skill] Selection: Excluded 62 of 79 values Wildcard: All Condition: None Limit: None
Reset Apply Cancel Ox	Reset Apply Cancel OK
Figure 4.5 A selection	of filtering options in Tableau.

STRUCTURING STORIES

Like traditional stories, data stories have shape—and not just bars and bubbles!—or "structure." Story structure plays an important role in developing a story's context, and can be broken down into two parts:

- **Part One:** Story Plot
- Part Two: Story Genre

Story Plot

The events of a story (or the main part of a story) are its plot (this is also called its storyline). These events generally relate to each other in a pattern or a sequence, and the storyteller (or author) is responsible for arranging these actions in a meaningful way to shape the story.

Like other forms of storytelling, the plot of a data story can be organized into a linear sequence (see Figure 4.6) or not—not all data stories are told in order; however, they all have one thing in common: They must be true. Data stories are not the place to practice fiction.

Plot Diagram



www.timvandevall.com I copyright © 2013 Dutch Renaissance Press

Figure 4.6 The basic plot diagram.

note

The plot diagram is an organizational tool to help map events in a story. Its familiar triangle shape (representing the beginning, middle, and end of a story) was described by Aristotle and later modified by Gustav Freytag who added rising and falling action. Though designed for traditional stories, data stories can be built using this same framework.

For the purposes of data storytelling, there are eight basic "plots" to help shape your visual data story (see Figure 4.7). Can you identify the plot used in the *Harry Potter* example (Hint: We were telling a story of aggressive acts *over* the series)?

Change over time—See a visual history as told through a simple metric or trend

Drill down—Start big, and get more and more granular to find meaning

Zoom out—Reverse the particular, from the individual to a larger group

Contrast—The "this" or "that"

Spread—Help people see the light and the dark, or reach of data (disbursement)

Intersections—Things that cross over, or progress ("less than" to "more than")

Factors—Things that work together to build up to a higher-level effect

Outliers—Powerful way to show something outside the realm of normal

Story Genre

The other half of story structure is its genre. Like the diversity in plot, there is more than one genre to choose from. In fact, there are seven genres of narrative visualization. Developed by Segel and Heel,³/₂ they vary primarily in the number of frames and the ordering of visual elements and include the magazine style, the annotated chart, the partitioned poster, the flow chart, the comic strip, the slide short, and finally, the conglomerate film/video/animation (see Figure 4.7).



Figure 4.7 Genres of Narrative Visualization by Segel and Heer.

In Tableau, you can use dashboards and story points to each of these genres, and <u>Chapter 7</u>, "Preparing Data for Storytelling," explores how to build them. For now, keep in mind that data stories are most effective when they have constrained interaction at various checkpoints and allow the user to explore and engage with the story without veering too far away from the intended narrative. Stories unfold, and each visualization should highlight one story point at a time (whether within the same visualizations or within multiple) as storytellers layer points to build a complete data narrative.

AUDIENCE ANALYSIS FOR STORYTELLING

A successful data storyteller has to be a master of their craft, able to meld the worlds of data visualization and storytelling together into a cohesive whole. However, the story is only half of the equation. A story is a piece of communication, and like every communication, stories are part of a two-way dialogue between the sender (you) and the receiver (your audience). If the story gets interrupted or otherwise lost in translation, you've lost the ability to communicate and will likely fail. Therefore, storytellers need to be clear on exactly who is on the receiving end of their story, and have confidence that they have the information they need to build the right story for their audience.

Many visualization instructors might phrase this step of the story-building process in terms of asking the "right" questions, though a lot of ambiguity exists that surrounds just what these questions are. Just like in any type of analysis, there is no silver bullet approach for gathering audience expectations or stakeholder requirements. Questions, like stories, have entropy: They change based on everything from the nature of the relationship of the storyteller to the audience, to the action the audience would like to take, to the mechanism in which the story is presented. So, a good storyteller knows that the trick isn't asking the *right* questions, but in asking *many*. It's okay to be really, really curious, even insatiable in your desire to really understand your audience and every situation you encounter. It's iterative, and a process of compromise between what you want to say and what the audience needs to hear. Ultimately you need to be able to learn as much as you can about your audience and what they need to know, and then build a story that anticipates and delivers on audience needs.

Curiosity is a learned skill. It takes time to develop a palate for

asking the right research questions and plucking out the relevant details from the noise. Remember, visual data storytelling is fact, not fiction, and as such involves a requisite degree of research as you move through visual analysis. As you practice molding yourself into a thoughtful questioner, however, you can use the some of the same journalistic questions that help to parse out the correct context for a story —particularly who, what, why, and how—to make sure you build a presentation that's going to resonate with your audience and give them the information they need to take action. Let's look more closely at these.

Who

Be specific about your audience. Avoid generalizations and assumptions. Taking a broad view of your audiences has the consequence of overlooking nuances and specific needs that help you zero in on what your audience needs and wants to hear, as well as how you might be best able to communicate with them to capture their interest. Also, narrowing in on your audience will show you who the decision makers and key influencers are, who needs and wants to hear your story, and those whose buy-in you really need to earn. Remember, engaging with your audience is a critical part of successful storytelling.

It's also important to consider the affect of your relationship with the audience. Do they know you? Do they trust you? Do they believe that you are a credible and reliable source of information and insight? The answers to these questions are important because they might influence how you structure your presentation as well as any pre- or post-presentation communication. Your audience must believe in you as an analyst *and* a storyteller before they will listen to your story and be open to taking any actions you might suggest.

What

Analytics begins with understanding data—what you have, what you need, its capabilities and its limitations. Additionally, you should have a realistic view of its quality and validity, and thus its ability to answer business questions or explore a hypothesis—as well as if you should seek additional or external data to complete your dataset for analysis. Understanding your data also requires you to have a good grasp on how to visually represent this data compellingly and accurately, so that you are practicing "no harm" data visualization as you design your narrative.

In addition to knowing the ins and outs of your data, be sure you've asked enough questions to work out what your audience is asking of you, or what story they are asking you to tell with the information you have at your disposal. Be sure to have a solid alignment of ideas between what questions can be answered with your data and what insight or information your audience needs or wants; otherwise, your data story will fall flat, unable to satisfy audience expectations.

Why

Every good story should prompt an action, whether you are building a story intended to help your audience to make a decision; to cause them to change their opinion; or otherwise to convince, persuade, or educate. Ultimately, you should be crystal clear on what your goal is with the story, and why your audience should care about what you are saying. This helps to both ensure your story is meaningful and necessary, and to give you a clear target of how to build logical arguments toward a salient end goal.

To help crystalize the answers to the "why" part of the equation, be able to articulate an answer to clearly and concisely answer the following questions:

- Who is your audience? (They might not be as homogenous as you think.)
- What do they want?
- What do they need?
- How might they be feeling?
- What action do they need to take?
- What type of communication do they prefer?
- How well do they know the data?
- What beliefs or bias might they have that you need to reinforce or challenge?
- What, specifically, are you sharing with your audience?
- What, specifically, do you want them to do with this information?

If you cannot readily answer most (if not all) of these questions, you might need to revisit your purpose.

How

Finally, the communication medium and channel you use to present your story matter. In fact, it has a number of implications for how you deliver your story, as well as how much influence you have as a storyteller and how interactive your audience can be with you as well as with the story itself. Although there are many facets to explore in this step, one of the most constructive is to understand the differences between data stories delivered as narrated, live versions or those that are non-narrated or otherwise "static" presentations.

Narrated

Narrated storytelling presentations are those that are delivered live—whether in person or virtually—where the storyteller has the ability to narrate the presentation and guide the experience. In this mode, the storyteller has full control of the narrative and is able to direct the audience's attention to points of interest and facilitate transitions between story points, explaining any potential areas of ambiguity, or likewise, emphasize or soften points as needed.

In addition to the ability to direct the audience, live presenters also have an obligation to be sensitive to the audience and respond to their needs. As a presenter, you have a front row seat to your audience, and remember: You are not a TV screen —you can react and respond to visual cues to determine whether you need to speed up or slow down or go into more or less detail as you move through your presentation. One tip I give to students learning to present is to always have more pieces of the story than you are planning to share stored in your back pocket. That way, if you need to dive into detail or add an embellishing point to your story, you can introduce it without adding junk into your presentation and interfering with the flow of your data story.

Non-Narrated

On the other hand, non-narrated storytelling presentations are those that are delivered without the benefit of a storyteller to guide the experience, such as reports or emails or even dashboards. In any of these instances, the storyteller relinquishes control of the audience's experience and relies on the puts it in the hands of the tool used to distribute the information.

To ensure the integrity of the visuals and the story, a highly curated and detailed view of the information is necessary. In the case of Tableau, dashboards or story points, this translates into not just well-crafted visualizations, but cohesive, logical storylines and appropriate filters, highlights, and other venues to let the audience explore visuals without degrading the story or the underlying data's integrity. Pay attention to device form factor here, too, as you will need to be aware of how your story presents across multiple devices (laptop screens, tablets, smartphones, and so on).

TIPS FOR SUCCESS IN PRESENTATIONS

Telling data stories through a live presentation is as much an art as building the story itself. This means that storytellers must, in addition to their skills in data analysis and visualization, be skilled presenters, equipped with the capability to guide the audience through the story and facilitate a shared experience.

It's a known fact that public speaking in any form isn't a concept that excites many people. In fact, in a statistic made humorous by comedian Jerry Seinfeld, according to most studies, people's *number one* fear is of public speaking. Number two is death. Thus, Seinfeld's joke is that the average person at a funeral would rather be the one in the casket than the one conducting the eulogy.

The secret to overcoming presentation anxiety and polishing up your skills as a speaker is this: practice. Practice gives you opportunities to learn your own strengths as well as identify areas to improve, helps you discover and fine-tune your speaking style, and perhaps most important—it is the one and only venue to building confidence earned from experience.

Here are a few tips to help you become more comfortable to go "on stage":

- There's wisdom in the mantra "practice makes perfect." Rehearse, revise, rehearse.
- Write out speaking points, not speaking paragraphs.
 Document three to four important points you want to make for each slide to be your compass.
- Design presentations to support your story, not presentations to tell your story. Your audience should be listening to you, not reading slides. Just like in a

chart or graph, maximize the data-to-ink ratio and keep visuals clean and minimal.

SUMMARY

This chapter looked closely at the importance of understanding data's context and its role in helping data storytellers ask the right questions to build a story framework. You learned about exploratory and explanatory analysis and strategies for successful storytelling, including narrative flow, considerations for spoken versus written narratives that support visuals, and structures that can support stories for maximum impact.

The next chapter looks at the importance of choosing the right visual—or combinations of visuals—to support your data story, as well as how to build basic visualizations in Tableau.

^{1.} http://www.21stclub.com/2013/08/11/contextual-intelligence-a-definition/

^{2.} http://harrypotter.scholastic.com/jk_rowling/

^{3.} Segel, E. and Heer, J. (2010). Narrative visualization: Telling stories with data. *IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics*, 16(6), 1139–1148. https://doi.org/10.1109/TVCG.2010.179

CHAPTER 5

CHOOSING THE RIGHT VISUAL

This chapter introduces the common types of visuals used to communicate data in a business setting, discusses appropriate use cases for each, and highlights their use through examples built from the catalog of charts available in Tableau. You will also learn techniques to help you assess when to use these graphs, when to avoid certain types of charts, and how to generate them according to best practices, along with some of the special features in Tableau designed to help you get the most from your visual. When it comes to visualizing data, there is no shortage of charts and graphs to choose from. From traditional graphs to innovative hand-coded visualizations, there is a continuum of visualizations ready to translate data from numbers into meaning using shapes, color, and other visual cues. However, each visualization type is intended to represent different types of data in specific ways to best represent its insight. Let's look at seven of the most common visualization types to help you choose the right chart for your data.

THE BAR CHART

A traditional favorite, the bar chart is one of the most common ways to visualize data. It is best suited for numerical data that can be divided into distinct categories to compare information and reveal trends at a glance (see Figure 5.1).

An old classic, there are a few ways to spice up a bar chart.

- Bars can be oriented on the vertical or horizontal axis, which can be helpful for spotting trends.
- Additional layers of information can be added using clustered bars or by stacking related data.
- Color can be added for more impact or to overlay for immediate insight.
- Trend lines and other annotations can be added to

highlight important data points.

Sussex County Year End Fund Balance Record

- Use side-by-side or stacked bars (see Figure 5.2) to give depth to your analysis and answer multiple questions at once.
- Bar charts can be combined with maps or line charts to act as filters that correspond to different data points as they are selected.
- Finally, multiple bar charts could be set on a dashboard to help viewers quickly compare information without navigating several charts.



Figure 5.1 This simple, classic bar chart with color gradient shading and a point annotation compares the year end balance

for Sussex County, NJ over a period of 13 years.



All the charts and graphs created in this chapter are made from real data. You can work with these datasets yourself by downloading the raw or cleaned data files and accompanying Tableau workbooks from www.visualdatastorytelling.com.



Sussex County Healthcare Expenses

Sussex County Fund Balance Portion of Revenue

\$ listed equals total fund balance utilized as revenue; blue caps represented portion of fund balance utilized



Figure 5.2 Alternative bar charts: a side-by-side bar chart with color gradient shading and a stacked bar chart with labeled and banded columns.

Tableau How-To: Bar Chart

To begin a vertical bar chart in Tableau, place a dimension on the rows shelf and a measure on the columns shelf (or vice versa to create a horizontal bar chart—place a measure on the rows shelf and a dimension on the columns shelf as in Figure 5.3). You will notice that the Bar mark type is already selected on the Mark card. Tableau automatically selects this mark type when the data view matches one of the two field arrangements mentioned previously. From here, you can add additional fields to these shelves and further modify your bar chart as desired.



Sussex County Year End Fund Balance Record

Fund Balance as of 12/31









Figure 5.3 You can create vertical or horizontal bar charts by

rearranging measures and dimensions on the rows and columns shelves. However, pay attention to how many bars you have on a horizontal bar chart to avoid the Moire effect (see Chapter 6).

tip

Instead of manually rearranging pills on the shelves, you can also use the Swap Rows and Columns button on the toolbar to rearrange rows and columns and toggle between views (see Figure 5.4).



Figure 5.4 The Swap Rows and Columns button.

THE LINE CHART

Like the bar chart, the line chart is another of the most frequently used chart types. These charts connect individual numeric data points to visualize a sequence of values. As such, they are most commonly used when an element of time is present. In fact, the best use case for line charts involves displaying trends over a period of time (see Figure 5.5), when your data are ordered, or when interpolation makes sense.

Sussex County Annual Debt

Total net debt from 2008 to 2016.



Figure 5.5 This line chart shows the audited annual net debt for Sussex County over a period of nearly ten years.

Dual-axis line charts can be created by bringing two measures to the rows shelf, and then right-clicking on the second measure and selecting Dual-axis from the drop-down menu (see Figure 5.6).



Figure 5.6 Create a dual-axis line chart by combining two measures. This produces a line chart with multiple lines.

Additionally, when two or more lines are present, you can transform line charts by adding additional chart types to deepen insight. For example, a line chart can be combined with a bar chart (see <u>Figure 5.7</u>) to provide visual cues for further investigation. Or, the area under lines can be shaded into an area chart by filling the space under each respective line to extend the analysis and illuminate the relative contribution that a line contributes to the whole.

Marks				
\sim All				
∧ SUM(Authori 000				
00) Bar		•		
	0	Т		
Color	Size	Label		
	\Box			
Detail	Tooltip			
Seasure Names				
✓ SUM(Net De ✓				



Figure 5.7 Adjust the Marks card to help you combine chart types. This work-in-progress line chart has been combined with a bar chart. It also includes annotations, trend lines, and a color gradient shade element on the line to enhance insight.

Tableau How-To: Line Chart

You create a line chart in Tableau by placing one or more measures on either the columns shelf or the rows shelf, and then plotting the measures against either a date or continuous dimension (see Figure 5.8). Additionally, the Automatic Marks card drop-down menu will select Line as the mark type. You can further expand line charts by including additional summary analytics, like forecasting. Be sure to synchronize or adjust axes to keep numbers in context.





THE PIE AND DONUT CHARTS

We all love to hate the pie chart and its cousin the donut

chart. This hatred for "dessert charts" is prolific with a lot of opinions thrown in the mix, but a substantial amount of empirical research explores many good reasons not to use these charts. Among these, known problems exist with how we read and understand angles and the many distortion effects caused by too many slices (which apply to both pie and donut charts). Even so, these charts are still among the most misused and overused of chart types. Nevertheless, with a few tweaks there are ways that both of these notorious chart types can be used—with discretion—as viable options to visualize parts of a whole, or percentages (see Figure 5.9), particularly for use as storyteller, rather than analytical, visualizations.

In both charts the circle represents the 100% whole, and the size of each wedge (the largest of which should start on the upper right and move clockwise) represents a percentage. The trick to properly reading pie or donut charts is to not rely on the angle, but to look at area or arc length. To avoid a bad pie chart, focus on comparing only a few values (less than six is preferable, two if possible) and use distinct color separation for maximum readability. Donut charts can help clarify your data story by including a key takeaway in the center white space (see Figure 5.9).

Dessert Chart Battle: Pie vs. Donut



Figure 5.9 A side-by-side comparison of an unlabeled pie chart and a donut chart displaying percentages of America's favorite pizza toppings.

Tableau How-To: Pie and Donut Charts

To begin either a pie or donut chart, you start by building a basic bar chart and then use the Show Me card to select the pie chart option (see Figure 5.10). You could also create a pie chart directly in the Marks card. This will produce a rather small pie chart.

tip

You can increase the size by holding down Ctrl+Shift (or holding down Command+Shift on a Mac) and pressing B several times.



 Pie Pie Pie Color Size Label Color Colo	Marks				
Image: Color Image: Color Color Size Size Label Image: Color Image: Color Image: Color Image: C	🕑 Pie	•			
ImageImageDetailImage <t< td=""><td>Color</td><td>6) Size</td><td>T Label</td></t<>	Color	6) Size	T Label		
 Topping SUM(Percent) SUM(Percent) 	ooo Detail	C Tooltip	▷ Angle		



Figure 5.10 Create a bar chart, and then select the pie chart from the Show Me card.

While there is not a one-click or Show Me option to change a pie chart into a donut chart, a few additional steps will transform your chart:

- Beginning with a pie chart, drag your measure to the Rows shelf again. Right-click both instances and select Measure (Sum) > Minimum (see <u>Figure 5.11</u>).
- **2.** Right-click the second instance of Number of Records and select Dual Axis.



Figure 5.11 Transform a pie chart into a donut chart by creating a dual-axis chart.

- **3.** Now to combine two pie charts into one, transforming the second into what will become the center of your donut: Move to your Marks card, click the second instance of your measure and click MIN(Number of Records) (2).
- **4.** Remove any pills from the Color and Size marks.
- **5.** Click Color and choose the same color as the background (in this example, white).
- **6.** At this point, your pie chart will appear to disappear; however, select Size and drag the slider to the left to make the circle smaller. As the white circle decreases, the center of your donut "hollows" out (see Figure 5.12).







From this point, you can finalize your donut chart by removing headers, showing labels, and so on.

SKETCHING YOUR STORY

Sketching out ideas for your graphics can aid with the artistic process as you work to frame your story (see Figure 5.13). If you can create a vision of your story, you can use this as a guide to curate meaningful charts and graphs. Of course, Tableau doesn't support sketching; however, these guides can be helpful as you work to curate your visual in Tableau to tell its best story.



THE SCATTER PLOT

Scatter plots are an effective way to visualize numerical variables to compare measures and quickly identify patterns, trends, concentrations (clusters), and outliers. These charts can give viewers a sense of where to focus discovery efforts further and are best used to investigate relationships between variables. Scatter plots are particularly useful when exploring statistical relationships such as linear regression. <u>Figure 5.14</u> illustrates an example of the scatter plot.



Figure 5.14 Scatter plot example.

Tableau How-To: Scatter Plots

You can create a scatter plot in Tableau in two ways: as a **simple scatter plot** or a **matrix scatter plot**.

You create simple scatter plots by dragging a measure to the Columns shelf and a measure to the Rows shelf. When you plot one number against another, the result is a Cartesian chart —a one-mark scatter plot with a single x and y coordinate (see Figure 5.15).



Figure 5.15 Simple scatter plots begin with aggregated measures, showing only one mark.

To view all of your measures, deselect the Aggregate Measures option from the Analysis menu (see Figure 5.16).


Figure 5.16 Deselect Aggregate Measures to view all of your data points on a scatter plot.

Doing so generates a simple scatter plot, as shown in Figure 5.17.

Do Calories Affect Alcohol Content in Beer?

This simple scatterplot shows the linear relationship between calories and percent of alcohol.



Figure 5.17 A simple scatter plot.

You can add depth and visual richness to a scatterplot by:

- Bringing over dimensions and using them to add color or additional shapes onto the scatter plot.
- Changing the shape of the data via the Marks card to provide additional relevance and visual cues. You can choose these shapes from a set of sample default shapes as well as a selection of shape palettes included in Tableau (see Figure 5.18).

Filters			• • •	Edit Shape
			Select Data Item:	Select Shape Palette:
Marks	tomatic	-	0	 ○ □ + Default ● ■ + Filled ○ ○ Arrows d of Bars
ee Color	6) Size	T Label		 ♦ ○ ? Bug Tracking ♦ ♦ Gender ♦ ↓ ¥ Cender
ooo Detail	C Tooltip	oo ∆o Shape		Proportions Ratings
		- □ 0 7 ∆ ◊		$1 \rightarrow \text{Thin Arrows} \\ * \triangleq \frac{1}{2} \text{ Weather}$
		• • •		
		More St		Assign Palette Reload Shapes

Figure 5.18 Choose shapes from the Marks card to add depth to your scatter plot.

- Incorporating filters can reduce noise and help limit investigation to the factors that matter most to your analysis.
- Scatter plots are excellent candidates to include statistical information to review trends and other analytics. Via Tableau's Analytics pane, you can add a variety of analytic models to highlight the statistics in your data. Hover the cursor over the trend lines to display statistical information used to create the line(s), as shown in Figure 5.19.



Figure 5.19 A scatter plot with a trend line and summary statistics.

If these shelves contain both dimensions and measures, Tableau will create a **Matrix of Scatter Plots** and place the measures as the innermost fields, which means that measures are always to the right of any dimensions that you have also placed on these shelves. The word *innermost* in this case refers to the table structure (see Figure 5.20).



Figure 5.20 A matrix scatter plot.

THE PACKED BUBBLE CHART

The bubble chart is a variation of the scatter plot that replaces data points with a cluster of circles (or bubbles), a technique that further emphasizes data that would be rendered on a pie chart, scatter plot, or map. This method shows relational values without regard to axes and is used to display three dimensions of data: two through the bubble's location and another through size.

These charts allow for the comparison of entities in terms of their relative positions with respect to each numeric axis and size. The sizes of the bubbles provide details about the data, and colors can be used as an additional encoding cue to answer many questions about the data at once (see Figure 5.21). As a technique for adding richness to bubble charts, consider overlaying them on a map to put geographic data quickly in context.

America's Favorite Pie Flavor

Year over year, apple takes the cake..erm, pie.



Figure 5.21 A packed bubble chart displays data in a cluster of circles, using size and color to encode the bubbles with meaning.

Tableau How-To: Packed Bubble Charts

To create a basic packed bubble chart, drag a dimension to the Columns shelf and a measure to the Rows shelf. Tableau will aggregate the measure as a sum and create a vertical axis to display a bar chart. This is the default functionality when you select one measure and dimension in this manner. Next, use the Show Me card to select the Packed Bubble chart from the list of options (see Figure 5.22).

In this example, the size of the bubble represents the number

of survey responses whereas the color of the bubble represents the flavor or pie chosen. The circle is also labeled with the flavor.



Figure 5.22 Building a packed bubble chart in Tableau begins with building a bar chart and changing the chart type.

Like most chart types, there are ways to add more insight into a packed bubble chart or embellish the chart with storytelling techniques. For example, use different dimensions to encode color, or adjust labels to add additional information. (Chapter 9 covers formatting Mark labels.)

Shapes, especially circles, also provide an interesting opportunity to move beyond data visualization tools to bring your story to life in creative ways (assuming, of course, this works for your audience and your story). In Figure 5.23, images of the pie flavors overlay the bubbles, presenting the same data in a more visual way. Because we are interested in the story here more than the analytics, this works.



Figure 5.23 A more artistic storytelling approach to this same

data story.

note

You might recognize this image from Wake's Pis: A Kid's Guide to Delicious Data Stories. For more of Wake's work, check out www.wakespis.com.

THE TREEMAP

One of the two more advanced visualizations covered in this chapter, the treemap uses a series of rectangles of various sizes to show relative proportions (see Figure 5.24). It works especially well if the data being visualized has a hierarchical structure (with parent nodes, children, and so on) or when analyzing a parts-to-whole relationship. As its name suggests, a treemap divides and subdivides based on parts of a whole by breaking down into smaller rectangles nested within a larger rectangle, often of a different color or different color gradient, to emphasize its relationship to the larger whole.

The treemap also provides a much more efficient way to see this relationship when working with large amounts of data by making efficient use of space. It is ideal for legibly showing hundreds (or perhaps even thousands) of items simultaneously within a single visualization.

How Would Students Fight Back?

Students recognize that schools have a responsibility to educate and support students who experience cyberbullying.

Schools would have to help students who were cyberbullied.	There would be a youth helpline where students could go to get help.	They would have to hold conferences of young people to help solve the problem.
	Cyberbullying would be illegal.	
Schools would have to teach students about cyberbullying.		There would be a cyberbullying police squad to investigate cyberbullying.
	Schools would teach parents how to help their children who are cyberbullied.	

Figure 5.24 This treemap shows the rate of student survey responses on how they perceive schools should fight back against cyberbullying. The sizes and shapes of the rectangles give further detail on their relationship within the hierarchy of total answers.

Tableau How-To: Treemaps

Use dimensions to define the structure of a treemap, and measures to define the size (or color) of the rectangles.

Again, drag a dimension to the Columns shelf and a measure to the Rows shelf. Tableau will aggregate the measure as a sum and create a vertical axis to display a bar chart (see Figure 5.25). From here, use the Show Me card to select a treemap from the list of available chart types.



Filters	Sheet 13			CNTD(Respon	nse ld)
Marks Automatic	Schools would have to help students who were cyberbullied.	There would be a youth helpline where students could go to get help.	They would have to hold conferences of young people to help solve the problem.	173	297
Detai Tootio CNTD(Respon. CNTD(Respon. Wording	Schools would have to teach students about cyberbullying.		There would be a cyberbuilying police squad to investigate cyberbuilying.		
		Schools would teach parents how to help their children who are cyberbullied.			

Figure 5.25 Building a treemap in Tableau begins with building a bar chart and changing the chart type.

In this example, we are using survey data to create the treemap and looking at how many respondents selected each of the options presented. Both the size of the rectangles and their color are determined by the value of Response ID—the greater the sum of unique responses for each category, the darker and larger its box (this is further clarified by the color legend at right).

Size and Color are crucial elements in treemaps. You can modify a treemap by adjusting how color is utilized. For example, in Figure 5.26 I have removed count of Response ID from Color and replaced it with Grade. Now, Grade determines the color of the rectangles and the count of Responses still determines the size of rectangles, allowing us to see top responses per grade.

Filters Quest	on ID		Sheet 13									Grade 6	
Marks	tomatic		Cyberbullying would be illegal.	Schools would hav help students who cyberbullied.	ve to o were	There would be a	Schools would have to help	Schools would have to teach	There would be a youth	Schools would have to	Schools would have to	7 8 9 10	
Color	Schools would have Schools would have babel Schools would have children who ar babel Schools would have cold go to get Wording Schools would have Coberbuilying.		Schools would tea parents how to he children who are	ch Ip their	They	Cyberbully would be	ing				11		
Detal			about cyberbullying.	Illying. There would be a you helpline where stude		have to hold	They would have to hold	d d	There would	There would	They would		
			Schools would have	Cyberbullying	There	There	Schools would have	scho woul	ols Id have				
			to teach students about cyberbullying.	would be illegal. v a	would be illegal.	d be illegal. would b a youth helplin		There would be a youth	d Scho woul	ols Id			
			Schools would have to help students	Schools would teach parents	student	5	Schools would have	School would	8				
			who were how to help their cyberbullied. children who are hold		They we hold con	ould have to	There would be a						

Figure 5.26 Modify elements on the Marks card to adjust the elements of color and shape in a treemap.

THE HEAT MAP

A heat map graph is a great way to compare categorical data using color (see Figure 5.27). Similar to the tree map, a heat map represents the values by a variable in a hierarchy. They

are similar in concept to the type of complex visual data representation that you might see used on your local weather forecast by the meteorologist to illustrate rainfall patterns across a region. However, they are not limited to use with maps.

	The Sorcerer's Stone	The Chamber of Secrets	The Prisoner of Azkaban	The Goblet of Fire	The Order of the Phoenix	The Half-Blood Prince	The Deathly Hallows
Albus Dumbledore							
Bellatrix Lestrange							
Dolores Umbridge							
Draco Malfoy							
Harry Potter							
Hermione Granger							
Lord Voldemort							
Ron Wealsey							
Severus Snape							
Sirius Black							

Mapping Character Aggression in Harry Potter

Figure 5.27 A heat map of frequency of aggressive acts committed in Harry Potter.

Tip for navigating this type of visualization include:

- Adding a size variation for squares to show the concentration of intersecting factors while adding a third element.
- Using a shape other than a square to convey meaning in a more impactful way.

Tableau How-To: Heat Maps

Building a heat map in Tableau takes a few more clicks than with some of the other charts discussed.

To begin, place one (or more) dimensions onto the Columns shelf *and* one (or more) dimensions on the Rows shelf. Select

Square as the mark type and place a measure on the Color shelf (see Figure 5.28).



Figure 5.28 Building a heat map.

note

In Figure 5.28 I have already manually sorted the order of books (you can see the sort icon on the Book pill) and filtered the number of characters down (you can see the Name pill in on the Filters shelf).

There are a few more steps to curate this heat map. The preceding example uses an automatic blue gradient color palette. There might be more appropriate color palettes depending on the data you are looking at. For example, <u>Figure 5.27</u> shows the use of a red-gold gradient scheme to progressively darken the cell color in line with characters'

aggressive action counts. You can enter the Colors box in the Marks card, and then select Edit Colors to open the Edit Colors dialog box (see <u>Figure 5.29</u>). From here you can select another color palette from the drop-down menu. This can be either a gradient palette or a diverging palette.



Figure 5.29 Use the Edit Colors dialog box to select an appropriate color scheme for a heat map.

- If you select the Use Full Color Range check box for a diverging option, Tableau will assign the starting number a full intensity and the ending number a full intensity.
- If you don't select Use Full Color Range, Tableau will automatically assign the color intensity as if the range were from -100 to 100, maximizing the color contrast as much as possible.

Additional visual cues, like lines, are also important contributors to curating heat maps. You can add borders to each colored cell in the view by revisiting the Color Editor box and selecting an appropriate border color from the Effects portion of the border dialog (see Figure 5.30).

Pages	iii Columns	Book E	
	≣ Rows	Name	
Filters	Sheet 2		SUM(Agg.Per.Mention)
Name		Book	0.0000 0.2830
Marks	Name	The The The The The Half- The Order The Sorcerer., Chamber., Prisoner., Goblet o., Blood Pri., of the Ph., Deathly.,	
Automatic •	Albus Dumbledore Bellatrix Lestrange		
: 0 1	Dolores Umbridge		
Color Edit Colors Opacity	y Potter nione Granger Voldemort Wealsey rus Snape c Black		
Border:	Ø		
Halo: Autor	matic		
No			

Figure 5.30 Adding borders to colored cells helps to distinguish individual cells in the view.

RECOMMENDED READING

Check out the Tableau white paper: *Which Chart or Graph* for additional information:

https://www.tableau.com/learn/whitepapers/which-

chart-or-graph-is-right-for-you.

MAPS

If you want to analyze or present your data geographically, Tableau has several native mapping capabilities. Maps can be used to display geographic data or as a way to communicate answers to spatial questions, like "Which states offer the most analytics education programs" or "Which regions in the U.S. have the most incidents of Lyme disease?"

While maps can be a great way to tell a story about your data, remember that they are a type of visualization and do have an appropriate use case. Depending on the question you are trying to answer or the insight you are trying to communicate, another chart type might be a more appropriate fit. Before you begin building a map, be sure to take a careful look at your data, your analysis, and your story. Maps, as Tableau explains, should answer questions that have both "*appropriate* data representation and *attractive* data representation. As a storytelling device, maps can be particularly tricky in their tendency to mislead or inadvertently cause people to misinterpret the data, or to dictate a not-quite-true story.

Tableau can be customized to create several types of maps; however, this section covers the two most common: proportional symbol maps and choropleth (or filled) maps.

note

Tableau capabilities include many advanced map types and customization functions that are not covered in this text. Tutorials and use case information for more advanced maps, such as point distribution maps, which help you look for visual clusters of data; flow (or path) maps that connect paths to see where something went (for example, storms or product sales) over time; and spider (or origin-destination) maps that show how an origin location and one or more destination locations interact can be found online. For more info, visit Tableau Help > Maps.

WHAT GEODATA DOES TABLEAU SUPPORT?

Tableau recognizes a set of geographic roles defined by a geocoding database that uses latitude and longitude coordinates. By default, Tableau supports geodata including:

- Worldwide airport codes
- Cities
- Countries/regions/territories
- States/provinces
- Some postcodes and second-level administrative districts (county-equivalents).
- U.S. area codes
- Core-Based Statistical Areas (CBSA)
- Metropolitan Statistical Areas (MSA)
- Congressional districts
- Zip codes

Additionally, Tableau organizes geographic roles

within a hierarchical order. The order is City > County > Zip Code > CBSA/MSA > Area Code > State > Country/Region. When you place multiple geographic fields on Detail on the Marks card, Tableau plots the data points in the field with the highest geographic role on this list.

Connecting to Geographic Data

Although you are already familiar with connecting to data in Tableau at this point, geographic data comes in many shapes and formats so it is useful to walk through this step of the process again within the context of mapping to discuss where geodata nuances might affect the process as you prepare to work with geographic data.

note

Newer visions of Tableau Desktop can connect directly to spatial files (like shapefiles or geoJSON files); however, following the precedent established in this book these examples demonstrate connecting to data in Excel.

In this exercise, I connect to a dataset of incidents of Lyme disease. This dataset provides a count of Lyme disease cases by state and county from 2000 to 2015 (see Figure 5.31).

note

This Lyme disease dataset is publically available from

the Center for Disease Control. You can download the data at https://www.cdc.gov/lyme/stats/index.html.

Image: Connections Add LymeDiseaseacounty-00-15 Losi	⊖ • Id-cas	e-counts-by-co	ounty-00-1	.5. (LymeDi	seasecas	e-count	Connect Uve	tion O Ext	ract		Filters 0 Add
Sheets p iii ld-case-countcounty-00-15. iiii New Union											
	Sort fe	ids Data source orde	r v				_ Sho	waliases 🗌	Show hidden	fields 1.000) + row
	Abc Id-case-counts by Stname	Abc Id case counts by count. Ctyname	e Ió case counts Stoode	e Id case counts b Ctycode	0 10 cmr-stor. 2000	e 2001	e Id-case-coun 2002	• 2003	e Krossecour 2004	е 13-спо-соля 2005	0 1d-case-count 2006
	Alabama	Autauga County	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	C
	Alabama	Baldwin County	1	3	1	0	1	0	0	0	0
	Alabama	Barbour County	1	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	(
	Alabama	Bibb County	1	7	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Alabama	Biount County	1	9	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Alabama	Bullock County	1	11	0	0	0	0	0	0	(
	Alabama	Butler County	1	13	0	0	0	0	0	0	C
	Alabama	Calhoun County	1	15	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
8 Data Source Sheet 1 R. E.	Alabama	Phanehase Privates		17	^	^	- ^	^	^	^	^

Figure 5.31 This dataset, available from the CDC, contains the number of incidents of Lyme disease over a 15-year period.

Assigning Geographic Roles

After connecting to your data source, you might need to take a few more steps before your geographic data is fully prepared for analysis in Tableau. These steps will not always be necessary to create a map, and might differ depending on your data and the type of map you intend to create. Regardless, all geographic fields should have a data type of string, a data role of dimension, and be assigned the appropriate geographic roles. (The exception is latitude/longitude, which should have a data type of number (decimal), a data role of measure, and be assigned the Latitude and Longitude geographic roles.) Let's practice adjusting data types for geographic data in the CDC dataset.

This simple dataset has two geographic fields: State and County. Tableau has correctly identified these data types as string; however, clicking on the field and looking at geographic roles reveals that none have been assigned (see Figure 5.32). You might need to assign or edit the geographic role assigned by Tableau. In this example, two things must be done:

- Adjust the State field to the Geographic Role of State
- Adjust the County field to the Geographic Role of County

 ⇐ → □ ○ Connections LymeDiseasecacounty-00-15 	⊖ Id-case-counts-by-county-00-15. (LymeDiseasecase-count © Live Detract									Filters 0 Add	
Deat Sheets p III id-case-count_county-00-15. III₀ New Union	Id case-counts-by-count	y-00-1									
	Sort fields Data se	ource orde	•]			C Sho	walases 🗌	Show hidden	felds 1.00	0 + rows
	Number (decimal)								•		
			Stoode	Ctycode	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006
	Date & Time Date	ounty	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
		sunty	1	3	1	0	1	0	0	0	0
	Boolean	junty	1	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	√ Default	√ None			0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Geographic Role 🕨	Airpo	rt Code (U.S.)		0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Alabama Bullock Cr	CBSA	/MSA (U.S.)		0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Alabama Butler Co	City	ressional D	istrict (U.S.)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Alabama Calhoun C	Cour	try/Region		0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Alabama Phamban	Cour	ty Europe		^	٨		٨	٨	^	^
O nem source Sheet 1 125 125 1	4	State	/Province ode/Postco	*			& Lindy R	yan •		30.0.3	

Figure 5.32 Geographic roles can be assigned, or changed directly from the data source screen. They can also be changed in a worksheet.

With this adjustment you will see the data type icon change to

a globe, representing that the field now has a geographic role assigned (see Figure 5.33). Further, the icon designated in blue indicates that Tableau has assigned this field as a dimension. This is correct.

	\oplus	#
Id-case-counts-by	ld-case-counts-by-coun	Id-cas
Stname	Ctyname	Stco
Alabama	Autauga County	
Alabama	Baldwin County	
Alabama	Barbour County	
Alabama	Bibb County	



When you assign the correct geographic role to a field in Tableau, the software will also assign a latitude and longitude to each location. It does this by finding a match that is already built into the geocoding database that is installed with Tableau Desktop. These latitude and longitude fields will display on the Data pane as measures, and are how Tableau knows where to plot your data locations as you begin building a map (see Figure 5.34). (Note: In some advanced maps, you might elect to have your latitude and longitude coordinates as dimensions. These should be considered special uses and are not covered here.)



Figure 5.34 When Tableau recognizes geodata, latitude and longitude fields are automatically displayed as measures on the Data pane.

Creating Geographic Hierarchies

In the Tableau worksheet space, if you have more than one level of geographic data in your dataset you can create geographic hierarchies. While these are not critical to creating a map, geographic hierarchies will allow you to quickly drill into the levels of detail your data contains. Because this dataset has both State and County, you can create a hierarchy using these two fields. As State is the larger field in the hierarchy, let's begin there.

To create a geographic hierarchy, right-click the field that represents the highest level of geographic data in the Data pane. Select Hierarchy > Create Hierarchy (see Figure 5.35).



Figure 5.35 Creating hierarchies enables you to drill down to geographic levels of interest.

A dialog box appears that prompts you to name the hierarchy schema, such as Location Data. Enter a name and click OK.

A new field now appears in the Dimensions pane with the name of the hierarchy just created. The highest level geographic data used to create the hierarchy, in this example, state, appears as the first rung in the hierarchy. To add additional fields, simply drag and drop into the hierarchy, placing them in correct order. Repeat as necessary until all geographic fields are included in the hierarchy. Figure 5.36 shows county has been added into the hierarchy below state.



Figure 5.36 Example of geographic hierarchy.

Proportional Symbol Maps

Proportional symbol maps are useful ways to show quantitative values for individual locations. They can show one or two quantitative values per location, and can be encoded with visual cues like size and color. The proportional symbol map displayed in Figure 5.37 shows the number and level of analytic academic programs across the U.S. plotted using the open dataset used in Chapter 1.

note

You can download this public, and constantly updating, dataset from https://github.com/ryanswanstrom/awesome-

datascience-colleges.

Business Analytics Programs Across the US How the growing academic field is spreading across the US.



Figure 5.37 This symbol map shows the number and type of academic analytics programs available in the U.S. with legends.

The first step to building a map is to give Tableau geographical coordinates to work with to lay the foundation of the map. Double-click the Latitude and Longitude generated fields under Measures. Latitude is added to the Rows shelf, and Longitude to the Columns shelf. Initially, a blank map view is created (see Figure 5.38).



Figure 5.38 The first step in building a map visualization is to display the Latitude and Longitude coordinates to generate a blank map.

Next, drag out the dimension that represents the location you want to plot your map by and drop it on the Details card. From the hierarchy group in this dataset, I've brought over City to look at programs offered at specific universities. A lower level of detail is added to the view.

note

In this dataset, several international locations now show as Unknown. I've filtered these out to focus only on U.S.–based programs. I have further limited the view to the contiguous 48 states (see Figure 5.39).





With a level of detail now on the map, the next step is to bring over the Measure to encode size. In this example I am interested in seeing the number of programs per location, so I can simply bring the Number of Records Dimension to the Size Marks card. With the size of the bubbles representing the number of programs at each location, we can visualize the range of values more clearly (see Figure 5.40).



Figure 5.40 Adding detail to the Size Marks card can enhance the ways symbols appear on the map and encode additional data.

This is the basis of a proportional symbol map. The larger data points represent the locations with the larger total number of programs, and the smaller data points represent the locations with few analytics program options.

Although this shows a good picture of program availability, there is more to do to encode this map with more data and tell a better story. To get a better of idea of which programs are offered at various locations, by degree level, we can bring over Degree dimension to the Color Marks card. (Note: Although this dataset includes everything from Associate Degrees through Doctoral Degrees, I have excluded Associates.)

The proportional symbol map is now complete (see <u>Figure</u> 5.41).



Figure 5.41 Together, color and size can add significant layers of detail to a map.

At this point, your map should look similar to the one displayed previously in <u>Figure 5.37</u>. However, a few more tweaks can help to make the data in your map shine. Try the following:

- Sort your categories in an order that makes logical sense. This map has degrees sorted by highest level (Doctoral) to lowest (Bachelor).
- Color as usual; I've used the colorblind palette to manually select appropriate colors for each degree in the hierarchy, on a makeshift blue-orange color scale.
 Additionally, adjust the opacity so that no points are lost behind colors of larger value/darker color. You can also add borders around circles to separate marks.

Choropleth Map

A choropleth (or filled) map is a great tool for showing ratio

or aggregated data. These maps use shading and coloring within geographic areas to encode value to a quantity in those areas. A dataset for choropleth maps should include both quantitative and qualitative values, along with location information recognizable by Tableau.

This example returns to the CDC Lyme disease dataset.

To begin building the map, double-click State. Longitude and Latitude are moved to the Columns and Rows shelves, and a map view with one data point for each state in the data source appears. To look at only the contiguous 48 states, select the Alaska and Hawaii data points, and click Exclude to remove them from view (see Figure 5.42).



Figure 5.42 You can exclude data by hovering over the data point and clicking Exclude.

Now, let's drill down to a better level of detail. On the Marks card, click the plus icon to drill town to County. This results in a data point for every county within the data source (see Figure 5.43). (If necessary, you can filter any nulls at this point.)



Figure 5.43 This is a nice example of why a choropleth can be a better alternative than a symbol map. There is simply too much data to show in individual points, but all is necessary for analysis.

From here, to transform the symbol map to a filled map, bring a measure to Color on the Marks card. This example uses 2015, the most recent date for the data. The map changes to a filled map mark type and the polygons are colored blue by default (see <u>Figure 5.44</u>). Notice that the default aggregation type for the 2015 measure is SUM by default; however, this might not be the best fit depending on your data. Take a moment to verify that the field should be aggregated as a sum (because this is a count of incidents reported, a sum is appropriate).



Figure 5.44 Choropleth maps use sequential coloring to embed values in map regions.

Now, let's improve this visualization to tell a better story about the data and complete this choropleth map.

- **1.** On the Marks card, click Color and Edit Colors. Because these are disease incidents, choose a more alerting color, perhaps Orange.
- **2.** Click again on the Marks card and under Effects, remove the Border option by clicking None.
- **3.** Edit the color filter so that it applies colors only to counties that have had at least one incident of Lyme disease. This is an important step in ensuring that the map tells an accurate story, while drawing attention to areas in which Lyme disease is prevalent.

The choropleth map displaying 2015 incidents of Lyme disease within the contiguous states is complete, and paints a grim picture for New England (see Figure 5.45).



Figure 5.45 Color choice on a choropleth map is important and should follow the color practices described earlier in this text.

note

The level of detail specified in the map as well as the color distribution specified for the polygons affects how the data is represented, and how people will interpret the data. In some cases, stepped color might be more appropriate.

note

Again, as discussed in the previous chapter, context is everything. With maps, keeping population sizes in context is especially important. You might need to "normalize" your data with a calculated field to ensure you are looking at populations in context of their geographic regions.

MAP LAYERS

Of the many customization features for maps in Tableau, one of the most interesting is choosing between the built-in map background styles to adjust the background of your map. The three background options offered in Tableau are Normal, Light (the default), or Dark. <u>Figure 5.46</u> shows each background option.



Figure 5.46 Three standard map backgrounds available in Tableau.

To select a Tableau map background style choose Map>Map Layers and adjust the Style in the Map Layers box (see Figure 5.47).
Map Layers ×
Backgrou Normal Light Style: Dark
Washout: 0%
Repeat Background
 Base Land Cover Coastline Streets and Highways Light Country/Region B Light Country/Region N Country/Region Borders Country/Region Names Light State/Province B Light State/Province N State/Province Borders
Data Layer
Layer: No Data Layer 💲
Make Default Reset

Figure 5.47 You can adjust map backgrounds and other formatting stylistics in the Map Layers pane.

You can also experiment with importing your own background map, adding a static background map image, and adding or subtracting map layers by data layers. Learn more at http://onlinehelp.tableau.com/current/pro/desktop/enus/maps_options.html.

KEEPING MAPS NEUTRAL

Visualizations are not neutral and maps, like any storytelling device, can be used to mislead audiences if not designed correctly and honestly—and customized for the audience. Google Maps does this with lines and how it adjusts views for disputed territories. For example, Russian users see Crimea marked off with a solid line indicated that the area belongs to Russia, but for Ukrainian users the solid line is replaced with a dashed stroke indicating that the peninsula belongs to the Ukraine. Everyone else, like us in the U.S., see a hybrid line that reflects Crimea's disputed status (see Figure 5.48).



Figure 5.48 This Google Maps version of the Crimea border is intended for a U.S.–based audience and shows a hybrid line that reflects the border's disputed status.

Additionally, the manner in which we use shapes and colors to encode data that represents humans can be tricky on a map. One Minnesota poverty map recently changed from representing humans as red dots—which results in a map full of red swarm—to a gradient purple to look less aggressive (see Figure 5.49).



Figure 5.49 This unfortunate design choice to represent population was later adjusted to a more neutral, and less offensive, approach.

These examples, and many more, speak to the importance of paying special attention to how our assumptions, intuitions, and biases—or even the things

we might not consider—affect how we build visualizations to tell stories about people and places. Check out this article for more: https://source.opennews.org/articles/when-designershows-design/.

SUMMARY

This chapter explored how to create basic charts and maps displayed on the Show Me card in Tableau. The following chapter presents a pragmatic look at how to curate meaningful visualizations that take advantage of the visual processing horsepower of the human brain.

CHAPTER 6

CURATING VISUALS FOR YOUR AUDIENCE

This chapter dives into human cognition and visual perception to frame the contribution of pre-attentive attributes like size, color, and position and how important they are to the storytelling process. It explores how these can be used strategically to help direct an audience's attention and create a visual hierarchy of components to communicate effectively. This chapter provides the framework for curating story arcs and layouts with visualizations in Tableau that the following chapters explore in-depth. It's been said—by Tableau, actually—that data visualization is one of the most significant technologies of the 21st century. Of course, the act of visually representing data is not limited to the 21st century. Chapter 2 looked at Minard's flow map of Napoleon's invasion of Russia, published in 1869. In addition to Minard, many other quintessential examples exist of peoples' attempts to visually explore, explain, and communicate data throughout the last several centuries. Many of these have had significant influence on modern data visualization—from Ptolemy's earliest preserved use of a data table to display astronomical information in 150 BCE; to Descartes' 17th century introduction of the Cartesian coordinate system; to Playfair's invention of the time-series line graph, bar chart, and pie chart in the 19th century, Nightingale's 1858 Coxcomb plot, Snow's map of the 1854 London cholera outbreak, and Tukey's box plot just a few decades ago (see Figure 6.1). As far back as we can look, we seem to have always looked for visual ways to see and understand data more clearly.

Notable Moments in Data Visualization History



Figure 6.1 Noteworthy names in data viz through time.

Why? Humans are intrinsically visual creatures. In fact, of all the powerful processing systems hardwired into the human brain, none are more powerful than our visual system. Our brains are literally designed with cognitive and perceptual abilities to visually process complex information. We've been learning, remembering, and even writing (our earliest forms of written languages were cuneiform) using the power of pictures for nearly all of recorded human history, so it makes sense that we would apply this same cognitive horsepower to how we interact with data, too.

note

John Medina, a developmental molecular biologist who studies how the mind reacts to and organizes information, developed the concept of the picture superiority effect, which recognizes that information learned by viewing pictures is more easily and more frequently recalled than that learned purely by textural or other word-form equivalents, including audio (see Figure 6.2).



note

Read more on our shared visual human history, including a study of visual communication from cave drawings through advance visualizations, in *The Visual Imperative*. The power of pictures isn't only limited to helping us transform data into meaning. Visuals also act as memory magnets in our brains: We embed and retain memories in visual form. We're extremely good at this visual memorization, too: Research into our visual retention systems dating back as early as the 1970s has measured our visual memory capacity to be somewhere in the vicinity of 10,000 images with a recognition rate of approximately 83%.

With that kind of retention power, one can easily understand how our visual capacity demands careful attention when working with data. We want to make sure that we are visualizing data both efficiently to leverage our cognitive abilities, and accurately to ensure that we are representing information correctly.

VISUAL DESIGN BUILDING BLOCKS

Chapter 2, "The Power of Visual Data Stories," briefly covered perceptual pop-out and some of the cognitive aspects that make data visualization and visual data stories so powerful. We must discuss many important elements as we dissect the visual properties of visualization and the best ways to capitalize on them. The steps you take to format your analysis and presentation are critically important as they can make or break the visual appeal and effectiveness of any visualization.

As you might have noticed in our previous work in building

basic charts and graphs in Tableau, you can format just about every visual element you see on a worksheet, from titles and subtitles; to typeface fonts; to color use, shape and size of symbols; and shading, borders, and lines. Further, you can specify format settings for a specific field within an individual worksheet, entire workbooks, or within dashboards and stories. This chapter provides a closer look at a few of the most important visual design building blocks, and how you can use Tableau functionality to embed these visual cues purposefully and intuitively as you format your visualizations.

In particular, this chapter covers:

- Color
- Lines
- Shapes

Chapter 8, "Storyboarding Frame by Frame," covers additional formatting for dashboards and stories.

note

Before curating your visualization, you must first understand and explore the data, and represent it using the chart or graph best suited for your data's story. From there you can apply visual cues that enable you to intuitively and meaningfully communicate to audiences. Chapters 5, "Choosing the Right Visual," and 9, "Advanced Storytelling Charts," cover selecting and building the best charts.

COLOR

Color is one of the most important, most complicated, and most frequently misused elements of data visualization. Used well, colors can enhance and clarify a visualization, but used poorly color can confuse, misrepresent, or obstruct clear communication. Color is such a critical element in representing data visually that Tableau employs color scientists to help design the best color palettes as well as provide deep education on the appropriate use of color. This section covers how to properly apply color to a visual that aligns to its data and your story; however, this is an area in which you should invest more time learning.

All marks in Tableau have a default color, even no fields are placed on the Color Marks card. For most marks, blue is the default color. For text, gray is the default color. We'll explore how to use the Color Marks card when looking at how it is used in different types of visualization.

note

The visuals in this section use the Global Superstore dataset available from Tableau.

Tableau applies color depending on the field's values. For discrete values, or dimensions, Tableau typically uses a categorical palette, whereas for continuous, or measures, Tableau assigns a quantitative palette. These translate into the three primary ways to encode data with color in data visualization:

- Sequential
- Diverging for continuous, quantitative values
- Categorical for discrete values.

Sequential color encodes a quantitative value from low to high using gradients of a single color and is usable when all values are positive or all values are negative. A great example of this is Sales, which goes from zero to infinity. The map in Figure 6.3 uses a sequential color scale to encode positive sales amounts into each U.S. state.



Figure 6.3 This map uses sequential color to show the sum of sales from least to greatest—the darker the blue, the higher the sales.

The automatic sequential color palette used in Tableau is blue. In addition to being able to change the palette itself, you can also adjust the distribution of color by clicking the Color Marks card, which opens the Edit Colors dialog box (see

Figure 6.4).

	Edit Colors [Sales]	
Palette:		
Automatic		~
920		457,688
Stepped Color 5	Steps	
Reversed		
Use Full Color Rang	e	
Include Totals		<< Advanced
Start:	End:	
919.91	457,687.6315	
Center:		
229,303.77075		
Reset Apply		Cancel OK

Figure 6.4 Select and adjust color palettes in the Edit Colors dialog box.

Diverging color encodes a quantitative value but has a midpoint—for example, zero—and numbers on either side of this midpoint—positive and negative—are displayed in a

different color with each having its own sequential palette.

Figure 6.5 uses a diverging color palette to display profit by state (top) and profit by product category and subcategory (bottom). Positive profit is colored blue with darker blue reflecting higher profit. Profit could also be negative, and in this visual negative values are encoded in orange with the darker orange reflecting a bigger loss.





Figure 6.5 Diverging color palettes display positive and negative values using gradient shading of two contrasting colors to encode values.

Similarly to the sequential color palette, Tableau automatically assigns a color palette for diverging values. The default is an orange-blue diverging color palette (we discuss why *not* to use a red-green diverging color palette and instead use better palettes to avoid issues of color vision deficiency later in this chapter). As with any color palette, you can adjust the diverging one (see Figure 6.6).

⊗ ○ ⊕	Edit Colors [Profit]	
Palette:		
Automatic		~
-25,729		76,381
Stepped Color 5	Steps	
Reversed		
Use Full Color Rang	ge	
Include Totals		<< Advanced
Start:	End:	
-25,729.3563	76,381.3871	
Center:		
0		
Reset Apply		Cancel OK

Figure 6.6 Using the new Tableau automatic diverging color palette, orange-blue, is the best practice; it replaces the red-green color palette.

Diverging color palettes are clearly designated in the Tableau color library. Beyond changing the colors themselves, you can also adjust the midpoint. Midpoints are not exclusively zero. They could be the average, such as above or below average, or target, whether exceeding or below.

Stepped Color

In addition to changing the range of colors, you can also group values into color-coded bins using stepped colors. Use the up and down arrows to specify how many bins to create (see Figure 6.7).

Colors	[Profit]
Palette:	
Automatic	×
-32,735	76,381
Stepped Color 5 C Step Reversed	IS
Use Full Color Range	
Include Totals	Advanced >>
Reset Apply	Cancel OK

Figure 6.7 Rather than use gradient shading, you can also use stepped color palettes to distinguish colors.

Reversed Color

If it makes sense to do so, you can select the Reversed option to reverse the order of colors in the range. For sequential colors, this means darkening the intensity in the lower values rather than the higher. Likewise, for diverging colors, this means swapping the two colors in the palette in addition to reversing the shades within each range. Finally, *categorical* colors encode categories—apples, bananas, and oranges; shoes, socks, and shirts; or in the case of Figure 6.8, furniture, office supplies, and technology—using distinct colors appropriate for fields that have no inherent quantitative order.







By default, Tableau assigns categorical color using the automatic Tableau color palette. As you might expect, you can adjust this to use a color palette of your choosing (see Figure 6.9). To change color values, click the Color Marks card and select Edit. A dialog box opens that allows you to select from the color palettes in Tableau. You can assign an entirely new palette to every item in the field, or you can manually assign a color to each field by selecting and assigning a color swatch to individual items. If you need to manually add a specific color shade to comply with company branding guidelines, you can do that, too.



Figure 6.9 The Tableau color library includes a wide variety of pre-programmed color palettes to choose from. You can also program your own.

COLOR EFFECTS

Beyond advanced color options, additional configuration options not related to the actual colors shown are available in Tableau. These include adjusting opacity, mark borders, and mark halos (see Figure 6.10). The preceding chapter explored some of these functions briefly within the context

of curating maps.

Color —	
E	dit Colors
Opacity -	
1 1	I I I I 80%
Effects —	
Border:	Automatic 🗘
Halo:	\$

Figure 6.10 The Color Marks card offers additional options for color formatting.

Opacity

Adjusting the opacity can be helpful for looking at dense scatter plots or in maps overlaying a background image. Moving the slider left makes the marks become more transparent. Consider the before and after in Figure 6.11: The map on the top has opacity at 100% whereas the opacity in the map on the bottom is at 50%.



Connecticut New Jersey Delaware Maryland

District of Columbia



Mexico

Mark Borders

Tableau automatically displays all marks without borders; however, you can turn these on for all mark types except text, line, and shapes.

Borders can be helpful in distinguishing closely spaced marks. However, they can also make distinguishing color-encoded dimensions (as they make marks narrower) more difficult (like in a stacked bar chart). Adjust your visualization with and without borders to see whether they add or reduce clarity.

Mark Halos

Lastly, mark halos can assist in making marks more visible, particularly on maps, by surrounding each mark with a ring of contrasting color (see Figure 6.12).



Figure 6.12 You can choose mark halos from the color palette to "ring" a data point and increase its visibility and separation from other marks on the viz.

We can also use color to highlight data or alert audiences to

important insights.

You use a *highlight* color to highlight one data point or category. For example, if you are tracking profits of product categories over time with a separate line representing each category and you want to highlight the consistent high profits in a certain category, perhaps technology, you can highlight one state by coloring only this line and using gray for the other categories (see Figure 6.13). This allows the audience to clearly see how well this category is doing in comparison to others on the chart.



Earth-tone colors, like blue, are great colors for highlighting.

Figure 6.13 Using a highlighting color, like blue, drives attention to one mark on a viz without the need for additional labeling.

Similarly to highlighting, you can use *alerting* colors to draw the audience's attention to a particular data point. Using the same line chart as in Figure 6.13, rather than highlighting the

high profits of technology maybe the goal is to instead alert the audience of the low profits in furniture (see Figure 6.14). In this use case, alerting is done with an alarming or alerting color—like red—to indicate to the audience that something is wrong.



Figure 6.14 Using an alerting color, like red, drives attention to one mark on a viz without the need for additional labeling.

It's important to note that in Western culture red is often associated with negative values or associations; however, this is not always consistent with color culture in other countries, like China. Bright alerting colors could be red, orange, or yellow.

THE TRUTH ABOUT RED AND GREEN

This note about the cautious use of red in visualization brings us to an important conversation regarding the use of red/green color palettes in visualization. Most of us are familiar with the traffic light palette, where red is stop, green is go or positive, and yellow or orange (or white as a midpoint) means to proceed with caution.

Although this option is available in Tableau, there is very rarely—if ever—a valid and compelling reason to use it. Instead, a very compelling reason exists *not* to use it: color vision deficiency (CVD). For the most part, we all share a common color vision sensory experience. However, as many as 8% of men and 0.5% of women suffer from some kind of color vision deficiency. Most prolific among these is redgreen, or deuteranope, making this palette particularly troublesome. (Even if the red/green palette *must* be used, there are techniques to make this color palette appropriate for circumventing color vision deficiency issues, such as using a blue-green rather than a pure green, which will help make the colors distinct enough that they can be recognized by someone with CVD.)

Take a look at Figure 6.15. The highlight table on the left will appear commonly red-green to someone without color deficiency, but to someone with deuteranope, the colors appear as the image on the right. As you can tell, the colors to someone with red-green color vision deficiency are much less distinguished, which reduces the potency of the visualization.

Original Image			Deuteranope Simulation				
Sub-Category	Consumer	Corporate	Home Office	Sub-Category	Consumer	Corporate	Name Office
Accessories	60,273	45.534	23,629	Aconsories	40,279		
Applances			25,875	Applances			
A1	83.544	14,278	96,602	A1	13,544	34278	
Briders E	41,273	18,582	18.645	Briders I	43203	38,582	13,645
Bookcases	79,322	54,577	26,105	Bookcases	79,202	M.027	8,03
Own	72,672	45.375	20,354	Own	72,672	45,310	
Capiera	324,258	61.622	90,790	Capiers	124,214		
Envelopes	35,340		4,664	Envelopes	16,003		
Festerers	5.785	3.736	2,005	Festerers	5.766		
Furnishings	26.570	10,005	7,102	Furnishings	26.570		
Libris	7.664		2.829	Libris	7.464		
Machines	26,877	15.504	14,981	Machines	26,3/7	15,954	
Paper	27,994	17.612	11,663	Paper	27,894	17.692	13,461
Phones	129.545	45,235	41,897	Prones	129.585	45,235	
Storage I	47.858	36.587	20,214	Storage	47.058	36,587	
Supples	1.630	1.40	4.465	Supples	1.00	140	1.45
Table 1	1470	10000		Teles I	100.000		400

Figure 6.15 A red-green image is virtually unreadable to someone with deuteranope color deficiency.

To provide an easy solution for navigating complexity of color vision deficiencies, Tableau has both an orange-blue diverging color palette (for quantitative values) and a color-blind palette (for categorical values); see Figure 6.16.

tip

To experiment with how your own visuals might appear to someone with various types of color vision deficiencies, visit http://www.vischeck.com. Orange-Blue Diverging (Color blind, quantitative)

Sub-Category Consumer Corporate Home Office Accessories 60,273 23,825 Appliances Art 14,278 40,223 18,582 13,645 Binders Bookcases 79,222 Chairs 72,672 45,370 Copiers 124,216 Envelopes 15,343 5,786 Fasteners Furnishings 26,570 7,664 Labels Machines 15,504 27,994 17,552 Paper 129,585 45,235 Phones 38,587 Storage 9,630 Supplies -9,833 Tables

Segment

Color Blind (Categorical)



Figure 6.16 An orange-blue color palette is best suited to mitigate any color deficiency issues.

USING TITLES AS COLOR LEGENDS

Chart titles and subtitles provide an interesting opportunity to embed a color legend. Consider the



titles and descriptions provide an interesting opportunity to embed color legends.

LINES

Lines facilitate several purposes in data visualization. They act as guides, they reinforce patterns, they provide direction, and they create shapes. Like any visual element, too many lines—or lines given too much emphasis—can cause distraction or confusion in data visualization. However, used wisely, they can be transformative. Like color, lines should be used sparingly to reduce the amount of ink onscreen so that the data can lead the story.

This section covers how to format lines within individual visualizations in Tableau and make effective use of them as view lines (axis lines, reference lines, and so on), borders, and shaded bands. It also looks at how lines can affect visualizations in the form of gridlines, axis rulers, and panes in Tableau.

To format lines in Tableau worksheets, select the Format menu, then the part of the view that you want to format (see Figure 6.18).



Figure 6.18 Access the line formatting options via the Format menu.

You can also right-click on your sheet and select Format (see Figure 6.19).



Figure 6.19 You can also granted right-click the worksheet and select the Format option to access the line formatting options.

Either of these methods opens the Format pane as a new tab in place of the Data pane with icons to help direct formatting of individual elements in the worksheet (see Figure 6.20).

Format Border	rs	×
A 🗏 🖏 🗄	B = F	ields 🗸
Sheet Roy	ws Colu	imns –
Default		
Cell:	None	\$
Pane:	None	\$
Header:	None	\$
Total		
Pane:	None	\$
Header:	None	\$
Grand Total		
Pane:		- 0
Header:		- \$
Row Divider		
Pane:	None	\$
Header:	None	٢
C	Clear	

Figure 6.20 Once activated, the Format Borders pane opens in place of the Data pane.

note

In this section, I create visualizations using a Tableau-

provided dataset of the most popular male and female baby names in each state for each year from 1910–2012. This data is collected from the Social Security Administration.

By default, most chart types in Tableau include gray axis lines, zero lines, drop lines, and borders. If added, reference lines that help you analyze statistical information in the data are also gray by default.

In general, a best practice is to remove as many of these as possible, keeping only what are necessary to guide audiences through the visualization or highlight important aspects of the data.

Let's walk through the steps of formatting lines together using a series of simple visualizations.

Formatting Grid Lines, Zero Lines, and Drop Lines

Grid lines, zero lines, and drop lines connect marks to the axis. You format them using the lines icon on the Format pane and you can adjust them by sheet, row, or column (see Figure 6.21).

Format Lines	×
A 🗏 🖏 🗄 🔳 Fields	•
Sheet Rows Columns]-
Lines	
Grid Lines: None	
Zero Lines:	
Trend Lines:	
Ref Lines:	
Drop Lines:	
Axis Rulers:	
Axis Ticks:	

Figure 6.21 Format grid lines, zero lines, and other reference lines using the Lines icon on the Format pane.

Figure 6.22 is the default view of a sorted bar chart reflecting the Top 10 Girls' Baby Names in the U.S. from 1910–2012. (Titles/subtitles have been formatted by double-clicking on the default title line.) We will use this visualization to experiment with formatting lines.
Top 10 Girl's Names

This chart displays the Top 10 Girl's Names in the US from 1910-2012.

*Data Source: Social Security Administration



Figure 6.22 A simple bar chart of top baby names, without line formatting.

To create this chart and follow along, follow these steps:

- **1.** Filter the data by Gender, selecting Female.
- **2.** Drag Occurrences (SUM) to Columns, and Top Name to Rows.
- **3.** Sort Top Name descending by Occurrence.
- **4.** Select all names after the first ten, right-click, and select Hide.
- **5.** You might also adjust the view to Entire View.

Selecting which lines to remove is a matter of judgment. Typically, I remove all grid lines. You can turn off zero lines, too, but whether or not you choose to remove this line should depend on how important being above or below zero is in your data.

In this example, I remove all grid lines, zero lines, reference, and drop lines. I also remove axis ticks and row axis rulers, but keep column axis rulers for reference and reformat them as dotted lines (see Figure 6.23).

Format Lines		× Format Lines		×	Format Lines		×
A 🗏 🖏 E	B Fields -	A ≡ 🖏 E	B E F	īelds ▼	A = \$ E	8 =	Fields •
Sheet Ro	ws Columns	- Sheet Ro	ws Colu	umns —	- Sheet Ro	ws Co	lumns
Lines		Lines			Lines		
Grid Lines:	None 🗘	Grid Lines:	None	0	Grid Lines:	None	٢
Zero Lines:	None 0	Zero Lines:	None	0	Zero Lines:	None	¢
Trend Lines:	None 🗘	Trend Lines:	None	0	Trend Lines:	None	٥
Ref Lines:	None 🗘	Ref Lines:	None	0	Ref Lines:	None	¢
Drop Lines:	None 🗘	Drop Lines:	None	٢	Drop Lines:	None	٢
Axis Rulers:	\$	Axis Rulers:	None	\$	Axis Rulers:		\$
Axis Ticks:	None 🗘	Axis Ticks:	None	\$	Axis Ticks:	None	٢

Figure 6.23 You can format lines at the sheet, row, and column levels.

The resulting visualization is much cleaner, with only one line at the bottom of the x-axis, as shown in Figure 6.24.

Top 10 Girl's Names

This chart displays the Top 10 Girl's Names in the US from 1910-2012.

*Data Source: Social Security Administration



Figure 6.24 A simple bar chart of top baby names, with line formatting.

Formatting Borders

Borders are the lines that surround visualizations, demarking the table, pane, cells, and headers. You can specify the border style, width, and color for the cell, pane, and header areas. You format these using the grid icon on the Format pane (see Figure 6.25).

Format Border	rs ×
A =≣ 🖏 E — Sheet Roy	B Fields -
Default	
Cell:	None 🗘
Pane:	None 🗘
Header:	None 🗘
Total	
Pane:	
Header:	
Grand Total	
Pane:	
Header:	
Row Divider	
Pane:	\$
Header:	
Louder	
(Clear

Figure 6.25 Format borders via the Grid icon in the Format pane.

Returning to the bar chart, I have added orange row dividers as borders to show how they appear when formatted (see Figure 6.26). Notice that because I changed the format of the axis line to a dotted line, it now appears as colored dots.



Figure 6.26 This figure shows an example of border formatting for row dividers.

Row and column dividers are most commonly used in nested tables, because they serve to visually break up a view and separate data fields, especially when several levels of data exist. Figure 6.27 is the default view of a nested table bar reflecting the Top 10 girls and boys baby names from 1910–2012. (Titles/subtitles have been formatted by double-clicking on the default title line.)

Top Baby Names 1910-2012

*Data Source: Social Security Administration

Gender	Top Name			
Female	Mary	2,510,913		
	Jennifer	811,054		
	Linda	465,969		
	Lisa	396,100		
	Ashley	287,670		
	Jessica	233,289		
	Emily	181,136		
	Susan	69,966		
	Barbara	62,384		
	Emma	55,096		
Male	Michael	2,274,105		
	James	1,566,897		
	Robert	1,213,750		
	John	756,249		
	David	291,260		
	Jacob	201,448		
	Christopher	192,699		
	William	111,884		
	Daniel	69,552		
	Jason	63,069		

Figure 6.27 A basic nested table, without additional formatting.

To create this table and follow along, follow these steps:

- **1.** Drag Gender and Top Name to Rows.
- **2.** Drag Occurrences (SUM) to the Text Marks card.
- **3.** Sort Top Name descending by Occurrence.
- **4.** Scroll through the table and select all names after the first ten for each gender, right-click, and select Hide.

Using the Format Borders function, you can modify the style, width, color, and level of the borders that divide each row or each column by using the row and column divider drop-down menus. The level refers to the header level you want to divide by; at the highest level, all fields are divided (as shown earlier in Figure 6.27, which at the highest level is divided by Top Name).

This many lines are unnecessary, even in a table. Thus, at the sheet level, I've reformatted the row dividers to a Level 2 heading so that I can differentiate between genders rather than separating each name. At the column level, I've also removed the column divider on the right to simplify the table's appearance (see Figure 6.28).

Format Borders ×	Format Borders
A ≡ 🗞 🖽 ≣ Fields -	A ≡ 🗞 🖽 ≡ Fields -
Sheet Rows Columns Cell: None	Cell: None
Pane: None	Pane: None
Header: None	Header: None
Total	Total
Pane:	Pane:
Header:	Header:
Grand Total	Grand Total
Pane:	Pane:
Header:	Header:
Row Divider	Column Divider
Pane: 🗘	Pane: None
Header: 🔶	Header: None
Level:	Level:
Column Divider	
Clear	Clear

Figure 6.28 Formatting lines at several levels requires individual attention to each.

The resulting table shown in <u>Figure 6.29</u> is a cleaner, easier-to-read table.

Top Baby Names 1910-2012

*Data Source: Social Security Administration

Gender	Top Name	
Female	Mary	2,510,913
	Jennifer	811,054
	Linda	465,969
	Lisa	396,100
	Ashley	287,670
	Jessica	233,289
	Emily	181,136
	Susan	69,966
	Barbara	62,384
	Emma	55,096
Male	Michael	2,274,105
	James	1,566,897
	Robert	1,213,750
	John	756,249
	David	291,260
	Jacob	201,448
	Christopher	192,699
	William	111,884
	Daniel	69,552
	Jason	63,069

Figure 6.29 A simple table, with some considerate line formatting.

FORMATTING, SHADING, AND BANDING

Finally, at the intersection of lines and color, you can use

shading to set a background color to the entire visualization or to various areas of importance, like headers, panes, or totals.

Commonly, shaded areas are a technique used for banding, where the background color alternates from row-to-row or column-to-column. This technique is useful for tables, as shown earlier in Figure 6.29, because it helps the eye distinguish rows or columns more intuitively than added superfluous lines. To format shading and banding you use the paint can icon on the Format pane (see Figure 6.30).

Format Shadin	ng ×
A 📲 🖏 E	🗄 🗮 🛛 Fields 🕶
Sheet Ro	ws Columns
Pane:	None 🗘
Header:	None 🗘
Total	
Pane:	None 🗘
Header:	None
Grand Total	
Pane:	None 🗘
Header:	None
Row Banding	
Pane:	
Header:	
Band Size:	
Level:	· 🖓
Column Bandi	ng
(Clear

Figure 6.30 Format shading via the paint can icon on the Format pane.

The nested table in Figure 6.29 has row banding by default. If desired, you could change this by sliding the band size to zero

(see Figure 6.31).

Format Shading ×	Pages		iii Columns					
A ∉ 🗣 ⊞ ≣ Fields -			⊞ Rows	Gender	Top Name 🛒			
Sheet Rows Columns -	Filters		Teo Del	Names 1010	2012			
Pane: None	Gender	Gender		Op Baby Names 1910-2012				
Header: None				* N				
			Female	Top Name Mary	2,510,913			
stal	Marks		- Contractor	Jennifer	811.054			
Pane: None	T Automatic 💌			Linda	465,969			
	•• 6			Lisa	396,100			
Header: None	Color Su	ne Text		Ashley	287,670			
				Jessica	233,289			
rand Total	000	2		Emily	181,136			
Pane: None	Detail Too	tip		Susan	69,966			
	T SUM(C	Occurenc		Barbara	62,384			
Header: None				Emma	55,096			
w Panding			Male	Michael	2,274,105			
w banding				James	1,566,897			
Pane:				Robert	1,213,750			
		/		John	756,249			
Header:	-			David	291,260			
Band Size:				Jacob	201,448			
1				Christopher	192,699			
Level				William	111,00%			
Column Banding				lacon	63,069			
				202011	05,005			
Clear								

Figure 6.31 You can adjust row banding manually on the Format pane.

Explore additional banding options by interacting with the various settings on the Format pane. As a guide, practice with the following:

- **Pane and header:** This affects the color of the bands.
- **Band size:** This affects the thickness of the bands.
- Level: As described earlier, if you have nested tables or multiple dimensions, this option allows you to add and format banding at specific levels.

REMOVING FIELD LABELS AND UNNECESSARY HEADERS

By default, when you create a visualization, Tableau provides both field labels and headers for each axis. Often, this is redundant, especially when you add a title to your chart. Removing unnecessary elements streamlines the visualization for your audience.

As an example, reconsider Figure 6.24. You can see the field labels for Top Name rows, as well as the axis header for Occurrences directly below the count. Does your audience need this duplicated information, or can we trust them to infer the fields without an additional header? If the latter is true, consider right-clicking the field label for Top Name and removing it. Next, to remove the axis header, right-click to Edit Axis and remove the title by erasing text in the field. The resulting visualization is much simpler (see Figure 6.32).





Figure 6.33 With some final polish and curation, this bar chart is data-rich and ink-minimal.

Figure 6.34 shows a before and after view of the original and finished versions of this chart



tip

Adding back a previously removed header can be a bit of a trick in Tableau. To unhide a header, go through Analysis > Table Layout. You can also unhide any header from the rows or columns by simply rightclicking on the pill. Use the header's check box to toggle the header's display on or off for each pill.

SHAPES

As a time-saving technique, shapes are one of the ways that our brains recognize patterns. We immediately group similar objects and separate them from those that look different. Some chart types, like packed bubble charts, use shapes (along with size and color) to encode meaning. Additionally, we can use shapes in interesting ways to personalize data stories in Tableau. The two ways to use shapes in Tableau are with the Shape Marks card and custom shapes.

Shape Marks Card

The Shape Marks card feature allows you to assign different shapes to data marks. Dropping a dimension on the Shape Marks card prompts Tableau to assign a unique shape to each member in the field, as well as display a shape legend (see Figure 6.35). Using the Size Marks card allows you to enlarge or reduce the size of each shapes mark.



Figure 6.35 The Size Marks card allows you to use shapes to encode categories, a helpful technique on a crowded scatter plot.

As displayed in Figure 6.35, default shapes in Tableau are unfilled symbols. This palette contains ten unique shapes. If your data has more than ten members, the shapes will repeat.

You can edit this default palette and assign a different palette from the library of shape options within Tableau. Choices include a variety of shape palettes, arrows, weather symbols, and KPI metrics. To edit the shapes palette assigned to your data, click the Shape Marks card and select Edit Shape. A dialog box, similar to the Color dialog box, appears that allows you to select a new palette as well as manually assign shapes to each data item (see Figure 6.36).

•••	Edit Shape [Category]
Select Data Item: Furniture Office Supplies Technology	Select Shape Palette: Default $ \bigcirc \square + \times \\ $
	Assign Palette Reload Shapes
Reset Apply	Cancel OK

Figure 6.36 The Edit Shape dialog box.

Custom Shapes

If none of the palettes in the Tableau library appeal to you or are suitable for your dataset, you can also add custom shapes into your Tableau environment for use in your workbooks. Custom shapes can add a nice design touch to your visualization, particularly when you are building a narrative or working to create engagement or visual appeal. This function requires accessing your Tableau Repository on your machine. To add custom shape palettes into the Tableau library, follow these steps:

- Create your image files. Each shape should be its own file, and most image formats (including .png, .gif, .jpg, .bmp, and .tiff) are acceptable. (Tableau does not support symbols in .emf format.)
- **2.** Copy the shape files to a new folder in the My Tableau Repository>Shapes folder on your computer. The name of the folder will be the name of the new palette in Tableau.

note

If you plan to use color to encode shapes, use a transparent background in your image file (PNG). Otherwise, the entire square of the symbol thumbnail will be colored, rather than just the symbol itself.

Figure 6.37 shows that I have added two new palettes, Harry Potter and Hogwarts House Crests, to my shapes library.

	🚞 My Tableau Rep	ository		
0		● ★ ? ?	Q Searc	h
Na	ame ^	Date Modified	Size	Kind
P	Extras	Mar 12, 2010, 8:00 PM		rolder
►	E Logs	Today, 6:11 PM		Folder
►	Mapsources	Mar 12, 2016, 8:06 PM		Folder
	3 Preferences.tps	Mar 12, 2016, 8:06 PM	50 bytes	Tableac
►	Services	May 31, 2017, 4:12 PM		Folder
v	Shapes	Oct 17, 2017, 12:08 PM		Folder
	Arrows	Oct 3, 2017, 2:06 PM		Folder
	Bars	Oct 3, 2017, 2:06 PM		Folder
	Bug Tracking	Oct 3, 2017, 2:06 PM		Folder
	Gender	Oct 3, 2017, 2:06 PM		Folder
	Harry Potter	Oct 4, 2017, 3:47 PM		Folder
	Hogwarts House Crests	Oct 17, 2017, 12:08 PM		Folder
	KPI	Oct 3, 2017, 2:06 PM		Folder
	Proportions	Oct 3, 2017, 2:06 PM		Folder
	Ratings	Oct 3, 2017, 2:06 PM		Folder
	Thin Arrows	Oct 3, 2017, 2:06 PM		Folder
	Weather	Oct 3, 2017, 2:06 PM		Folder
Þ	Styles	Mar 12, 2016, 8:06 PM		Folder

Figure 6.37 You can manually add shape palettes to Tableau's shape library by dropping them into the Shapes file of your Tableau Repository.

When you return to Tableau, you will see the new palettes included in the Shape Palette library in the Edit Shape dialog box. If you modified the shapes while Tableau was running, you might need to click Reload Shapes (see Figure 6.38).

You can assign these new shapes in the same manner as you do any shape palette within Tableau.

000	Edit Shape [Segment]
Select Data Item: Consumer Corporate	Select Shape Palette: + +<!--</th-->
Reset Apply	Cancel OK

Figure 6.38 Manually added shapes now appear in the Edit Shape dialog box.

tip

For tips on creating custom shapes best suited for use in Tableau, see the help article at https://www.tableau.com/drive/custom-shapes.

SUMMARY

This chapter looked at how to format important visual cues in data visualization that can enhance your data's story if used wisely. The next chapter covers preparing data for visual analysis and storytelling in Tableau. <u>Chapter 8</u> reviews how to use additional formatting options in Tableau to build visualizations, dashboards, and story points to present a complete and compelling visual data story.

CHAPTER 7

PREPARING DATA FOR STORYTELLING

This chapter covers the very beginning of the data storytelling process, providing the processing steps necessary to ready messy data for visual analysis and storytelling in Tableau. You will leverage the lessons learned thus far in the text as you work through preparing data for analysis, connecting to data, and beginning to visually explore it in Tableau. This chapter walks you through this process, from exporting raw data from survey platforms in order to discuss some important data preparation steps that matter in Tableau, through manually preparing it in Excel and using Tableau 10 and to get data just where it needs to begin building a compelling visual data story.

Knowing the basics of visual data storytelling from context, to charts, to curation, better prepares you to begin crafting a compelling data narrative to deliver to your intended audience and make an impact. However, before you can start working with real data in Tableau, you need to be sure it is in the right shape for analysis. Most, if not all, data needs a little bit of work before it's ready to become a story. We'll work through this process using messy survey data, a common experience for data storytellers.

note

Follow along with these steps by downloading the raw survey data exports from www.visualdatastorytelling.com.

BASIC DATA PREP IN TABLEAU: DATA INTERPRETER

Like its predecessor versions, Tableau 10.X includes built-in data prepping capabilities that help make reshaping data a smoother and less labor-intensive experience than doing it by hand (or using the no-longer-supported Tableau Excel add-in, which only worked for Windows-based licenses).

Before getting into a specific data prep exercise using survey data, let's review some of the basic data preparation tools included in Tableau with Data Interpreter. Chapter 3, "Getting Started with Tableau," covered this function superficially; however, this section takes a closer look at how it can be used with a real dataset.

This exercise uses a dataset titled "Significant Volcanic Eruptions." This sampled dataset is available from the Tableau website and contains a global listing of more than 600 volcanic eruptions from 4360 BC to the present via the Significant Volcanic Eruptions Database. Within this data, a significant eruption is classified as one that meets at least one of the following criteria: caused fatalities, caused moderate damage (approximately \$1 million or more), Volcanic Explosivity Index (VEI) of 6 or greater, generated a tsunami, or was associated with a significant earthquake.

note

While the Significant Volcanic Eruptions dataset is a relatively clean dataset, I have made some additions to it for the sake of exploring preparation tasks. You can download the modified version from visualdatastorytelling.com

note

Tableau has committed to more data prep in its product pipeline: plans for a new, upcoming native data prep tool—called Maestro—was introduced at TC16. As of this writing, Maestro is in beta testing. You should expect that the sections contained in this chapter may be significantly changed in later versions with the addition of Tableau Maestro.

Data Interpreter in Action

Although Tableau can easily connect to the sheet, you can see in the preview shown in Figure 7.1 that some issues exist. There are no column names, the headers from Excel have a lot of nulls, and so forth. Tableau has recognized these issues and suggests Data Interpreter to help prepare this data.

	⊖• vo	lerup (siş	gnificantv	olcanoeruptions)		0	Uve O Extract		Filters 0 Add
Connections Add									
significantivolcanoeruptions Lost	voleru	p							
Sheets p Use Data Interpreter Data Interpreter might be able to clean your Ducel workbook.	/	-							
								Nation Ballet	
To New Union		stieus Li	sta source oro	er •			snow anases snow	nioden heids 009	*P rows
10 Mar 4 Mar	e volenup Data	Alec voleno F2	Abs volenip F3	Abe volenup F4	Ale * volmp FS E	Abc voleno F6	Abe veleno F7	Abc volmp F8	e voleno F9
	null	Month	Day	Associated Tsunami?	Associated Earthqua	Name	Location	Country	null
	-4,360	null	null	null	null	Macauley Island	Kermadec Is	New Zealand	-30.200
	-4,350	null	null	null null	null	Macauley Island Kikai	Kermadec Is Ryukyu Is	New Zealand Japan	-30.200 30.780
	-4,350 -4,350 -4,050	null null null	null null null	null null null	null null null	Macauley Island Kikai Masaya	Kermadec is Ryukyu is Nicaragua	New Zealand Japan Nicaragua	-30.200 30.780 11.984
	-4,350 -4,350 -4,050 -4,000	null null null null	null null null null	null null null null	null null null null	Macauley Island Kikal Masaya Pago	Kermadec Is Ryukyu Is Nicaragua New Britain-SW Pac	New Zealand Japan Nicaragua Papua New Guinea	-30.200 30.780 11.984 -5.580
	-4,350 -4,350 -4,050 -4,000 -3,580	null null null null		nuñ nuñ nuñ nuñ	nul nul nul nul nul	Macauley Island Kikal Masaya Pago Taal	Kermadec Is Ryukyu Is Nicaragua New Britain-SW Pac Luzon-Philippines	New Zealand Japan Nicaragua Papua New Guinea Philippines	-30.200 30.780 11.984 -5.580 14.002
	-4,360 -4,350 -4,050 -4,000 -3,580 -3,550	lun lun lun lun lun	nuit nuit nuit nuit nuit nuit	null null null null null null	nuit nuit nuit nuit nuit nuit	Macauley Island Kikal Masaya Pago Taal Pinatubo	Karmadec Is Ryuliyu Is Nicaragua New Britain-SW Pac Luzon-Philippines Luzon-Philippines	New Zealand Japan Nicaragua Papua New Guinea Philippines Philippines	-30.200 30.780 11.984 -5.580 14.002 15.130
	4,350 4,350 4,050 4,000 3,580 -3,550 -2,040	Tun Tun Tun Tun Tun Tun Tun	nun nun nun nun nun nun nun	null null null null null null	null null null null null null null	Macauley Island Kikai Masaya Pago Taal Pinatubo Long Island	Karmadec Is Ryukyu Is Nicaragua New Britain-SW Pac Luzon-Philippines Luzon-Philippines New Guinea-NE of	New Zealand Japan Nicaragua Papua New Guinea Philippines Philippines Papua New Guinea	-30.200 30.780 11.984 -5.580 14.002 15.130 -5.358

Figure 7.1 Although Tableau can connect to this messy data, some cleanup is still needed.

To "turn on" Data Interpreter, you need simply to click the check box. Tableau will run the interpreter tool and update the contents of the preview pane accordingly (see Figure 7.2). You can see that those headers have been stripped out, and the columns are now properly identified.

 	⊖• vo	lerup (sig	nificantv	olcanoeruptions)		Con ⊙ t	nection Ave O Extract		Filters 0 Add
significantivolcanoeruptions Los	voleru	p							
Sheets p Cleaned with Data Interpreter <u>Bindow the results</u> . (To undo changes, clear the check box.)									
Metadata Volerup Metadata		ort fields Da	fa source ord	ler v			Show aliases 🗌 Show h	idden fields 658	+ roes
E0 when order	e vono Year	e votena Month	e vitino Day	Abe voting Associated Tsuna	Ate volume Associated Earthq	Abi voleno Name	Abe Voterco Location	Country	0 voterco Latitude
	-4,360	null	null	null	null	Macauley Island	Kermadec Is	New Zealand	.3
	-4,350	null	null	null	null	Kikai	Ryukyu Is	Japan	3
	-4,050	null	null	null	null	Masaya	Nicaragua	Nicaragua	1
	-4,000	. null	null	null	nult	Pago	New Britain-SW Pac	Papua New Guinea	4
	-3,580	null	null	null	null	Taal	Luzon-Philippines	Philippines	14
	-3,550	null	null	null	nult	Pinatubo	Luzon-Philippines	Philippines	15
	-2,040	null	null	null	null	Longisland	New Guinea-NE of	Papua New Guinea	
	-2,040	null Ilun	null null	null Null	null null	Black Peak	New Guinea-NE of Alaska Peninsula	Papua New Guinea United States	54

Figure 7.2 With one click, Data Interpreter has helped prepare data for analysis.

If you want to explore more specifics on what Data Interpreter did, you can click the Review the Results hyperlink. This opens an Excel file that describes the changes (see Figure 7.3).



Figure 7.3 Data Interpreter provides a "marked" Excel

worksheet that details the changes made in the data.

If you click through the sheets, you can see which fields are being used as headers, in orange, and which are considered data, in green (see Figure 7.4).

note

Data Interpreter is not available if the data contains more than 2000 columns or more than 3000 rows *and* 150 columns.

		0 0	FGH		1	KL	м	N	0 1	Q	8 5	TU	VW
12	Year Month	Day Associated Assoc	lated Name Location Country L	atitude Long	hude	Elevation Type	Status	Time	Volcano Ex; Agent	DEATHS	DEATHS_DI MISSING	MSSNG_CINURES	INURIES, COAMAGE,
13													
12	-4360		Macauley I Kermadec I New Cealar	-30.2 -3	nar	238 Caldera	Plotocene						
12	-4350		Kikal Ryukyu ta Japan	30.78 1	30.28	/1/ Caldera	PRINCIPAL	00			,		
12	-4050		Masaya Norragua Norragua	11.904 -0	6.361	635 Caldera	Hatorical	68					
10	-4000		Pago New Dritar Papua New	-9.56 3	30.34	742 Caldera	HISTOPHER	02					
14	-3580		Tax Loon-mit mappines	54,002 12	0.999	400 5010040	ca Preconcal	00					
	-3050		Phatuoo Lucon-Phat Phatppines	15.13 1	0.0	1486 501000	La Platonical	00					
1.5	-2040		Long Island New Guine Papua New	-0.358 1	0.11	1280 Complex	VE PERSONNAL	68					
100	-2900		Back Peak Austra Pers United Stat	98.53	134.8	2002 3090990	La Naciocarto	10.07					
144	-3890		Hudson, Crickles Chief	-45.9	11.31	1905 5010000	Ca Phytophical	00					
14	-2890		St. Helena US-Washing United Stat	10.2 1	14.38	2543 50 1000	La reaconical	-					
10	-1790		Versaminer Aussia Pers United Stat	36.17 1	10.34	2307 3999999	La materical	09					
-63	-2940		Anakolak Auska Pen United Stat	30.88 -1	144	1341 Caldera	Phytoprical	02					
-63	-2600	150 100	Sancorina Greece Greece	10.000	2.379	329 Shee vo	C Preconcel	002	• **				
- 22	-1000	194	Tauna New Taular New Taular	-10.48 -1	110	NO Cristers	Rediscarb	100					
10	-3080		Taupo New Joan New Jean		179	NO Caldera	Material	0.00					
-6	-1370		Pago New Dritar Papua New	9.36 2	30.32	144 Enders	Phytophical	02					
-53	-2000		Road Islam Karmadar I New Tealer	-10.17	17.63	Std States	on Historical	01					
-51	.197	701	Sastarial General Colors	MAN 1	4 144	110 Disidue	in Material	00					
- 51	-160	194	St Andrew Admiralty's Benue King		0.8	220 Complex	or biobarical	00					
5	-141		fina Bala Bala	12.734	5.004	1350 Stratevel	in Manual						
-53	-100		Church Alexities in Links from	5142 -1	44.13	1073 Shieldun	in Material	00		~	•		
-51	40		Annenie Normen Normena	12.342 .4	6.140	S18 Pendint	e Rafecath	0.07					
151		THI	Santorini Grance Grance	MAN 3	110	129 Shield up	in Historical	60					
2	50		Amborn Visuato D. Vatuatu	-16.25	68.12	1334 Pendant	is Historical	05					
- 51	60		Bone-Churn Alaska-F Linited Stat	61.38 -5	41.75	5005 Stratevol	ca Radiocarb	10.06					
-51	29	1 34	Vesselus Baly Baly	40.821	4436	1281 Complex	w Maharical	60	5.01	1500			
12	200	• •	Arboh Han Arabia 5 Yemen	15.63	44.08	\$100 Velania	for Historical	06					
-fil	230		Tauto New Jealar New Japan	-38.82	176	310 Caldera	Reforat	H 06	4				
16	240		Dudach Karschatka Bussia	51.8 1	\$7.53	1079 Stratevol	ca Historical	60					
155		-											

Figure 7.4 The data is color coded in the marked file.

Handling Nulls in Tableau

Before moving forward with this dataset, it is important to mention that the handling of nulls in Tableau is a dynamic and important step in the analysis process, because null values and how they are used or not used can have a significant effect on the quality of your analytical work and visual outputs. When a measure contains null values, they are usually plotted as zero. However, sometimes that changes the view and you would rather just suppress null values altogether. A variety of functions in Tableau work with null values:

- IFNULL functions: Perform a true/false test on whether the value in the tested field is null. The first value in the function is used if the value is not null, and the second is used if it is null.
- ISNULL functions: Tests whether an expression is null (TRUE) or not (FALSE).
- IIF functions: Creates a shorthand function for an IF-THEN-ELSE statement with the added benefit of defining a value if the test yields an unknown result.
- **ZN function:** A variation on the ISNULL and IFNULL function, ZN tests to see whether a function is null, and if it is, returns a value of zero.

Table 7.1 displays some of the different ways you can handle null values in Tableau. More training on handling nulls is available on the Tableau website.

Table 7.1 Key o	f Tableau	functions	for	handling	nulls
-----------------	-----------	-----------	-----	----------	-------

Function	Explanation	Formula
Numeric Values		
ISNULL	Tests the numerical columns, and then gives output as "True" or "False"	IF ISNULL ([Measure]) THEN 0 ELSE [Measure] END

IFNULL	Tests the data, and then if a value is null, it is replaced by the desired value (in this example by 0)	IFNULL ([Measure], 0)
ZN	Tests the data and replaces nulls with 0	ZN([Measure])
IIF	Tests the data, and if null is found, it is replaced by the desired value (0).	(IIF(IS NULL([Measure]), 0, [Measure]))
String Data		
ISNULL	Tests the data, and if nulls are found they are replaced by the desired string value.	IF ISNULL([Dimension]) THEN "This is desired string value" ELSE [Dimension]
IFNULL	Test the data, and if nulls are found they are replaced by the desired string value.	IFNULL([Dimension], "This record is null")
IIF	Tests the data, and if nulls are found they are replaced by the desired string value.	IIF(ISNULL([Dimension]), "This record is Null," [Dimension])

CLEANING MESSY SURVEY DATA IN EXCEL

Working with survey data is a common task in analytics, and it provides an opportunity to explore a more robust data preparation process as well as some additional data-shaping capabilities within Tableau to prepare data for analysis and visualization, like pivots and joins. This is because survey data is inherently messy and requires a bit more TLC than your average dataset, and this preparation extends beyond what Data Interpreter can handle on its own. Without some extensive cleanup, analyzing raw survey data exported from tools like SurveyMonkey or Qualtrics can be near impossible, both because of the usual formatting issues as well as the need to translate textual data to a format usable in analysis while preserving its metadata.

There are four elements of survey data you need to organize and fit together:

- Demographic information
- Responses in text form
- Responses in numeric form
- A "meta file" that acts as a legend to describe the survey

The goal is to combine all of these elements to see a comprehensive view of the data (see <u>Figure 7.5</u>). Another task is to reshape the data from "wide" to "tall" data, a concept explored further in a later section.

note

A word of caution is necessary here. There is truth to the old adage "garbage in, garbage out." Before you begin preparing your data for analysis, you should spend time reviewing your data, even in its messiest raw form and tidy up errors or issues you see before you take further steps. In particular, look over and confirm date and geographic data formats, remove duplicate records, and change or correct any identifiers to a format that you need (like capitalization). Fields that allow for manual text entry are especially prone to these latter issues that might require your attention before you begin working with your data. This is also a perfect time to assess the presence of nulls in your data, and determining when a field should be a null or a zero.

A	8	C	D	1	F	G	H	1	1	K	L	M	1	1 0		P
Responseld	Gender	Ape	Zipcode	QuestionID	TextValue	NumericValue	Wording	Question	Code							
R_OTm255Yc0fEwABH	Woman		38 91010	Q11_1	Non-Aggressive		On a scale of	15Lket	Extreme!	v Non-Agen	essive = 1	L Non-Ag	gressive =	2, Neither	Non-A	eeress
R_10Hs5N2H8WT029	Woman		31 1238	011_1	Aggressive		On a scale of	15 Likert	Extreme)	V Non-Agen	essive = 1	L Non-Ag	gressive =	2, Neither	Non-A	ceress
R_10uCOup/3x50TIM	Woman		41 2478	011_1	Aggressive		On a scale of	1 b Likert	Extreme)	V Non-Agen	essive = 1	L Non-Ar	gressive =	2, Neither	Non-A	eeress
R_1170yWGLUoSSQMM	Woman		11 Hong Kong	011_1	Aggressive		On a scale of	1 b Likert	Extreme)	V Non-Agen	essive = 1	L Non-Ad	gressive =	2, Neither	Non-A	EE/ess
R_124LeNMDuA0Vh20	Woman		26 4218	Q11_1	Neither Non-Aggressive Nor Aggressive	1	On a scale of	1 b Likert	Extreme)	V Non-Agen	essive = 1	L Non-As	gressive =	2, Neither	Non-A	eeress
R_12JRJ7AJ65REyro	Woman		33 623	011_1	Non-Aggressive	1	On a scale of	1 t-Likert	Extreme)	Non-Agen	essive = 1	, Non-Ag	gressive -	2, Neither	Non-A	ceress
R_12/h6uxNmER/SbG	Woman		23 45331	011_1	Aggressive		On a scale of	1 t Likert	Extreme)	V Non-Agen	essive = 1	, Non-Ag	gressive +	2, Neither	Non-A	coress
R 12Shw1knPpTLu2g	Woman		34 65809	011 1	Aggressive		On a scale of	1 b Likert	Extreme)	V Non-Agen	essive = 1	L Non-Ad	greisive =	2, Neither	Non-A	ceress
R 12m3uPd2226LQ/0	Woman		17 1920	011 1	Aggressive		On a scale of	15 Likert	Extreme)	V Non-Agen	essive = 1	L Non-Ad	gressive =	2, Neither	Non-A	eress
R 12nGucKwhb95XF8	Woman		35 Uk	011 1	Neither Non-Aggressive Nor Aggressive	1	On a scale of	1 % Likert	Extreme)	V Non-Agen	essive = 1	L Non-Ad	gressive =	2, Neither	Non-A	eeress
R 12v579Xw0nFw10	Woman		28 Dubai UAE	Q11 1	Neither Non-Aggressive Nor Aggressive	1	On a scale of	1 t Likert	Extreme)	Non-Agen	essive = 1	L Non-Ad	gressive =	2, Neither	Non-A	EE/ess
R 185/vdgE2Nvgx8I	Woman		12 92284	011 1	Neither Non-Aggressive Nor Aggressive	1	On a scale of	1 t Likert	Extreme)	V Non-Agen	essive = 1	, Non-As	gressive +	2, Neither	Non-A	eeress
R_SCRYEUWSIYKEU	Woman		24 98311	011_1	Neither Non-Aggressive Nor Aggressive	1	On a scale of	1 t Likert	Extreme)	Non-Agen	essive = 1	L Non-Ag	gressive =	2, Neither	Non-A	COT PESS
R_1D8DRy7M81CW5Yc	Woman		34 74063	Q11_1	Aggressive		On a scale of	1 t Likert	Extreme)	V Non-Agen	essive = 1	I, Non-Ag	gressive =	2, Neither	Non-A	coress
R_10TpCtST1ueelLa	Woman		24 49534	011_1	Aggressive		On a scale of	15 Likert	Extreme)	V Non-Agen	essive + 1	L Non-Ar	gressive +	2, Neither	Non-A	ceress
R 10TpX1kDotiAauK	Woman		33 34703	011 1	Aggressive		On a scale of	15 Likert	Extreme)	V Non-Agen	essive = 1	L Non-Ad	gressive =	2, Neither	Non-A	eeress
R 1EGINIVOUEL/2CI	Woman		35 24101	011 1	Non-Aggressive	1	On a scale of	1 t Likert	Extreme)	V Non-Agen	essive = 1	L Non-Ad	gressive =	2, Neither	Non-A	eeress
R 1FOE3:PSDA7hQc8	Woman		38 76710	Q11 1	Aggressive		On a scale of	1 t-Likert	Extreme)	Non-Agen	essive = 1	L Non-As	gressive =	2, Neither	Non-A	eeress
R_1Ffxnwsa3yegydo	Woman		22 78666	011_1	Aggressive		On a scale of	1 t Likert	Extreme)	V Non-Agen	essive = 1	L Non-Ag	gressive +	2, Neither	Non-A	eeress
R_16C7PQrtMXVUYSF	Woman		21 834009	Q11_1	Neither Non-Aggressive Nor Aggressive	1	On a scale of	1 t-Likert	Extreme)	V Non-Agen	essive = 1	L Non-Ag	gressive =	2, Neither	Non-A	COTESS
R_1GHINdQUIKBNOAKp	Woman		29 48185	Q11_1	Aggressive	1	On a scale of	1 t-Likert	Extreme)	V Non-Agen	essive = 1	I, Non-Ag	gressive =	2, Neither	Non-A	coress
R_1Gwst7yu0fQX5eU	Woman		33 19701	011_1	Neither Non-Aggressive Nor Aggressive	1	On a scale of	1 t Likert	Extreme)	V Non-Agen	essive + 1	L Non-Ad	gressive +	2, Neither	Non-A	eeress
R 1H8mUlss84A9Wa7	Woman		38 82070	011_1	Neither Non-Aggressive Nor Aggressive	1	On a scale of	15 Likert	Extreme)	V Non-Agen	essive = 1	L Non-Ad	gressive =	2, Neither	Non-A	eeress
R 1HM001/UUSVsK	Woman		46 45702	011 1	Aggressive		On a scale of	1 b Likert	Extreme)	V Non-Agen	essive = 1	L Non-Ad	gressive =	2, Neither	Non-A	EE'ess
R 100vFomOXLs6k	Woman		19 84005	Q11_1	Non-Aggressive	1	On a scale of	1 t Likert	Extreme)	Non-Agen	essive = 1	L Non-As	gressive =	2, Neither	Non-A	eeress
R 11LBQx9rOleIAZk	Woman		47 3020	011 1	Extremely Non-Aggressive	1	On a scale of	1 t Likert	Extreme)	Non-Agen	essive = 1	, Non-Ar	gressive -	2, Neither	Non-A	CO'ess
R 1IQU/SsbNzc3lg	Woman		35 47404	011 1	Aggressive		On a scale of	1 t Likert	Extreme!	V Non-Agen	essive = 1	L Non-Ag	gressive +	2, Neither	Non-A	coress
R_1Io1Lxfoo5u8Ly9	Man		22 7644	Q11_1	Aggressive		On a scale of	15Lket	Extreme)	V Non-Agen	essive = 1	L Non-Ag	gressive =	2, Neither	Non-A	ceress
R_1JDs/Yv6idSnOsN	Woman		13 2645	011_1	Neither Non-Aggressive Nor Aggressive	1	On a scale of	15 Likert	Extreme)	V Non-Agen	essive = 1	L Non-Ag	gressive =	2, Neither	Non-A	ceress
R_1/WHUUn2rm3vpv	Woman		35 95407	011_1	Aggressive		On a scale of	15 Likert	Extreme)	V Non-Agen	essive = 1	L Non-A	gressive =	2, Neither	Non-A	eress
R SLTIFAUvidro4hh	Man		15 1760	011 1	Aggressive		On a scale of	1 % Likert	Extreme)	V Non-Agen	essive = 1	L Non-A	gressive =	2, Neither	Non-A	EE'ess
R 11YaWomM202ar5a	Woman		27 64836	011 1	Non-Appreciate		On a scale of	1 t Likert	Extremel	V Non-Agen	estive = 1	I. Non-As	gressive -	2. Neither	Non-A	Peress

Figure 7.5 After preparing the survey data, it looks like this.

note

Some survey platforms, like Qualtrics, provide the option to export raw data in many formats (including SPSS) and avoid some of the steps taken in the following sections. However, the assumption for this example is that the data has messy CSV files. This allows explanation through the entire process with as much detail as possible. The first step in preparing data is to tackle some basic clean-up tasks. Let's walk through a real dataset. This dataset includes 341 responses to a survey on perceptions of violence and aggression in the *Harry Potter* series.

note

This data was collected for a presentation at the 6th Annual *Harry Potter* Conference hosted by Chestnut Hill College in Philadelphia. You can view the presentation or learn more at HarryPotterConference.com.

Figure 7.6 shows a file of raw data export from Qualtrics

1 A	8	c	0	(1	G	н	1	1	K	L	M	N	0	P	Q	R	5
StartDate	EndDute	Status	IPAddress	Progress	Ourstion (in	Finished	RecordedDa	Responseld	RecipientLas	Recipiend in	s RecipientEm	bitemaikeh	LocationLati	EcocationCon	Distribution	(UserCanguag	03	Q2
Start Date	End Date	Response Ty	P Address	Progress	Duration (in	Finished	Recorded De	Response IC	Recipient La	Recipient Fa	Recipient En	External Out	Location Lat	Location Lor	Distribution	User Langue	lama	How old an
(Importid':	('Importid':	("importid":	("importid":	("importid":	("imported":	("Imported":	(Importid':	("importid")	("importid":	("importid":	("importid":	("importid":	("importid":	(Importid':	(Importid)	("importid":	("importid"	("importid"
		IP Address	184.5.229.81	1 100	795	TRUE	-	R. 270 PVX	byV9dw				36.9497986	-81.128899	anonymous	EN	Woman	5
		IP Address	72.20.135.14	100	1116	TRUE		R. Dwdyth	disu2dh				29.7546039	-95.416	anonymous	EN	Man	3
		IP Address	45.3.85.131	100	489	TRUE	********	R, ANDMAN	vgTSwPs2				37.1790934	-80.351503	anonymous	EN	Woman	2
	*********	IP Address	162,234,139	100	1598	TRUE	********	R_1poleTA	WMKk22				39.6869049	-84.164303	anonymous	EN	Woman)
	********	IP Address	76.177.A7.44	100	1343	TRUE	********	R_20ypelid	NiChgog				38,2532043	-84.552399	anonymous	EN .	Woman	4
	********	IP Address	172.90.214.5	100	5427	TRUE	********	RINFWME	n2Wac5la				33.9163971	-118.4045	anonymous	EN	Woman	4
0		IP Address	69.136.85.33	\$ \$00	3634	TRUE	********	R.3mX(mt	NING P				39.9983978	-35.271202	anonymous	EN	Woman	3
2		IP Address	107.37.209.5	100	\$057	TRUE		R.25X1041	V01µ07V				41.8482971	47.651703	anonymous	EN	Woman	4
2		IP Address	174,199,203	100	858	TRUE	********	R. BATBAKH	NTH48D				41.9756012	-71.544899	anonymous	EN	Woman	2
3		IP Address	107.77.225.2	100	451	TRUE	********	R, SWOLMU	koPEGa7z				40.7357025	-74.172401	anonymous	EN .	Woman	4
4	*********	IP Address	64.147.48.80	100	868	TRUE	********	R_BollDOoV	VMCYR2H				44.3760986	-68.275703	anonymous	EN	Woman)
5		IP Address	24,27,2.199	\$00	505	TRUE		R_2ay00pt	legitaru				29.9893036	-97.857203	anonymous	EN	Woman	3
6		IP Address	40.136.63.14	100	821	TRUE	********	R_10(23w1	Njelahv				39.740097	-90.2388	anonymous	EN	Woman	5
7		IP Address	71.197.0.181	100	310	TRUE	********	R_2aalKQce	isjóitu				37,2669067	-80.432503	anonymous	EN	Woman	3
8		IP Address	67.161.139.2	100	522	TRUE	********	R_3HOg8u	WG562U8				40.0496063	-105.2765	anonymous	EN	Woman)
9	*********	IP Address	134.129.113	500	878	TRUE	********	R_3ec7680	USk1W09				46.8771973	-96.789803	anonymous	EN	Woman	3
0		IP Address	174.3058.54	100	3464	TRUE	********	R. JOENING	shY7eh2				43.7162933	-123.0374	anonymous	EN	Woman	3
1		IP Address	107.77.195.1	100	2223	TRUE		R. M. War	Cam/VCd				39.9611969	-82.998802	anonymous	EN		3
2		IP Address	192,104,181	100	963	TRUE	********	8,1/00/260	6550				40.6152039	-75.543703	anonymous	EN .	Woman	3
3	*********	IP Address	105.184.202	100	1781	TRUE	********	R_30jmYdh	700 s00 Si				-33.916702	18.4167023	anonymous	EN	Woman	1
4	********	IP Address	8.14.172.48	500	870	TRUE	********	R_270COv	NgGrmbis				40.5677948	-75.482803	anonymous	EN	Man	3
5		IP Address	507.77.234.3	100	670	TRUE		R_2UabH/2	622x2x5				40.7142944	-34.005997	anonymous	EN	Woman	3
6		IP Address	73.6.206.211	\$ \$00	702	TRUE		1,30(3)5	874640				29.8262024	-05.426399	anonymous	EN	Woman	3
2	*********	IP Address	184.99.149.3	1 100	1505	TRUE	********	R, 21Apf48	NOVESNO .				32.1784973	-110.7897	anonymous	EN	Woman	4
8	*********	IP Address	128.135.100	100	268	TRUE	********	R_ptmWSid	1Y24q8P5				41.7803955	-87.602099	anonymous	EN .	Woman)
9		IP Address	81.108.82.24	100	752	TRUE	********	R.300840	(kTFig4g				52.19999909	0.11669922	anonymous	EN	Woman	4
		IP Address	66.69.207.14	100	662	TRUE	********	R_318KW26	wyw126r				29.9893036	-97.857203	anonymous	EN	Woman	4
1		IP Address	73.66.141.20	100	551	TRUE		8,3994920	ddfyNkg				38.5456018	-121.3777	anonymous	EN	Woman	3
2		IP Address	104.38.146.6	100	2066	TRUE	********	8,2/NoM4	NVOAn				40.802002	-77.8564	anonymous	EN	Woman	4
3		IP Address	174,223,128	100	458	TRUE	********	R. 2×KvydC	6vgCi/Wb				32.4813995	-84.903297	anonymous	EN	Woman	3

Figure 7.6 This Excel worksheet contains a dump of exported data.

Step 1: Surface Cleaning

This initial data export contains all survey data, including responses as well as data provided by the survey platform. It also includes respondent survey responses in their original text form (Step 2 is when you code these numerically).

The immediate first action to take to get this data in a usable format is to do some basic tidying up. Start by removing unnecessary columns (such as columns A–H, which do not contain usable information) and data not relevant to the analysis (such as rows 2–3). This step is an opportunity to make sure your column headers are in the first row of your spreadsheet and that no wacky formatting exists that would cause issues when bringing your data into Tableau. You also need to clearly identify your demographic data fields and make sure those immediately follow the ResponseID fields.

note

This section covers many survey data cleanup tasks; however, these tasks might differ depending on the survey platform (Qualtrics, SurveyMonkey, and so on) you are using. The ResponseID field is a critical field, because you will use it as a join in later steps. Any demographic questions should be noted as such in the column headers for use as pivot fields later.

After removing extraneous information and cleaning up headers, leave the remaining data as is. This now becomes worksheet 1 in your Excel workbook: Text (see Figure 7.7).

1	A A	1 8	C	AD	AE	AU	AG	AH	AI	AJ	AX	AL	AM	AN	AO	A.P	AQ	AR
E	Responseld	Gender	Ape	Q11_1	Q11_2	Q11_3	Q11_4	Q11_5	Q11_6	Q11_7	Q11_8	Q11_9	Q11_10	Q11_11	Q11_12	Q11_13	Q11_15	Q11_16
2	R_27E/PVX0kyV9dw	Woman		51 Appressive	Extremely A	y Extremely A	y Extremely A	(Doremely)	y Neither Non	Appressive	Non-Appress	Appressive	Appressive	Appressive	Non-Aggress	Non-Aggres	s Non-Aggres	a Neither
3	R_1/wdlys2Qisu2dh	Man		33 Aggressive	Extremely A	Appressive	Appressive	Appressive	Neither Nor	Appressive	Extremely A	Appressive	Appressive	Appressive	Non-Appress	Extremely N	Appressive	Extreme
4	R_AhcPM3cyg75wPs2	Woman		25 Aggressive	Extremely A	Accressive	Appressive	Extremely A	Non-Appres	Aggressive	Appressive	Appressive	Extremely A	A Non-Appres	Non-Aggress	Extremely N	k Neither Not	· Appress
5	R_1poEcTA7u9AMXX22	Woman		39 Appressive	Extremely A	A Appressive	Extremely A	(Dtremely /	Non-Ageres	Aggressive	Appressive	Appressive	Appressive	Non-Aggres	s Neither Non	Neither Nor	Non-Aggres	a Aggress
6	R_203yptBdNLCoppe	Woman		41 Extremely A	Extremely A	4 Donemely A	A Appressive	Doremely /	Accressive	Aggressive	Neither Non	Non-Ageres	s Extremely J	A Neither Nor	Appressive	Extremely N	Appressive	Non-Ag
7	R_NFwMEm2WacStr	Woman		45 Neither No	Extremely A	U Extremely A	Active service	Extremely/	Whether Nor	Neither Non	Neither Non	Extremely A	Extremely A	A Appressive	Non-Aggress	Extremely N	k Extremely N	Neither
8	R_3m7CjmtausuGq/P	Woman		33 Aggressive	Extremely A	Appressive	Appressive	Extremely A	Accressive	Aggressive	Neither Non	Extremely A	Extremely A	A Non-Aggres	Non-Aggress	Extremely N	k Non-Aggres	s Neither
9	8_25X1/8-//90Tpf7V	Woman		42 Neither No	Extremely A	A Appressive	Appressive	Aggressive	Non-Aggress	s Neither Non	Neither Non	Appressive	Extremely A	A Non-Ageres	s Neither Non	Extremely N	ic Appressive	Appress
10	R_BATEAIGPHTEH4RD	Woman		27 Neither Nor	Extremely A	Appressive	Accressive	Direnely/	Wheither Nor	Non-Aggress	Non-Appress	Appressive	Extremely A	A Neither Nor	Non-Aggress	Non-Aggres	s Neither Nor	Non-Ag
11	R_3IwCLmUkxPEGa7z	Woman		41 Aggressive	Appressive	Appressive	Non-Aggress	Appressive	Extremely N	k Extremely N	Non-Aggress	Neither Nor	Appressive	Appressive		Extremely N	k Neither Nor	 Extreme
12	R_BOEDDOWNMCVR2H	Woman		35 Non-Agents	s Extremely A	A Appressive	Neither Non	- Extremely A	Non-Aggress	Non-Aggress	Neither Non	Extremely A	Appressive	Extremely N	Non-Aggress	Extremely N	k Neither Nor	Non-Age
13	R_2ayOORLepF2arv	Woman		35 Aggressive	Accressive	Extremely A	A Accressive	Ditremely/	y Neither Nor	Appressive	Neither Non	Non-Aggres	s Non-Aggres	is Non-Aggres	s Non-Aggress	Extremely N	k Doremely N	A Aceress
14	R_1623w15Njelzhv	Woman		53 Non-Agents	s Extremely A	Appressive	Neither Nor	Extremely /	Non-Appres	s Extremely N	Extremely N	Extremely A	Extremely A	A Appressive	Extremely N	Extremely N	k Appressive	Non-Age
15	R_2aaliQoetsj0itu	Woman		32 Aggressive	Appressive	Appressive	Appressive	Extremely A	Wheither Non	Neither Non	Neither Non	Neither Nor	Neither No	n Non-Aggres	Non-Aggress	Neither Nor	- Neither Non	- Neither
16	R_3HOgBLAKSSELB	Woman		30 Aggressive	Accressive	Non-Aggres	a Neither Nor	Doremely /	A Accressive	Neither Non	Neither Non	Doremely A	Appressive	Doremely N	Appressive	Appressive	Extremely N	A Appress
17	R_Bez7GBEXROWLv2U	Woman		30 Aggressive	Accressive	Appressive	Appressive	Extremely /	Accressive	Neither Non	Non-Aggress	Extremely A	Accressive	Non-Aggres	Appressive	Appressive	Extremely N	Neither
18	R_3oENUN2shY7ehZ	Woman		39 Appressive	Extremely A	Appressive	Appressive	Extremely A	Non-Aggress	Non-Aggress	Appressive	Extremely A	Extremely A	A Extremely A	Neither Non	Non-Aggres	6 Appressive	Aceress
19	R_33,v/vueCase/VCd			34 Aggressive	Extremely A	A Appressive	Neither Non	Doremely /	Non-Ageres	s Neither Non	Appressive	Extremely A	Appressive	Neither Nor	Non-Aggress	Appressive	Non-Aggres	a Appress
20	R_1/0KY26005/0J	Woman		30 Aggressive	Extremely A	y Extremely A	Accressive	Doremely/	Wheither Nor	Neither Non	Appressive	Extremely A	(Extremely A	A Appressive	Non-Aggress	Extremely N	Appressive	Neither
21	R_30jmYdh7x9s0x5i	Woman		38 Neither Nor	Extremely A	Appressive	Neither Nor	Extremely /	Whether Non	Non-Aggress	Neither Non	Appressive	Extremely A	A Appressive	Neither Non	Non-Aggres	s Neither Non	Non-Ag
22	R_27QCOxMHqGrint/Is	Man		34 Aggressive	Extremely A	y Neither Nor	n Non-Aggress	btremely A	y Neither Non	Non-Agenes	Neither Non	Appressive	Extremely A	A Appressive	Appressive	Neither Nor	- Extremely A	Neither
23	R_2U40FF2YG22a2x5	Woman		34 Aggressive	Extremely A	Appressive	Extremely A	(Doremely/	Accressive	Neither Non	Neither Non	Doremely A	(Extremely)	A Neither Nor	Neither Non	Neither Nor	- Appressive	Neither
24	R_BIQYCBIRLR7664D	Woman		32 Aggressive	Extremely A	Appressive	Neither Nor	Appressive	Appressive	Neither Non	Neither Non	Appressive	Appressive	Non-Aggres	Neither Non	Neither Nor	- Extremely N	k Neither
25	R_21ApF488gKMESNG	Woman		44 Appressive	Extremely A	Appressive	Neither Non	- Extremely A	Accressive	Neither Non	Neither Non	Extremely A	Extremely A	A Appressive	Neither Non	Neither Nor	- Appressive	Neither
26	R_pomWSid1Y24q8Pj	Woman		31 Aggressive	Extremely A	Appressive	Extremely A	(Doremely)	Non-Appres	Non-Aggress	Non-Aggress	Doremely A	Appressive	Appressive	Neither Non	Neither Nor	Aggressive	Non-Age
27	8,300340-01Tig4g	Woman		47 Neither Nor	Extremely A	Appressive	Appressive	Diremely/	Wheither Nor	Non-Aggress	Non-Aggress	Appressive	Extremely A	A Non-Aggres	s Extremely N	Extremely N	A Neither Nor	Non-Ag
28	R_3f8kW26evyw12Er	Woman		42 Aggressive	Extremely A	Appressive	Appressive	Extremely A	Whether Non	Neither Non	Appressive	Extremely A	Appressive	Appressive	Neither Non	Neither Nor	- Appressive	Neither
29	R_3PY492oh88RpNkg	Woman		34 Aggressive	Extremely A	A Appressive	1	Extremely A	Non-Aggress	she	Non-Aggress	Appressive	Appressive	-	Extremely N	Extremely N	k Neither Nor	Non-Ag
30	R_2/ITUM anROWH	Woman		43 Neither Nor	Extremely A	Appressive	Accressive	Doremely/	y Extremely N	Non-Aggress	Non-Aggress	Appressive	Extremely J	A Neither Nor	Non-Aggress	Extremely N	Appressive	Neither
31	R_2wKvydClingCkfWb	Woman		36 Neither Nor	Extremely A	Appressive	Appressive	Extremely /	Non-Appres	s Extremely N	Neither Non	Appressive	Appressive	Appressive	Extremely N	Non-Aggres	s Appressive	Extreme
32	R. SylffxTvn/SBW245	Woman		49 Appressive	Extremely A	A Appressive	Appressive	Extremely /	A Appressive	Appressive	Appressive	Neither Nor	Extremely A	A Approving	Non-Aggress	Non-Agents	a Extremely A	Non-Ag

Figure 7.7 After an initial scrub of the exported data, the survey data is already looking cleaner.

note

The last step in Excel will be to create a metafile that lists the question ID and its corresponding wording, as well as other helpful information, like how respondents were asked to answer question (that is, Likert, rank, yes/no/maybe). This provides a key to the survey that will support your analysis in Tableau. You should remove the question wording contained in row 2 here, but let's put this information aside for now and revisit in a later step.

Step 2: Creating a Numeric Copy

The next step is to create a copy of the Text worksheet with its numeric partner. To begin, copy and paste the entire Text worksheet into a new tab, and retitle the tab Numeric.

To encode text responses as numeric fields in Excel, you can use a simple find-and-replace operation. For example, in the survey, respondents were asked in Question 11 to rank each *Harry Potter* character on a scale of Extremely Non-Aggressive (1) to Extremely Aggressive (5). Using find and replace in Excel, you can replace the text answer in this field with its numerical equivalent (see Figure 7.8).

A .	1 CO 1 8 CO	- C	AL.	AM	AN	AO	AP.	AQ	AR	640	AT	AU.	AV	AW	AX	AY	A2
Responseld	Gender	Apr	Q11_9	Q11_10	Q11_11	011_12	011_13	Q11_15	Q11_16	Q11_17	Q11_18	Q11_19	Q11_22	011_23	Q11_27	Q11_29	Q12
A_27EPVX0x/V9dw	Woman		51 Appressive	Appressive	Appressive	Non-Azere	is Non-Agenty	is Non-Avere	ns Neither No	-	1 Neither No	n-Extremely	A Appressive	Appressive	Appressive	1	Maybe/Un
R_1jwdlyt2Qisu2dh	Man		33 Appressive	Appressive	Appressive								Neither Non	Neither Non	Appressive	Non-Aggress	Maybe/Un
R_AhcPM3cgTSwhi2	Woman		25 Appressive	Ditremely A	Non-Appre								N Appressive	Extremely Ap	Appressive	Non-Aggress	Yes
R_1p06cTA7a9MXX22	Woman		39 Appressive	Appressive	Non-Aggre	Find what					End	Mart	Whether Non	Appressive	Appressive	1	Yes
R_2/Syst8dNLCrgoo	Woman		41 Non-Aggres	s Doremely A	Neither No.							TAPAT	Appressive	Accressive	Appressive	1	Yes
R_rMvvMEm2WecStr	Woman		45 Extremely A	(Extremely A	(Appressive	Different	y Non-Appr	essive					Non-Aggress	Appressive	Appressive	Non-Appress	Yes
R_3m2QintavavGqP	Woman		33 Extremely A	(Extremely A	Non-Appre	Bushasa	-				C.C.	990	N Appressive	Appressive	Appressive	Neither Non	Yes
R_25Xfr8vF9OTpF7V	Woman		42 Appressive	Extremely A	Non-Appre	Hebrace I	101				-		N Appressive	Neither Non	Appressive	1	Yes
R_BATSHIEPHTIHARD	Woman		27 Appressive	Extremely A	Neither No	1					Rep	4000	Appressive	Appressive	Extremely Ap	Non-Aggress	Yes
R_3IwCLmUkxPEGa7z	Woman		41 Neither Nor	Appressive	Appressive								Appressive	Appressive	Appressive	1	Yes
R_BOEDGOVVEMCYR2H	Woman		35 Ditremely A	Appressive		Within:	Sheet	0	Match cas		Repla	ce All	Sq Neither Non	Neither Non	Non-Aggress	1	Maybe/Uni
R_2ayOOptiep/Zaru	Woman		35 Non-Aceres	s Non-Appres	Non-Appre				End antice	cells cells			N Accressive	Non-Appress	Extremely A	Non-Accress	Yes
R_16(23w15Njetzhv	Woman		53 Ditremely A	(Donemely A	Appressive	Search:	By Rows	0	. contraction				W Neither Non	Neither Non	Appressive	1	Yes
R_2aaiQsesjOtu	Woman		32 Neither Nor	Neither Nor	Non-Appre								N Appressive	Appressive	Appressive	Non-Appress	Yes
R_3PFOg8xAvGS6xLB	Woman		30 Extremely A	Appressive									Extremely Ap	Appressive	Non-Aggress	Non-Aggress	Yes
R_Bez768EXROWUv2U	Woman		30 Extremely A	Appressive	Non-Appre								N Appressive	Neither Non	Non-Appress	Neither Non	Yes
R_BoENUNZehY7ehZ	Woman		39 Extremely A	(bornely A	Extremely A	Weither No	n Non-Appre	IS ARRYSSIA	Appressive	Non-Agen	ess Neither No	S ADD BLOW	e Appressive	Extremely Ay	Appressive	1	Yes
R_33.viv.wCawfVCd			34 Extremely A	Appressive	Neither							Tel	A Appressive	Appressive	Appressive	1	Yes
R_1/IRX2doa55U	Woman		30 Extremely A	(borenely J	Appressi							747	A Appressive	Accressive	Extremely A	1 1	Yes
R_30;H1017075005i	Woman		38 Appressive	Dovenely A	Appressi		Excel I	has replac	ced 626 in	stances.		55%	e Appressive	Appressive	Appressive	Neither Non	Yes
R_27QCOxNHpGrHUs	Man		34 Aggressive	Donemely A	Appress							Tel	A Appressive	Accressive	Appressive	Neither Non	Yes
R_2UH01F2Y62242x5	Woman		34 Extremely A	(Doremely A	Neither							Tel	A Appressive	Accressive	Neither Non	Non-Aggress	No
R_31Qx388U87660	Woman		32 Aggressive	Appressive	Non-Ag							Tel	A Extremely A	Neither Non	Appressive	Non-Aggress	Maybe/Un
R 21ApF488ptMESNG	Woman		44 Extremely A	(Extremely A	Appress	-							A Appressive	Accressive	Appressive	Non-Aggress	Yes
R_ptmWSidSY24g8Pj	Woman		31 Extremely A	Appressive	Appress						OK	74	A Appressive	Appressive	Appressive	1	Yes
R 300540vExTField	Woman		47 Appressive	Extremely A	Non-Age							55/v	e Neither Non	Accessive	Approxim	1	Yes
8_3/8kW26evyw1207	Woman		42 Extremely A	Appressive	Appressive	INVERTEE NO	n Nether No	ALEMAN	Nether No	Nother N	on: Nether No	ninstreme/	A Appressive	Appressive	Extremely A	Non-Aggress	Yes
R_3PY492oh88Rphilip	Woman		34 Aggressive	Aggressive			1	1 Neither No	on Non-Aggres	15	1 Non-Aggres	a Aggressiv		Neither Non	Neither Non	Non-Aggress	Maybe/Un
R_2VIVON/anROWH	Woman		43 Aggressive	Doremely A	Neither Nor	Non-Agere	15	1 Aggressive	Neither No	Non-Acen	ess Non-Aggres	a Extremely	A Appressive	Accressive	Extremely A	1 1	Yes
R. 2xKndC6xgOfWb	Woman		36 Aggressive	Aggressive	Appressive		1 Non-Agerer	is Aggressive		Neither N	on Aggressive	Extremely	A Appressive	Appressive	Appressive	Non-Appress	Yes
R. SynthyTym/SBW241	Woman		49 Neither Nor	Extremely A	Appressive	Non-Aggre	is Non-Aggren	is Extremely	A Non-Agents	6	1 Appressive	Appressiv	e Accressive	Accressive	Extremely A	Non-Appress	Yes
R 10wst7w0R0K6rU	Woman	-	33 Appressive	Aggressive	Non-Agares	6	1	1 Appressive	Aggressive		1 Non-Aggree	Apprecially	e Neither Non	Accressive	Appressive	1	Yes

Figure 7.8 Use find and replace in Excel to swap text values for numeric.

Numerically coding demographic data fields is not necessary. As you complete this process, take care to be consistent in how you encode text as numeric responses. For example:

- No = 0
- Yes = 1
- Maybe = 2
- True = 1
- False = 0

In addition, survey questions that are "select all" or that otherwise group multiple responses (such as rankings) into one
field must be separated so that each option is contained in its own column. This makes the visualization process much more efficient in later steps.

You use the numeric codes, along with the question and wording data, to compile the metafile in the final step.

note

Later, you use this metafile to replace the headers of your Question ID field by blending the two in a sheet by right-clicking on the value label and selecting Make Primary Label.

After you complete this process, your Numeric worksheet table should look similar to the one shown in Figure 7.9.

A	1	6	0	(1	6		1	K	1	M	N	0	1 1	0	
Responseld	Gender	Apr	Zpcode	Q4 Q5	Q6	97	Q10_1	Q10_2	Q10_3	Q10_4	010_5	Q10_6	Q10_7	Q10_8	000_9	Q10_10
2 R_27EPVX0x/V9dw	Woman	55	22903	5	21		1	18	32	29	19	33	14	15	8	22
1 R_1/wdlyt2Qisu2dh	Man	33	77019		13	7	0	1	2	3	4	6	5	7	8	30
8 R, AhoPMBoygTSwPsZ	Woman	25	24060	\$	15	4	1	3	32	36	17	33	4	9	10	21
S R_1poEcTA7#9MMX22	Woman	30	45419	4	14	4	0	25	31	26	33	30	11	14	29	21
6 R_2f1ypt8dNLCrgoq	Woman	45	40324	1	21	21	0	1	2	4	5	3	15	13	24	29
7 R_NFWMEm2WacSla	Woman	45	90245	2	34	1	1	15	33	20	17	30	7	8	10	29
8 R.3m7C)mtausuGqP	Woman	33	19072	2	25	4	1	17	33	22	23	30	16	15	11	29
9 R_25X5/8vF9OTpf7V	Woman	42	47404	16	15	1	0	13	32	21	24	25	7	30	12	26
0 R. SATUNGPHTH4RD	Woman	27	5403	5		7	0	2	1	4	5	8	6	3	7	9
1 R. 3N/CL/HUROPEGa72	Woman	43	8836	3	13	22	0	18	21	20	9	36	5	6	7	30
2 R. INEDONVEMORIZH	Woman	35	4605	5	11	7	0	12	32	23	19	33	10	11	4	30
3 R_2ayOQdLepFZaru	Woman	35	78130	20	12	7	0	15	20	36	17	21	3	6	12	4
4 R_1dc23w15Njeluhv	Woman	53	62650	5	7	21	0	5	20	13	10	21	9	1	2	17
5 R. 244R0HetsjOty	Woman	32	24060	5	34	1	0	15	20	17	13	21	3	4	34	30
6 R. SPFOgReAvGSfeLB	Woman	30	80304	5	12	7	1	2	5	19	9	1	7		10	3
7 R. Sec7GBEXROWLyZU	Woman	30	58302	5	12	4	0	15	19	12	16	21	13	9	5	20
8 R. SUENINDAY7eh2	Woman	30	97330	5	21	4	0	6	20	9	12	21	3	5	7	29
b3V/ws3wv/v58_8_0.		34	45013	2	21	7	0	7	1	19	20	2	17	16	8	3
0 R_1rlKY2dco56U	Woman	30	18106	2	14	4	0	7	21	36	8	20	4	6	10	19
1 R_30(m)(d)/7054005i	Woman	34	2474	2	13	15	0	9	21	34	13	20	10	6	7	18
2 R. 270COxNHpGrHDs	Man	34	18306	2	13	7	0	6	1	12	34	2	15	20	16	8
3 R. 2UABFFZY622A2x5	Woman	34	2915	2	22	4	1	9	1	7	3	2	12	10	13	5
4 R_SKOrcSIRLR7x6qD	Woman	32	77018	2	21	7	0	20	21	17	3	19	54	7	9	12
S R 21Auf-488uKMESNG	Woman	44	85704	2	21	1	0	22	1		12	2	24	16	17	6
6 R. ptmWSvd3v24p8Pi	Woman	30	60615	16	21	4	1	8	20	6	11	18	2	3	4	19
7 R 300840v/kTField	Woman	47	1136	5	21	4	0	9	20	12	11	21	7	4	5	18
8 8. StlikW26eew126r	Woman	43	78630	2	21	4	1		21	34	12	30	3	2	9	29
9 8. 3PY4920A88RaNkg	Woman	34	95673	5	14	13	1	11	21	14	5	20	12	10	6	18
0 R 2rtYoManROWH	Woman	4)	16801	2	6	1	1	9	21	15	13	17	1	4	7	16
1 R 2wKvydClogCkfWb	Woman	34	31909	2	13	1	1		21	14	9	20	5	2	6	16
2 8 5400/0410000241	Woman	41	60613	2	22	1	1	30	21	4	11	29	5	6		2

Figure 7.9 After being fully coded, the numeric file should only include text answers in the demographic fields.

TEXT AND NUMERIC?

You might wonder why you want both text and

numeric responses. The answer is simple. Most surveys include questions that ask respondents to select a value for a question. Consider a Likert scale question, with a universe of possible values on a oneto-five (more common) or one-to-seven (less common) scale. For example, a common survey Likert scale question could be, "On a scale of 1–5, with 1 being "extremely dissatisfied" and 5 being "extremely satisfied," how would you rank your dining experience?" These numeric values could also be a range of "strongly agree to strongly disagree" or "extremely unimportant to extremely important." Without having both numeric and text results you will have to write a lot of IF/CASE statements and add unnecessary burden to the analytic process.

Step 3: Creating the Meta Helper File

The final step is to create a meta helper file that will help you understand the data and facilitate analysis in Tableau. Unfortunately, this file is not something that (most) survey tools provide, so its completion is a manual process. Use Figure 7.10 as a guide in building your meta helper file. You are looking for four key elements:

- QuestionID (Q1, Q2, Q3, and so on)
- Question Wording (The original question's text—what was asked.)
- Question Type (Rank, Likert, Select One, and so on)
- Coding (How the data was coded, i.e. 1=Strong Disagree,

2=Disagree, etc.)

10.5	A	8	c	
1	Question(D	Wording	Question Type	Code
2.4	24	In my opinion, is the most aggressive character in Harry Potter.	Select One	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=draco, 4=snape, 5=
3 4	26	In my opinion, is the least aggressive character in Harry Potter.	Select One	1+harry, 2+voldemort, 3+draco, 4+snape, 5+
4 4	8	In my opinion, is the most heroic character in Harry Potter.	Select One	2+harry, 2+voldemort, 3+draco, 4+snape, 5+
5.4	27	I believe magical creatures are equally as violent as human characters in Harry Potter.	True/Valse	True = 1, False = 0
6 4	200_1	Please rank the following characters in order from least aggressive to most aggressive Marry Potter	Rank	1+harry, 2+voldemort, 3+draco, 4+snape, 5+
7.4	200_2	Please rank the following characters in order from least aggressive to most aggressive Lord Voldemort (Tom Riddle)	Rank	1+harry, 2+voldemort, 3+draco, 4+snape, 5+
8 4	200_3	Please rank the following characters in order from least aggressive to most aggressive Draco Malfoy	Rank	1-harry, 2-voldemort, 3-draco, 4-snape, 5-
9 4	200_4	Please rank the following characters in order from least aggressive to most aggressive - Severus Snape	Rank	1+harry, 2+voldemort, 3+draco, 4+snape, 5+
10 4	200_5	Please rank the following characters in order from least aggressive to most aggressive Bellatrix Lestrange	Rank	1+harry, 2+voldemort, 3+draco, 4+snape, 5+
11 4	210_6	Please rank the following characters in order from least aggressive to most aggressive Ron Weasley	Rank	1-harry, 2-voldemort, 3-draco, 4-snape, 5-
12 4	250_7	Please rank the following characters in order from least aggressive to most aggressive Hermione Granger	Rank	1+harry, 2+voldemort, 3+draco, 4+snape, 5+
13 4	200_8	Please rank the following characters in order from least aggressive to most aggressive Albus Dumbledore	Rank	1-harry, 2-voldemort, 3-draco, 4-snape, 5-
14 4	200.9	Please rank the following characters in order from least aggressive to most aggressive Antonin Dolohov	Rank	1+harry, 2+voldemort, 3+draco, 4+snape, 5+
15 4	210_10	Please rank the following characters in order from least aggressive to most aggressive Barty Crouch Jr.	Rank	1+harry, 2+voldemort, 3+draco, 4+snape, 5+
16 4	200_11	Please rank the following characters in order from least aggressive to most aggressive Peter Pettigrew	Rank	1-harry, 2-voldemort, 3-draco, 4-snape, 5-
17 4	200_13	Please rank the following characters in order from least aggressive to most aggressive Arthur Weasley	Rank	1+harry, 2+voldemort, 3+draco, 4+snape, 5+
18 4	200_15	Please rank the following characters in order from least aggressive to most aggressive Quirinus Quirrell/Voldemort	Rank	1+harry, 2+voldemort, 3+draco, 4+snape, 5+
19 4	200_16	Please rank the following characters in order from least aggressive to most aggressive Minerva McGonagall	Rank	1+harry, 2+voldemort, 3+draco, 4+snape, 5+
20 4	200_17	Please rank the following characters in order from least aggressive to most aggressive Rubeus Hagrid	Rank	1+harry, 2+voldemort, 3+draco, 4+snape, 5+
21 4	210_18	Please rank the following characters in order from least aggressive to most aggressive Remus Lupin	Rank	1+harry, 2+voldemort, 3+draco, 4+snape, 5+
22 4	200_19	Please rank the following characters in order from least aggressive to most aggressive Dolores Umbridge	Rank	1+harry, 2+voldemort, 3+draco, 4+snape, 5+
23 4	200,22	Please rank the following characters in order from least aggressive to most aggressive Sirius Black	Rank	1-harry, 2-voldemort, 3-draco, 4-snape, 5-
24 4	250_28	Please rank the following characters in order from least aggressive to most aggressive Alastor Moody	Rank	1+harry, 2+voldemort, 3+draco, 4+snape, 5+
25 4	200_27	Please rank the following characters in order from least aggressive to most aggressive Lucius Malfoy	Rank	1+harry, 2+voldemort, 3+draco, 4+snape, 5+
26 4	200,29	Please rank the following characters in order from least aggressive to most aggressive Neville Longbottom	Rank	1-harry, 2-voldemort, 3-draco, 4-snape, 5-
27.4	111_1	On a scale of 1 to 5, with 1 extremely non-aggressive and 5 being extremely aggressive, please rate each of the following characters Harry Potter	Likert	Extremely Non-Aggressive = 1, Non-Aggressi
28 4	201_2	On a scale of 1 to 5, with 1 extremely non-aggressive and 5 being extremely aggressive, please rate each of the following characters Lord Voldemort (Tom Riddle)	Likert	Extremely Non-Aggressive = 1, Non-Aggressi
29 4	211_3	On a scale of 1 to 5, with 1 extremely non-aggressive and 5 being extremely aggressive, please rate each of the following characters Draco Malfoy	Likert	Extremely Non-Aggressive = 1, Non-Aggressi
30 4	211_4	On a scale of 1 to 5, with 1 extremely non-aggressive and 5 being extremely aggressive, please rate each of the following characters Sevenus Snape	Likert	Extremely Non-Aggressive = 1, Non-Aggressi
31 4	211_5	On a scale of 1 to 5, with 1 extremely non-aggressive and 5 being extremely aggressive, please rate each of the following characters Bellatrix Lestrange	Likert	Extremely Non-Aggressive = 1, Non-Aggressi
32 4	211_6	On a scale of 1 to 5, with 1 extremely non-aggressive and 5 being extremely aggressive, please rate each of the following characters Ron Weasley	Likert	Extremely Non-Aggressive = 1, Non-Aggressi

Figure 7.10 The metafile helps guide analysis by summarizing text and numerical worksheets.

note

Remember to code your Likert data in the same logical order as asked. The same applies to ranking questions— be sure to code them numerically in the order they were listed (that is, if you have a list of 25 items to rank, code them as 1–25 in order of their appearance on the list).

note

In the example, I have broken apart multi-select questions with an _ (underscore). However, this approach can introduce errors in Tableau because it might not recognize underscores. Another approach is to use a letter addendum; that is, Q10**a** instead.

After you begin working in Tableau, the metafile should be

your first sheet (see Figure 7.11). You can "visualize" the column in your metafile to provide a quick-glance legend to your survey data, prevent toggling back and forth between Tableau and Excel to double-check the questions you want to explore and how responses were recorded.

Sheet 1			
Question ID	Wording	Question Ty	Code
Q4	In my opini	Select One	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=draco, 4=snape, 5=bellatrix, 6=ron, 7=hermion
Q5	In my opini	Select One	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=draco, 4=snape, 5=bellatrix, 6=ron, 7=hermion
Q6	In my opini	Select One	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=draco, 4=snape, 5=bellatrix, 6=ron, 7=hermion
Q7	I believe ma	True/False	True = 1, False = 0
Q10_1	Please rank	Rank	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=draco, 4=snape, 5=bellatrix, 6=ron, 7=hermion.
Q10_2	Please rank	Rank	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=draco, 4=snape, 5=bellatrix, 6=ron, 7=hermion
Q10_3	Please rank	Rank	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=draco, 4=snape, 5=bellatrix, 6=ron, 7=hermion
Q10_4	Please rank	Rank	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=draco, 4=snape, 5=bellatrix, 6=ron, 7=hermion
Q10_5	Please rank	Rank	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=draco, 4=snape, 5=bellatrix, 6=ron, 7=hermion
Q10_6	Please rank	Rank	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=draco, 4=snape, 5=bellatrix, 6=ron, 7=hermion
Q10_7	Please rank	Rank	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=draco, 4=snape, 5=bellatrix, 6=ron, 7=hermion
Q10_8	Please rank	Rank	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=draco, 4=snape, 5=bellatrix, 6=ron, 7=hermion
Q10_9	Please rank	Rank	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=draco, 4=snape, 5=bellatrix, 6=ron, 7=hermion
Q10_10	Please rank	Rank	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=draco, 4=snape, 5=bellatrix, 6=ron, 7=hermion
Q10_11	Please rank	Rank	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=draco, 4=snape, 5=bellatrix, 6=ron, 7=hermion
Q10_13	Please rank	Rank	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=draco, 4=snape, 5=bellatrix, 6=ron, 7=hermion
Q10_15	Please rank	Rank	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=draco, 4=snape, 5=bellatrix, 6=ron, 7=hermion
Q10_16	Please rank	Rank	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=draco, 4=snape, 5=bellatrix, 6=ron, 7=hermion
Q10_17	Please rank	Rank	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=draco, 4=snape, 5=bellatrix, 6=ron, 7=hermion
Q10_18	Please rank	Rank	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=draco, 4=snape, 5=bellatrix, 6=ron, 7=hermion
Q10_19	Please rank	Rank	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=draco, 4=snape, 5=bellatrix, 6=ron, 7=hermion
Q10_22	Please rank	Rank	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=draco, 4=snape, 5=bellatrix, 6=ron, 7=hermion

Figure 7.11 The metafile provides a handy first sheet in Tableau to guide analysis.

PIVOTING DATA FROM WIDE TO TALL

A very common data prep task is to transform data from "wide"—meaning many, many columns—to "tall" (or "narrow")—meaning many, many rows. The difference lies in readability: Entering data into a spreadsheet in the wide form is generally easier, but computers prefer to read data in the tall form. In this regard, Tableau is similar. Reading "tall" data is preferable within the Tableau environment for use in visual analysis as well as building and sorting charts dynamically.

In plain terms, exported survey data is, by nature, very wide. Each respondent's answers to each question are captured in one row. However, you are analyzing questions and their answers, not respondents. So, you need the survey data to be tall—you need to see every question's answer from every respondent. Reshaping survey data to be tall enables you to look at each question, and distributes each respondent's answers to each question over many rows.

To analyze the survey data, you need to reshape it from "wide" to "tall" before you can look at it meaningfully within Tableau. For these next preparation tasks, you need to bring the data into Tableau and continue from there.

RESHAPING SURVEY DATA WITH TABLEAU 10

Among its many additions and improvements, Tableau v10 brought about the ability for analysts to prepare survey data without having to either use external tools or spend countless hours engaged in a manual cleaning process.

Keeping this process bundled within Tableau provides many

benefits:

- It lessens overhead costs to invest in additional tools.
- It reduces the need to learn multiple pieces of software.
- It enables you to join all three of the created data sources directly within Tableau.

That said, there are also some drawbacks:

- The process is clunky and not intuitive.
- Tableau exhibits some strange behavior that necessitates users to repeat some steps.
- Users might need to create and routinely extract data.

Utilizing the three Excel worksheets created earlier (Numeric, Text, Meta), let's continue this process in Tableau.

note

Tableau Zen Master and Iron Viz Champion Steve Wexler maintains an excellent blog on reshaping survey data for Tableau, including using Excel, Tableau v9 and v10, and Alteryx. His work includes many clearly delivered tutorials and presentations specifically on survey data and is an excellent resource. Visit Steve's blog at

http://www.datarevelations.com/surveyjustso.html.

Step 1: Creating Extracts

To create extracts, follow these steps:

- **1.** Open Tableau and connect to your Excel workbook created in the previous step.
- **2.** Drag the Text sheet into the "Drag Sheets Here" Connect to Data screen, as shown in Figure 7.12. (Ignore the Go To Worksheet prompt. It is not time yet.)
- **3.** To select out the demographic data, leave the demographic fields alone (in this example, keep ResponseID, Gender, Age, and Zipcode) and select the remainder of the columns relating to survey question data. To select a column, click its column header. To select multiple columns, you can:

			1	ableau - Book	1				
	⊖- Text (Clean	ed_SurveyD	ata)			Connection () Live ()	Extract	Filter	s Add
Connections Add									
Cleaned_SurveyOata Los	Text								
Sheets p Use Data Interpreter Data interpreter might be able to clean your Excel workbook.	/								
III MetaFie									-
Numeric	B Sort heids Da	ta source order	•			Show alla	ses [_] show hidden tield	8 341	+ row
To New Union	Ab: Test Response Id	Abc Test Gender	a Test Age	C Text Zipcode	Abc Test Q4	Abc Text Q5	Abc Text Q6	tir Test Q7	B Ted Q101
	R_27EIPVX0xyV9dw	Woman	51	22903	Bellatrix Lestrange	Neville Longbottom	Albus Dumbledore	True	
	R_1jwdJyt2QisuZdh	Man	33	77019	Albus Dumbledore	13	Hermione Granger	Falso	
	R_AhcPM3cygTSwPsZ	Woman	25	24060	Bellatrix Lestrange	Remus Lupin	Severus Snape	True	
	R_1poEcTA7#9MKk2Z	Woman	39	45419	Severus Snape	Rubeus Hagrid	Severus Snape	False	
	R_2f1yptBdNLCngoq	Woman	41	40324	Harry Potter	Neville Longbottom	Neville Longbottom	False	
	R_rkfurMEmZWacSiz	Woman	45	90245	Lord Voldemort (Tom	Rubeus Hagrid	Harry Potter	True	
	R_3m7GimtausuGqIP	Woman	33	19072	Lord Voldemort (Tom	25	Severus Snape	True	
IL Go to Worksheet	R_25Xfr8vF90Tpf7V	Woman	42	47404	Dolores Umbridge	Remus Lupin	Harry Potter	False	
O Data Source Street 1 🖓 🖽 0	4								



Hold the Shift key and click each individual column of interest, or

Hold the Shift key and use the scroll bar to scroll to click

the last column.

Right-click (or click the drop-down arrow) on any of the selected columns and click Pivot from the context menu (see Figure 7.13).



Figure 7.13 Select Pivot from the drop-down menu to pivot your fields.

Two new columns appear at the front of your data, named Pivot Field Names and Pivot Field Values (see <u>Figure</u> 7.14).

Abc	Abc
Pivot Field Names	Pivot Field Values
Q11 19	Aggressive
Q11 19	Aggressive
Q11 19	Extremely Aggressive
Q11 19	Aggressive
Q11 19	Extremely Aggressive
Q11 19	Extremely Aggressive
Q11 19	Extremely Aggressive
Q11 19	Extremely Aggressive

Figure 7.14 You have to rename these new fields.

5. Using the drop-down arrow on each column, rename them as follows:

Pivot Field Names to QuestionID

Pivot Field Values to Text

6. Create the first extract by choosing Extract as the Connection type (on the upper right of the screen). To save the extract, click the Sheet1 tab (see Figure 7.15).

Connections Add	U• Text (Cleaned_S	urveyData)				Connection Filters Image: Second state Filters Image: Second state Image: Second state Image: Second state Image: Second state
Cleaned_SurveyData Exist	Text						
Sheets ρ Use Data Interpreter Data Interpreter Data Interpreter might be able to clean your Excel workbook. Meta File Meta File Numeric	III II Sotte	ids Data sour	te order				Show aliases Show hidden fields 10,000 + rows
Text	AM Post Question/D	AM Post Text	Abe Text Response kd	ANN Text Gender	e Ted Age	O Text Zipcode	
	Q10 10	13	R_27EIPVX0ixyV9dw	Woman	51	22903	
	Q10 10	9	R_1)wdJyt2QisuZdh	Man	33	77019	
	Q10 10	11	R_AhcPM3cygTSwPsZ	Woman	25	24060	
	Q10.10	19	R_1poEcTA7#9MIG/22	Woman	39	45419	
	Q10 10	9	R_2f1ypt8dNLCngoq	Woman	41	40324	
	Q1010	31	R_rkFuvMEmZWacSiz	Woman	45	90245	
	Q10 10	24	R_3m7CjmtausuGqiP	Woman	33	19072	

Figure 7.15 Click Sheet1 to generate the Extract dialog.

note

For more on Tableau extracts, visit http://onlinehelp.tableau.com/current/pro/desktop/enus/extracting_data.html.

7. In the dialog box that appears, save your new extract as SurveyData_text. The file extension will be .tde. Be sure to note where you are saving your extract.

You need to repeat this step with the other two Excel sheets (Numeric and Meta); however, the steps are not quite identical.

- **8.** From the Tableau menu at the top of your screen, select Data>New Data Source. Again, navigate to your Excel workbook and click Open.
- **9.** This time, connect to the Numeric sheet by dragging it onto the Connection pane.

- **10.** Because you already selected out the demographic data, you don't need to do it again. However, you do need to leave a field for the join you will eventually do. In this example, ResponseID is the join field. Thus, you should:
 - a. Hide the additional demographic fields (in this example, this includes Gender, Age, and Zipcode) by selecting the unneeded demographic fields, right-clicking, and selecting Hide from the drop-down menu (see Figure 7.16).

Abc	Abc	#	٢	¥	#	#	#		#
Numeric Response Id	Numeric Gender	Numeric Age	Numeric Zipcode		Rename Copy Valu	es			Numeric Q7
R_27EiPVX0IxyV9dw	Woman	51	22903		Hide			в	1
R_1jwdJyt2QisuZdh	Man	33	77019		Create Ca	Iculated F	ield	7	0
R_AhcPM3cygTSwPsZ	Woman	25	24060		Pivot		Fields	4	1
R_1poEcTA7a9MKk2Z	Woman	39	45419	-	Merge Mis	matched	Fields	4	0
R_2f1yptBdNLCngoq	Woman	41	40324		1	21		21	0
R_rkFuvMEmZWacSlz	Woman	45	90245		2	14		1	1
R_3m7CjmtausuGqIP	Woman	33	19072		2	25		4	1
R_25Xfr8vF90Tpf7V	Woman	42	47404		16	15		1	0

Figure 7.16 Hide unnecessary demographic fields.

- **b.** Select the remaining columns, right-click, and select Pivot (for help, see steps 3 and 4).
- **11.** Two new columns appear—Pivot Field Names and Pivot Field Values— but because Tableau does not automatically rename these fields, you must rename them. Using the drop-down arrow on each column, rename them as follows:

Pivot Field Names to QuestionID

Pivot Field Values to Numeric

12. Repeat steps 6 and 7 to create your second extract. This time, name the field SurveyData_numeric.

You are ready to create the third and final extract with the metafile.

- **13.** Again, from the Tableau menu at the top of your screen, choose Data>New Data Source. Navigate to your Excel workbook and click Open.
- **14.** This time, drag the Meta sheet to the Connection pane.
- **15.** You do not need to pivot any fields within this sheet. You only need to create an extract. Repeat step 12, this last time naming the file SurveyData_meta.

Step 2: Joining Data Sources

At this point you have created three separate Tableau extracts, one for each of the three data sources. In the next step, you will use Tableau 10's ability to join files from different data sources to bring these extracts together and create an extract from the joined files.

1. From the New Data Source menu, click the More option under the To a File header (see Figure 7.17).



Figure 7.17 Select More to add a New Data Source.

- **2.** Navigate to where you saved your exports earlier, and select your Text file (SurveyData_text). Click Open.
- **3.** Add a connection, and select SurveyData_numeric following the same pathway described in step 1.
- 4. Tableau will automatically join these two data sources, but they are **not** joined correctly. By clicking the join icon, you will see that Tableau has created an inner join on the field Number of Records (see Figure 7.18). This is not the field you want to use to join these two data sources.

⊗ ← → 🗔 O	Add	⊖• Extract+ (M	Iultiple Connection	ns)		Connection ③ Live 〇	Extract	Filters 0 A	sd
SurveyOata_Text Toriesi-Ont-Entract SurveyOata_Numeric Toriesi-Data Entract		Extract		Direct1	~				
Table III Extract (Extract.Extract)	Q	Number of	Left Left of Records =	Right Number of Re	Fuil Outer				
		Sort Add new	join clause			Show all	ases 🗌 Show hidden fields	10,000	+ rows
		Educt3 Number of Records	Responseld (Extrac	QuestionID	Past Text	Abc Prot Pivot Field Names (Prot Pivot Field Values (e Ted Age	Alk Tel Gender
		1	R_0Tm255Yc0fEwA8H	Q10 1	7	Q10 1	12	34	4
		1	R_OTm255Yc0fEwA8H	Q10 10	6	Q10.1	12	34	
		1	R_0TmzSSYc0fEwA8H	Q10 11	30	Q101	12	34	
		1	R_0TmzSSYc0fEwABH	Q10.13	11	Q101	12	34	
		1	R_0TmzSSYc0fEwA8H	Q10.15	15	Q101	12	34	^
		1	R_0Tm255Yc0fEwA8H	Q1016	13	Q101	12	34	0
		1	R_OTm255Yc0fEwA8H	Q10.17	18	Q10 1	12	34	n

Figure 7.18 Bad join! You do not want to join on Number of Records. This is meaningless.

5. Click Number of Records on both sides of the join and change these fields to ResponseID (see Figure 7.19).

note

On the left join, this field will appear correctly as ResponseID. On the right join, this field will appear named ResponseID(Extract1). I have received reports from students that _ (underscore) titled fields are not recognized as expected when joining data in Tableau. This has been resolved by replacing underscores with hyphens (-) in field formats.

 ⊗ ← → □ ○ Connections Add 	⊖• Extract+ (1	Multiple Connection	ns)		Connection ③ Live	Extract	Filters 0 Ad	sd
SurveyCeta_Text Tomac Site Educt SurveyCeta_Numeric Tolline: Date Educt	Ditract	-OC Join) - Extract1					
Table Extract (Extract.Extract)	P Inv	r Left	Right Fr	A Outer				
	Sort Add new	v join clause			Show alk	ases 🗌 Show hidden fields	10,000	+ row
	Ecourt Number of Records	Responseld (Extrac_	QuestionID	Past Text	Ase Point Pivot Field Names (Post Pivot Field Values (e Set Age	Abc Set Gende
		R_3/LvhuwCaw/VCd	Q10 1	7	Q10.1	7	34	
		R_3.EvhuwCawiVCd	Q10 10	6	Q101	7	34	
	1	R_3.JuliumCawiVCd R_3.JuliumCawiVCd	Q10 10 Q10 11	6 10	Q101 Q101	7	34 34	,
	1	R_33/s/huwCawiVCd R_33/s/huwCawiVCd R_33/s/huwCawiVCd	Q10 10 Q10 11 Q10 13	6 10 11	Q101 Q101 Q101	7 7 7	34 34 34	,
	1	R_37,v/vuwCawriVCd R_37,v/vuwCawriVCd R_37,v/vuwCawriVCd R_37,v/vuwCawriVCd	Q10 10 Q10 11 Q10 13 Q10 15	6 10 11 15	Q30 1 Q30 1 Q30 1 Q30 3	7 7 7 7 7 7	34 34 34 34	
	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	R_33.5vhvwCaw1VC6 R_33.5vhvwCaw1VC6 R_33.5vhvwCaw1VC6 R_33.5vhvwCaw1VC6 R_33.5vhvwCaw1VC6	Q3030 Q3033 Q3033 Q3035 Q3036	6 10 11 15 13	0101 0201 0101 0201 0201	7 7 7 7 7	34 34 34 34 34	
	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	R_37.vhvmCamiVCd R_37.vhvmCamiVCd R_37.vhvmCamiVCd R_37.vhvmCamiVCd R_37.vhvmCamiVCd R_37.vhvmCamiVCd	Q30 10 Q30 11 Q30 13 Q30 15 Q30 16 Q30 17	6 10 11 15 13 18	Q101 Q101 Q101 Q101 Q101 Q101 Q101	7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	34 34 34 34 34 34	

Figure 7.19 Good join! Joining on ResponseID connects a meaningful field.

- **6.** You are not quite finished with the join. You also need to join the QuestionID field (see Figure 7.20):
 - **a.** From the left data source, select QuestionID.
 - b. From the right data source, select Pivot Field Names(Extract 1). (Although you previously renamed this column in your pivoting work, Tableau can only track the alias names for fields in the first .tde file, and reverts to the original field name in additional extract files. This will not affect your visualizations or analysis later.)





- 7. Click Add, then More, and select your metafile— SurveyData_meta.
- **8.** Click on the new join and remove any fields that may be automatically joined.
- **9.** Before joining the correct fields, you need to make one small adjustment in the field names. A current Tableau issue prevents using two instances of the same field name from the same table in multiple joins. To work around this issue, before editing any of the new join information, rename the field in question in the Data pane at the bottom of the screen so that the common field has a different name in each table. You can then complete the join (see Figure 7.21):
 - **a.** On the columns associated with the Meta sheet, rename QuestionID to QuestionIDNEW.
 - **b.** From the left data source, select QuestionID.
 - c. From the right data source, select QuestionIDNEW.

∞ ← → L O		⊖ Extract+ (M	ultiple Connection	s)		Connecti	on O Extr	act	Filte	Add
Connections	Add					000	Joi	h		
SurveyCeta_Text Totrav Data Extract SurveyCeta Numeric		Extract	TO	Detact1		() Irrer	0) Left	Right	Full Outer	
Tableau Deta Extract			100000			Data Source		brad	2	
SurveyCata_Meta Tableau Data Extract	*		L.O	Ddract2		QuestionID		QuestionIDA	EW	
Table	ø	🔠 🖩 Sort fields Da	ta source order				how aliases	Show hidden 1	felds 4,774	t + row
		Eriset2 Number of Records	Abc Mitta File Code	Aller Most File Question Type	Ater Nets File Question/DNEW	Abc Meta File Wording		Abc Prot QuestionID	Abe Point Text	
		1	Yes = 1, No = 0, Mayb	Yes/No/Maybe/Unsure	Q12	in general, e	do you fe	Q12	Yes	
			March Hard Hard							
		1	Yes = 1, No = 0, Mayo	Yes/No/Maybe/Unsure	Q13	in general, i	do you fe	Q13	Maybe/	Unsure
		1	1=Voldemort kills Ha	Select One	Q13 Q14	In general, in Which of th	do you fe e followin	Q13 Q14	Maybe/	Unsure Idemort kills
		1	res = 1, No = 0, Mayo 1=Voldemort kills Ha 1=The Dursleys impri	Select One Select One	Q13 Q14 Q15	In general, Which of th	do you fe e followin e followin	Q13 Q14 Q15	Maybe/ Lord Vol	Unsure Idemort kills sleys impris
		1	ves = 1, No = 0, Mayo 1=Voldemort kills Ha 1=The Dursleys impri 1=Dementors, 2=buc	res/No/Maybe/Unsure Select One Select One Select One	Q13 Q14 Q15 Q16	In general, Which of the Which of the Which of the Which of the	do you fe e followin e followin e followin	Q13 Q14 Q15 Q16	Maybe/ Lord Vol The Dur Harry's	Unsure Idemort kills sleys impris encounter w
		1	Yes = 1, No = 0, Mayo 1*Voldemort kills Ha 1*The Dursleys impri 1*Dementors, 2+buc 1*quiddtch, 2*triwi	Nes/Ng/Maybe/Unsure Select One Select One Select One Select One	Q13 Q14 Q15 Q16 Q17	In general, Which of th Which of th Which of th Which of th	do you fe e followin e followin e followin e followin	Q13 Q14 Q15 Q16 Q17	Maybe/ Lord Voi The Dun Harry's The Gra	Unsure Idemort kills sleys impris encounter w veyard scen
		1	Yes = 2, Yo = 0, Mayo 1+Voldemort kills Ha 1+The Dursleys impri 1+Dementors, 2+buc 1+quidditch, 2+triwi 1+umbridge, 2+bella	Select One Select One Select One Select One Select One Select One	Q13 Q14 Q15 Q16 Q17 Q18	In general, i Which of th Which of th Which of th Which of th Which of th	se you fe e followin e followin e followin e followin e followin	Q13 Q14 Q15 Q16 Q17 Q18	Maybe/ Lord Vol The Dun Harry's The Gra Bellatrio	Unsure idemort kills sleys impris encounter w veyard scen x kills Sirius

Figure 7.21 This last join takes a few extra steps to get right.

note

This behavior is related to Tableau known issue ID 651428, which is currently under investigation. After it has been resolved, you should simply be able to join using the QuestionID fields on both left and right.

10. The multiple connection join creates some superfluous fields in the data preview that you need to hide and/or rename:

Hide both Number of Records fields.

Hide the field ResponseID (Extract1).

Hide QuestionIDNEW (or the second QuestionID field).

Hide Pivot Field Names (Extract1).

Rename Pivot Field Values to Value (or Numeric Value).

11. You need to create one more extract. Change the

Connection type in the upper right to Extract and click Sheet1 to generate the Extract dialog box.

- **12.** Name this sheet SurveyData_joined.
- **13.** You are almost ready to visually explore your data, but there is one more step to streamline how your field names are grouped. After creating the extract, Tableau automatically groups field names by data source. I find this confusing. Click the drop-down arrow on the Data pane and select Group by Folder to reorganize your field names in a more intuitive manner (see Figure 7.22).

Data Analytics	•	Data	Analytic	s	\$
Extract+ (Multiple Conne	2	Extra	ct+ (Multipl	e Conne	
Dimensions Ⅲ ♪ Meta File Abc Code Abc Question Type Abc Wording Pivot Abc QuestionID Abc Text Abc Gender Abc Response Id ⊕ Zipcode Abc Measure Names	~	Dimension Abc Cod Abc Gen Abc Que Abc Que Abc Res Abc Text Abc Wor @ Zipo Abc Mea	e der stion Type stionID ponse Id ding code asure Names	⊞ A	•
Measures		Measure	5		
/ III MIVOT		# Age			
Text		# Valu	tude (gener	ated)	
# Age			aitude (genera	erated)	
Latitude (generated)		=# Nun	nher of Reco	ords	
Longitude (generated)		# Mea	sure Values		
# Number of Records					
# Measure Values					

Figure 7.22 Sorting the Data pane by group: before and after.

RESHAPING SURVEY DATA WITH ALTERYX

While Tableau's native functionality will work just fine with shorter surveys or with surveys where either labels or numeric values will work, Alteryx is a great fit for more complex surveys that have a good bit of data and where both text and numeric values are critical. A self-service data analytics platform, Alteryx was ranked as a Challenger in Gartner's 2017 Magic Quadrant for Data Science Platforms. The tool allows analysts to connect to and cleanse data from data warehouses, cloud-based applications, spreadsheets, and other sources; prep, blend; and then prep, blend, and analyze data in a repeatable workflow. For more on Alteryx, visit www.alteryx.com.

One of the reasons I enjoy working with Alteryx is its visual, drag-and-drop workflow canvas. It may look a little complicated at first glance, but it works similar to flowcharting and decision tree-type tools (for example, Microsoft Visio): Actions are color coded and connect to each other by joining logic.

Although this text doesn't cover the Alteryx workflow, Figure 7.23 provides a quick glance at the Alteryx workflow needed to finish the preparation of this data for analysis in Tableau. Notice that this workflow makes use of the three worksheets you created earlier.



SUMMARY

At this point, you're ready to take your data into Tableau and begin visually exploring and building your data story. You'll continue working with the reshaped Harry Potter data set in Chapter 8.

CHAPTER 8

STORYBOARDING FRAME BY FRAME

This chapter picks up where the previous chapter left off by looking deeper at the process of constructing a data narrative by visually exploring data, building purposeful visualizations, and organizing them to tell a story. This chapter covers how to build a sequence of data visualizations, reviews how to build dashboards and organize them as well as individual visualizations in story points, and discusses how to make use of some of Tableau's storytelling features. In an August 2017 episode of "The Nerdist" podcast, celebrated American astrophysicist—and phenomenal data storyteller—Neil DeGrasse Tyson, spoke of the importance of learning how to process and understand today's waterhose of information, commenting, "[we need to understand] how to turn data into information, information into knowledge, and knowledge into wisdom." In my opinion, this is exactly what we are doing when we build visual data stories.

This chapter explores storytelling as a process, considering mechanisms available in Tableau for building and delivering your complete story and the steps you should take to build the appropriate framework for your narrative. You will apply what you've learned in subsequent chapters to building a story frame by frame, from curating visuals to storyboarding the visual narrative, and completing a compelling, presentationready story to deliver to your audience based on a dataset explored throughout this book. Along the way is a review of some additional formatting capabilities that support visualizations as you complete that part of the storyboarding process.

note

You can build stories using Tableau sheets (individual visualizations), dashboards (multiple visualizations), or story points (multiple sheets and/or dashboards). Which mechanism you pick is up to you—and your audience, your display, your presentation style, and other context.

Overloading a dashboard is a real concern, particularly in non-narrated or guided presentations, as is trying to cram too much detail into a single visual or a story. In this chapter we approach storyboarding from the perspective of building a narrative, rather than formatting a delivery system. That said, the chapter does cover a few basic aspects of working with dashboards and stories that support your storytelling process.

UNDERSTANDING STORIES IN TABLEAU

Earlier chapters distilled the difference between exploratory and explanatory visualizations, and the obligation of visual data storytellers to focus on building and sharing explanatory visualizations that support the story. Like events in any narrative, visualizations should compound on each other and lead the audience through a series of events, insights, or other information that allows them to reach the goal you have decided on upfront.

Building stories in Tableau is comprised of three primary mechanisms; the following sections provide a quick review.

best practice

Although all three of these mechanisms can support great visual data stories, be strategic in how you use them. Be aware of the impact of sizing, layout, and positioning, and make sure the view you've curated on your screen is consistent with your audience's. The Device Preview functionality in Tableau supports this practice.

Individual Visualizations (Sheets)

Sometimes one visual is all you need, particularly if it is layered with rich tooltips or annotations. Or, you might want to export simple, static visuals for use in other presentation software. Within the Tableau environment, you can bring individual visualizations (as sheets) into dashboards or story points to build a storytelling framework. A sheet is the building block for any story as it is the place where visualizations are built (and where we've been working to build all our visualizations thus far in this book —revisit <u>Chapter 3</u>, "Getting Started with Tableau," for more detail on the Tableau UI).

note

Many analysts use PowerPoint to present visualizations, but this requires exporting static images of your visuals, instead of letting them stay within their native format and keep any interactive functionality. Instead of this approach, try Tableau Reader, which is a simple, free download that lets everyone appreciate Tableau views at their best, including the ability to "touch" your data as you present. Additionally, views can be shared to Tableau Public.

Dashboards

In Tableau, a dashboard is a collection of several worksheets shown in a single screen so that you can compare and monitor a variety of data visualizations simultaneously, and often with the ability to filter and highlight all visualizations with the use of a single dashboard action. Dashboards, like visualizations, can achieve many purposes, and can be designed to explain, explore, or tell stories. Storytelling dashboards, like ours, seek to weave together a series of visuals that show how something unfolds, and should be constructed aligned to narrative flow.

You can create a dashboard in Tableau by clicking the dashboard button (see Figure 8.1).



Figure 8.1 Dashboard button.

In terms of a delivery mechanism for visual analysis, similarly to visualizations you can create several types of dashboards explanatory, exploratory, and so on. Storytelling dashboards are not like other dashboard forms, in that they are primarily intended to *present* a story. Thus, compared to other forms of Tableau dashboards, storytelling dashboards tend to:

- Have more descriptive titles and lead-in paragraphs, often including legends (like color or size) within their design
- Have simplified and streamlined views of a fewer number of visualizations

- Include prominent legends, simplified color schemes, and limited views of data, including only that which supports the narrative (that is, filters or parameters)
- Be devoid of interactive elements that might affect the narrative, such as quick filters or other actions (this often depends on whether the presentation will be narrated or left to the audience)
- Include explanatory annotations to point out specific "story points" the narrator deems of interest to the audience

Figure 8.2 shows an example of a storytelling dashboard.

This dashboard leaves little guesswork up to the audience as it tells the story of survey demographics in a regional school cyberbullying survey by bringing in several visualizations that speak to the responder's age, gender, and other distinguishing characteristics. The dashboard features clear titles and image captions, consistent color schemes, and simple visuals with appropriate labels, annotations, and legends.

Sussex Co Regional Schools Survey Demographics Dashboard



Demographics By Grade

An approximately equal distribution of male and female students are reflected by grade, though participation by grade is not equivalent across schools. Students who chose not to self-identify are excluded.



Demographics by Ethnicity Approximately 80% of the student population surveyed identified as

White

Asian

White, which is reflective of the region's overall racial demographics.

A relatively equal distirbution of male and female students responded per school. A small portion (3.3% of total tudents) chose not to self-identify.

Demographics by Gender



Figure 8.2 Storytelling dashboard example using survey data.

THE DASHBOARD WORKSPACE Figure 8.3 presents an annotated view of the Tableau dashboard workspace.



Figure 8.3 An annotated view of the Tableau dashboard workspace.

Here is a breakdown of some of the functionality of the Tableau dashboard workspace:

- Device Preview: This option allows you to see your dashboard as it will appear on the form factor selected in Size.
- Size: This is an important aspect to think about *before* you start building a dashboard, and these options let you select from a pre-programmed list of fixed display sizes (that is, desktop browser, laptop browser, tablet) while the Canvas adjusts accordingly. An "Automatic" option allows the dashboard display to dynamically resize to any display it is presented on, but this has certain ramifications for things like floating legends, because these will move around as the screen resizes.

Sheets: This area provides you with a list of all sheets

in the workbook.

Objects: This area offers a list of additional elements, such as logos or images, that you may elect to add into your dashboard from outside of Tableau.

note

This section just provides a basic overview of dashboard functionality. You can find more information on creating a dashboard, including adding views, objects, and interactivity at http://onlinehelp.tableau.com/current/pro/desktop/enus/dashboards_create.html.

Story Points

Story Points was introduced in Tableau in version 8.2 as a way to "build a narrative from data." Story Points is similar to other presentation software in it provides a presenter with the ability to highlight certain insights or provide content, as well as break the story into pieces using visualizations (whether as worksheets or dashboards) in a series of clickthrough sequences for easy consumption. A story is a sheet, so the same methods you would apply to create, name, and manage visualizations in worksheets also apply to stories.

The benefit to using Tableau Story Points, rather than using PowerPoint or similar, is that with it, interactivity remains in the story. They are not static images: Presenters or audiences can explore or expand on the data using actions such as quick filters within the narrative. (Note: Currently these actions only affect the visual in the story point and do not filter across all visuals or dashboards in a story.) Additionally, Story Points updates live as the underlying visualizations or data updates, reducing the need for reworking or re-exporting worksheets.

You can create a story in Tableau by clicking the story button (see Figure 8.4).



Figure 8.4 Story button.

You present stories (in Tableau Desktop only) by clicking the Presentation Mode button (see Figure 8.5) on the toolbar.

	Standard	•	· 🕂	æ
--	----------	---	-----	---

Figure 8.5 Presentation Mode button.

Figure 8.6 shows an example of Tableau Story Points in action using presentation mode.



Understanding Cyberbullying Victimization and Behaviors

Figure 8.6 Story Points in presentation mode.

note

To find more information on creating a story, including layout options, formatting, and presentation go to https://onlinehelp.tableau.com/current/pro/desktop/enus/story_create.html.

THE STORY POINTS WORKSPACE

Figure 8.7 presents an annotated view of the Tableau Story Points workspace.



The Layout pane provides further options intended to help you format the style of navigation for the text boxes. Navigation can be formatted as Caption Boxes (default), Numbered, or Dots (see Figure 8.8).



Figure 8.8 Format navigation in the Layout pane within story points.

THE STORYTELLING CHECKLIST

Before building a story, make sure to complete the Storytelling Checklist and answer as many questions as possible before moving into the storyboarding process to make sure the story aligns to its goals. You can then start sketching out the story outline for guidance during development of the narrative.

• Who: The Data's Audience

- Who is your audience?
- What do they want?
- What do they need?
- How might they be feeling?
- What action do they need to take?

- What type of communication do they prefer?
- How well do they know the data?
- **You**
 - How well does the audience know you?
 - Does the audience trust you? Do they find you credible?
 - How well do you know the data?
 - Do you have any pre-conceived notions or bias about the data?

What: The Data's Context

- What is the data?
- What is it about?
- Is the data complete?
- Do you have enough data to tell a complete story?
- Is the subject matter general or specialized?
- Why: The goal
 - Why are you telling this story?
 - What action do you want the audience to take?

■ How: The Data's Presentation Mode

- Is this story static or interactive?
- Will you be narrating the story?
- Do you want to explore or expand the story while narrating?
- Will it be presented in a small group or a large setting?

THE STORYBOARDING PROCESS

Like all aspects of data visualization, crafting a perfect visual data story is a process of ongoing iteration and refinement. Luckily, crafting a data story is much like crafting any other narrative, and after taking the time to clean and explore your data, you can take advantage of a rather linear process to build a complete visual data story (see Figure 8.9).



Figure 8.9 This linear process can help you craft the best visual data narrative.

Planning Your Story's Purpose

Whichever mechanism you are using, as you begin planning your story, taking some time to reflect on the purpose of the story and the narrative you are attempting to share with your captivated audience is critical. Defining this purpose is the most important step of the planning stage in the storytelling.

Chapter 4, "Importance of Context in Storytelling," discussed the seven types of data stories. Pick one. **ONE**. Regardless of the type of story you are telling, your story should have one goal and one only. The clarity of your story is just as important as the clarity of each visualization within it. Audiences shouldn't have to guess to understand the salient point you are trying to make with your presentation.

In addition to the Storytelling Checklist, think like an author and consider the following:

- Plot: What story are you trying to tell? What is its purpose, and what is your goal or the action you want the audience to take when you roll the credits, figuratively speaking, at the end of your story?
- Characters: Think of your data as your main character, and its context as the story's setting. Your filters, parameters, limitations, even external data sources, are all supporting characters in your story, and each contributes to the overall narrative. It's your job to identify how.
- Audience: Consider each of the questions in the Storytelling Checklist. Like any good storyteller, you should know who is going to be listening to or reading your story.

Storyboarding Your Data Story

As you begin constructing your story, considering order and flow and how the pieces of your story fit together is important. You've already seen the importance of understanding the data's context and of audience analysis and how the story's purpose is supported by understanding its plot, characters, and audience. You've also reviewed several common types of data visualizations and how to curate them to make them more intuitive, focused, and compelling. Your story will, when complete, tie together all
of these into a cohesive whole.

It's important to note that stories may be comprised of various views of a single visualization, of a series of compounding similar visualizations, or of a series of unique visualizations that support different aspects of an analysis. There is no single correct way to build a story. The example in this chapter tells a story about survey data, and in doing so shows how to work through a series of unique visualizations that support the story structure and take advantage of several of the chart types explored in this book.

Although many different types of narrative structures exist to consider, the one I have found most effective for consistently telling compelling and meaningful visual data stories regardless of the type of story is the three-act structure.

Let's review how this structure functions:

- Act One—The Setup (or, the Exposition): This is where you, as the narrator, lay the groundwork for your story. It's where you explain the purpose, introduce the plot, establish the characters and their relationships, and finish with your dramatic question or inciting incident. This is the catalyst; it's the type of story you are telling. Are you going to explore a change over time? Zoom into detail on something that happened? This act ends with your hypothesis, or what question you are exploring or answering within your story.
- Act Two—The Rising Action: This is the meat of your story. It's where you combine plot, characters, and

audience as you guide them through the data. In a film or play, this act typically depicts a protagonist's attempt to resolve a problem or the escalation of an issue, and who experiences character development along the way. In a visual data narrative, this is your opportunity to perform a curated version of your own analysis, capitalizing on the insights you have found that support your narrative's purpose—and making your audience believe in your discoveries as they experience the story for themselves.

Act Three—The Climax: Finally, you've reached your grand reveal. Your audience has absorbed the plot point and is ready for their call to action via a final viz that ends the story.

note

You can use many techniques to build your storyboard. One of the most common—and the one I use in my classroom—is the sticky note approach. This process involves using color-coded sticky notes (that is, yellow for Act One, pink for Act Two, green for Act Three) and treating each sticky note as a view in your story. You can easily adjust and rearrange your storyboard based on audience feedback and as you fine-tune the visuals and supporting narrative.

BUILDING A STORY

Keep in mind that the process of building a story begins with thorough exploratory visual analysis to help you find the data's story, decide what's meaningful, and curate the best visuals to tell the story and deliver on your goal. After you've finished this process you can then structure these visuals into the right format for your presentation delivery.

Stories are magical, so it's only fitting to put this process into practice and get hands on with storytelling in Tableau by using the Harry Potter dataset referenced throughout this text as an example (particularly in <u>Chapter 7</u>, during the transformation of the raw dataset from a jumble of messy survey data into well-prepped data for visual analysis in Tableau). Not only is this data a perfect fit for the storytelling process, but it's fun data, too, and a solid example of how to move through the data visually to uncover its story.

In this section, we take a very limited view of this dataset to work on telling a short story about the data: who took the survey, and what their answers were to the most important survey question (who do readers perceive as the most and least aggressive characters in the *Harry Potter* series?).

note

This data story was presented at the 2017 6th Annual *Harry Potter* Conference at Chapel Hill University. Learn more about the conference, as well as view the full presentation, at www.harrypotterconference.com.

Making Meta Meaningful

Remember the Meta worksheet you manually created in Chapter 7 as you scrubbed survey data in Excel? Now is the

time to make it useful in Tableau. This sheet provides a key to the data within Tableau and eliminates the need to switch back and forth between Tableau and your data source by providing a data legend directly within the analysis environment. Regardless of the data you are working with, having a complete understanding of what data you have (and don't have), how it's structured, and how it's coded is critical.

Building a simple data table can help to visualize the helper Meta worksheet created in <u>Chapter 7</u>. To do this, drag the Dimension pills that represent your meta key—in this case, Question ID, Wording, Question Type, and Code—to Rows in Tableau to create a text table (see Figure 8.10).

E Rows	Question ID Wording	Question Type	Code
Survey [Data Key		
Question ID	Wording	Question Type	Code
Q4	In my opinion, is the most	select One	¹ 1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=
Q5	In my opinion, is the least	Select One	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=
Q6	In my opinion, is the most	Select One	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=
Q7	I believe magical creatures	True/False	True = 1, False = 0
Q10_1	Please rank the following	Rank	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=
Q10_2	Please rank the following	Rank	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=
Q10_3	Please rank the following	Rank	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=
Q10_4	Please rank the following	Rank	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=
Q10_5	Please rank the following	Rank	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=
Q10_6	Please rank the following	Rank	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=
Q10_7	Please rank the following	Rank	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=
Q10_8	Please rank the following	Rank	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=
Q10_9	Please rank the following	Rank	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=
Q10_10	Please rank the following	Rank	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=
Q10_11	Please rank the following	Rank	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=
Q10_13	Please rank the following	Rank	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=
Q10_15	Please rank the following	Rank	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=
Q10_16	Please rank the following	Rank	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=
Q10_17	Please rank the following	Rank	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=
Q10_18	Please rank the following	Rank	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=
Q10_19	Please rank the following	Rank	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=
Q10_22	Please rank the following	Rank	1=harry, 2=voldemort, 3=

Figure 8.10 The Meta sheet created in Excel provides a handy survey data key in Tableau.

Visualizing Survey Demographics

Before you can craft a meaningful story about survey data, you need to set the stage and build your story's setting by scripting in the people and places who will contribute to the events in later acts. In this use case using survey data, you should know exactly who your respondents were, as this could have relevant implications or offer valuable insight into your survey data as well as its story. This involves exploring and visualizing the demographic questions to get a good grasp of who is represented in the responders, and see what interesting things might rise to the top when looking at demographics.

Determining Who Took the Survey

The obvious first question that comes to mind in understanding how many survey responses you received is just that—how many? However, reshaping the survey data from wide to tall essentially created an entry for every question response per survey respondent, so a simple count or Number of Records function will not work here.

In the survey data, the Response ID field identifies each person who took the survey. You can use this field to produce a distinct Count() function to "count" the number of survey responders; however, notice that Response ID is currently a dimension in the Data pane. You need to convert it to a measure to do this calculation.

- **1.** Drag the Response ID dimension pill to the Columns shelf.
- **2.** Right-click the pill.
- **3.** Choose Measure>Count (Distinct) as shown in Figure 8.11.

note

Because this storytelling example uses survey data, it provides a nice headstart on Act One by looking rather literally—at "who" the story is about. Although this example is used for teaching purposes, in reality you might not have much demographic information, and therefore, there could be other ways to start out exploring the data—if it's not who provided the data, it could be who the data is about (customers, athletes, and non-persons like housing prices, and so on), or your initial thesis statement or research question that prompted the analysis.



Figure 8.11 We can convert the Response ID to a measure and use the Count() function to count survey responses.

You can now see that this survey has 341 responses (see Figure 8.12).



Figure 8.12 The first job in understanding survey data is to know how many responses were received.

From here, you can explore the other demographic fields by dragging and dropping fields to the canvas. This survey collected data on gender, age, and location, so let's take a look at these fields and get to know the responders a little better. Perhaps there will be something interesting to find.

Understanding Gender

By adding the field Gender to the Rows pane, you can quickly see that the vast majority of survey respondents were women (see Figure 8.13). This is, actually, not surprising. Many sources that have looked deeply into the demographic makeup of people who voluntarily complete online surveys (a challenging group of people to definitively diagnose due to a number of fluid factors) have discovered that most survey responders, in general, tend to be disproportionately women.

tip

Add a quick table calculation to change this view from a simple count of responders to a percent of total by right-clicking the Response ID pill, and then selecting Quick Table Calculation > Percent of Total.

note

In this dataset, one survey responder chose not to answer this question, resulting in a null response. For the sake of simplicity, you can filter out this null by clicking it and then excluding this response.



Figure 8.13 It may appear surprising that the survey respondents were more than 90% women, but given the context of both the survey and the subject matter (and as discussed later), that might not be as insightful as we would like to believe.

Understanding Age Let's remove Gender from the canvas and look at another demographic field—Age.

This survey asked respondents to enter their age numerically, which provides Age as individual values rather than categories. Thus, this data is organized as a Measure by Tableau.

A couple of different ways to look at this data (Figure 8.14) include the following:

- Convert Age to a dimension, and change the field type to String to view a count of responders per age.
- Convert Age to a dimension and see a sparkline of ages.





Although both of the approaches in Figure 8.14 would help you see a basic count of survey responders by their ages as well as identify any age-oriented clusters, averages, or so forth, looking by age (with a range from 11 to 65, in this case) is a bit overwhelming. Another potential way to look at this element of the demographic data in Tableau to identify more general trends is *groups*.

GROUPS

One potential way to look more productively at the

ages of survey respondents is to group individual ages together and take a generational approach.

Luckily, Tableau enables you to quickly group dimensions with just a few clicks.

note

You can create groups from a dimension in the Data pane. Whenever you create a group, a group field is added to the Data pane and designated with a paperclip icon. A default name is automatically constructed using the combined member names. You can rename the group by right-clicking it and clicking Rename at the bottom of the dialog box. If you create multiple groups from one dimension, you can rename each alias as appropriate.

Before moving on to grouping, let's clearly define what the generational "groups" will be. Because this data is relevant to a pop culture fandom that spans many generations, let's set our own generations rather than bucketing by the proper generational age ranges (GenX, millennials, and so on). It's hard to define an age range for the huge *Harry Potter* fandom, but we can make a general guess by keeping in mind that the first *Harry Potter* book—aimed to readers around age 11—hit U.S. bookshelves in 1998 (it released in the UK in 1997) and the final book arrived in 2007. Thus, those readers who first read and "grew up" with Harry (who turned 11 himself in the first book) would currently be around 32 years old. Therefore, we could loosely pinpoint the "prime" *Harry Potter* age to be

around 32—let's see how this looks in the data.

Here are the groups to create:

- Young Adult: 11–18
- Adult: 19–35
- Mature Adult: 36–54
- Senior: 55–65

To create a group, select all fields you want to group and click the paperclip icon on the toolbar (see Figure 8.15).





When you've finished creating the groups, you can further fine-tune your view of the age groups by:

• Editing each alias and renaming it to the generational

range (refer to Figure 8.15)

- Sorting how the Age groups appear on the canvas so that they are in the correct order
- Showing a Filter box to toggle between generations included in the view

When you've finished, your screen should appear similar to the one shown in Figure 8.16. You should now see a few things:

- A new dimension Age(Group) should appear on your list of Dimensions. It will include the paperclip icon.
- Your segmented group should appear named by alias, and in order, on your canvas.
- A filter box for Age should be visible.



Figure 8.16 Fine-tuning your new groups provides a clearer view of trends in the survey respondents' age demographic.

note

The *Harry Potter* prime age of 32 fell within the 55.59% majority of Adults. However, 35 was actually the most prolific age, at just over 6% of total

responders.

Repeat this exercise with any other demographic categories that interest you and continue to curate your visuals until you have a thorough understanding of how demographics—or other data fields—contribute to your story's setting.

Act One: Demographic Dashboard and Key Question

With the demographic data comprising Act One of the storyboard, let's build a quick dashboard to show this part of the story. I've used some of the methods described in this book to build a simple, storytelling dashboard to visualize this part of the story (see Figure 8.17).



Figure 8.17 This explanatory dashboard is the first part of the Harry Potter survey story, explaining the demographic characteristics of survey respondents.

Act Two: Questioning Character Aggression

Act Two digs into the heart of the survey by exploring respondents' answers to questions exploring perceptions of character aggression and who readers perceive as the most heroic and villainous characters in the series.

Using the methods described in this book, I've built a series of visualizations exploring responses to various questions asked within the survey. A few selected visualizations are shown in Figures 8.18 and 8.19. These are intended to highlight various "scenes" of key importance in the survey responses to build toward the reveal—in this case, the answer to our question—in Act Three.

The Nice Guy, the Villain, and the Hero

Nice Guy (Most Non-Aggressive) and Villain (Most Aggressive) characters were distinct. However, Hero is a little more ambiguous.



Characters who scored very lowly or not at all across all three categories were exluded.

Figure 8.18 This lollipop chart displays survey responses for Least Aggressive, Most Aggressive, and Most Heroic character.

Wizarding Heroes, According to Women

Women's view of herodom had many names in the goblet. Younger women saw Harry as the clear hero, but favor moved to Hermione before returning back to Harry. Senior women shared herodom between Harry and Snape, who increased in favor with age.



Figure 8.19 This bar chart looks at how women's perception of the most heroic character changes depending on respondent age.

Act Three: The Reveal

In this survey, the goal is to answer the question of which character is perceived as most heroic, and which is perceived as most villainous. The previous two "acts" set the stage for this ending by helping the audience get to know the responders and exploring how they look at this question through the lens of who they are, and what variables might affect their answers. Now, it is time to finish the story by answering the question.

The first step is to set up a final visualization to position the answer (see Figure 8.20) and then one to end the story (see

Figure 8.21).

Are Potterheads "okay" with the Level of Violence in Harly Potter?



Figure 8.20 These side-by-side donut charts, designed intentionally to look like Harry's glasses, give some context to the reveal and pique audience interest for a grand finale.



Figure 8.21 This modified Gantt chart, displaying Likert data (covered further in <u>Chapter 9</u>) provides a perfect ending to this story by thoroughly answering the question and providing a rich visual ending.

Figure 8.22 shows how the storyboard worked out using sheets and dashboards. These individual elements can be brought into story points to deliver a complete presentation.



Figure 8.22 The storyboard.

SUMMARY

This chapter reviewed mechanisms for building visual data stories, including understanding the narrative structure; visually exploring the data while building out story acts; and using sheets, dashboards, and story points to deliver a visual presentation. The next chapter provides a look at a few advanced visualizations to help visualize your story's data.

CHAPTER 9

ADVANCED STORYTELLING CHARTS

This penultimate chapter explores advanced strategies for visual data storytelling beyond the basic charts and graphs provided in Tableau's core functionality. You will learn how to create advanced charts that require additional formatting and calculations, including timelines, Likert scale charts, lollipop charts, and more. As discussed in <u>Chapter 5</u>, many fantastic data visualization options are available to create from the menu of charts presented in the Show Me card in Tableau. These require little manual formatting beyond tidying up visualizations and cover most of the common chart types used in traditional data visualization and basic visual storytelling.

This chapter goes beyond these basic options and takes a look at how to create several advanced charts step by step in Tableau. These advanced charts require the use of more calculated fields and formatting to build; however, they offer deeper, more dynamic views into data and can be beneficial in supporting more complex visual data stories. These charts include:

- Timelines
- Bar-in-bar charts
- Likert scale visualizations
- Lollipop charts
- Word clouds

TIMELINES

A timeline chart can be a useful way to depict when events occur over time, whether to analyze patterns in notable events, or to show dates of interest. Although a timeline isn't a graph that can be built out of the box in Tableau, creating one in a few simple steps is easy, and it is a useful visual that can support storytelling when discussing important events over time.

I keep a timeline graphic on my website to visually display upcoming conferences, speaking events, and client on-site visits to website visitors (in addition to a more detailed list), as shown in Figure 9.1.



Figure 9.1 A snapshot of a finished visual timeline.

To create this visualization requires, at minimum, a very simple dataset (see Figure 9.2). In this case I have connected to a small, simple Excel dataset that lists the date of the event, the type of event, its title, and its location.

Sheet1 Date	Abc Sheet1 Event Type	Abc Sheet1 Event Title	Abc Sheet1 Location
10/1/2017	Academic Conference	IEEE InfoVis	Phoenix, AZ
10/9/2017	Industry Conference	Tableau UC 2017	Las Vegas, NV
10/20/2017	Academic Conference	Harry Potter Confere	Philadelphia, PA
10/30/2017	Academic Conference	ASIS&T	Washington, DC
11/15/2017	Client On-Site	Private	Washington, DC

Figure 9.2 A simple timeline requires minimal data: the date of the event and the event itself. You can use additional detail to enhance the visualization.

Before beginning, in your Sheet make sure that your date is recognized by Tableau as a *continuous* date. If it is not, you can change it by right-clicking the field on the Dimensions pane, and selecting Convert to Continuous on the list of options (see Figure 9.3).



Figure 9.3 Adjust your date to continuous if it is not already. This allows you to view an event over a span of time, rather than in isolation.

The key to creating a timeline in Tableau is to create a

calculated field that will form the horizontal axis of the timeline and allow all of your dates to line up on a straight line. Think of this field as an anchor to hold your events to time.

note

Calculated Fields can be created easily in Tableau to extend your analysis by creating a new field (or column) that is not already contained in your data source. To create a new calculated field, in a Tableau worksheet select Analysis > Create Calculated Field. A dialog box will open, called the Calculation Editor, which prompts you to give the calculated field a name and provide a formula. Formulas can be created using a combination of functions, fields, and operators. Once created, the new Calculated Field will appear as a new Measure in the Data Pane, and be designated with an equal (=) sign that precedes the field name.

- **1.** Create the Anchor calculated field by following these steps: MIN(0).
- **2.** Drag the newly created Anchor calculated field to the Rows shelf to provide a starting point for your timeline. At this point your visualization is simply a horizontal axis line with a zero line (see Figure 9.4)

wws <u>AGG(Anchor)</u> eet 1
eet 1
0

Figure 9.4 The Anchor placeholder gives a straight axis to begin plotting your events.

3. Drag your Date field to the Columns shelf. Right-click the Date pill and select Exact Date. This prompts Tableau to recognize each of the exact dates listed in your dataset of events and lays the foundation of the timeline by displaying a flat, solid, colored line (see Figure 9.5). Because there is no additional data, this is correct.

iii Columns v	YEAR(Date)		
	Filter		
	Show Filter		
Sheet 2	Format ✓ Show Header ✓ Include in Tool		
	Show Missing V	alues (
	Year	2015	
	Quarter	Q2	
	Month	May	
	Day	8	
	More	►	
5	√ Year	2015	
ų 0	Quarter	Q2 2015	•
Ar	Month	May 2015	
	Week Number	Week 5, 2015	
	Day	May 8, 2015	
_	More	•	_
	Exact Date		
	Attribute Measure	Þ	1
	Discrete √ Continuous		



Figure 9.5 Adding the Date field to the Columns shelf provides the foundation of a timeline.

With the baseline set, you can now add dated events and begin formatting the timeline to look more traditional. To do this:

- 1. Drag the Date dimension from the Data pane again, this time dropping it on the Details Marks card. Initially, the timeline continues to appear flat. This is because Tableau automatically looks at the largest segment of the date, in this case, Year. You need to prompt Tableau to look at a more granular view of the date.
- 2. Click the + icon to expand the date to its lowest level, in this case, Day. Your timeline should now display each of the events in your dataset as individual dots (see Figure 9.6).

Data	Analytics +	Pages			III Colu	mns	Date									
(Sheet)	(calendarofevents)				I Row	5	NOOL	(nchor)								
Dimensions III P -		Filters			Shee	et 2										
AN Location	on wa Names	Marios														
		NN	ometic	٠												
		:: Color	6 Sa													
		oto Detail	Q Ixoto	~/ ħħ												
		÷.	AY(Date)		Anther			•				•				•
Measures -® Ancho -® Numb ® Measu	x er al Records ure Values															
						Sep 28	Oct 3	Oct 8	0ct 13	Oct 18	Oct 23 Date [2017]	Oct 28	Nov 2	Nov7	Nov 12	Nov 17

Figure 9.6 With event dates added to the baseline, the timeline begins to take form.

A bit of additional formatting can enable this timeline to tell a more detailed story about the events displayed. In Figure 9.7, I have used Event Category to color-code the events, as well as adjusted the shape and size of each event point and added a tooltip to provide more information. You can also adjust or delete zero lines, axis rules, and axis ticks as desired.





A few additional things you can do to spice up a timeline and make it more visually appealing include:

Add a timeframe. With a large number of events to display, adding a relative date filter to show only the events within a certain amount of time might be helpful. To do this, drag the Date dimension to the Filters shelf and choose Relative Dates. You can set the logic to be any subset of dates that you want to dynamically display. In this example, I have limited the range to a mere 30 days (see Figure 9.8).

		Filter [Date]		
Relative dates	Range of dates	Starting date	Ending date	O Special
Relative dates				
			10/2/201	7 to 10/31/2017
Years	Quarters	Months	Weeks	ays
	Yesterday	Last 3	0 days	
	Today	O Next 30	🗘 days	
	Tomorrow			
Anchor relative to	Today		🗌 lr	clude null values
Pecet	Apply		Cancel	OK
Keset	чрых		Cancer	

Figure 9.8 Filter the dates in a view to limit the number of events displayed.

- Add a Reference Line for "Today." A reference line for the current date can give audiences a visual checkpoint on the timeline. To create a reference line, follow these steps:
 - 1. Create a new calculated field, Today: TODAY()
 - 2. Place this newly created calculated field on the Details Marks card. This allows the field to be used as a reference line. Adjust the field from a discrete date by right-clicking the date pill and selecting Exact Date (see Figure 9.9).
 - **3.** To add the reference line onto the timeline, select Reference Line from the Analytics pane. Choose the Today calculated field as the Line Value for the line.

Additionally, use the Line Label option Custom to type how you want the line to be labeled on the canvas. Further formatting can also be completed in this box to define how you want the line to visually appear (see Figure 9.10).



Figure 9.9 Adjusting the field for today's date to be Exact Date is critical to achieve a reference line that displays the current date.

Billine Band	Distribution	-111
Line Band	Distribution	
pe		Box Plot
Entire Table O Per Pane	Per Cell	
e		
alue: Today	S Minimum	٢
abel: Custom	day	
	uuy -	_
Line only	0 95	0
matting		
Line:		
Fill Above: None		
Fill Below: None		
Show recalculated line for highlig	hted or selected data	points

Figure 9.10 Use the Today calculated field to add a reference line to the timeline.

With a few formatting tweaks, you can finalize a visually appealing timeline that makes a great asset to a dashboard or data story.

BAR-IN-BAR CHARTS

Chapter 5, "Choosing the Right Visual," covered several forms of a basic bar chart, including side-by-side and stacked bar charts. Both of these options are available out of the box in Tableau. Another option in the bar chart landscape is a bar-in-bar chart. These can be useful when comparing a measure against a goal or comparing two measures (or discrete dimensions) against one another, with both items starting at the zero line for a precise analysis (see Figure 9.11).

Building a bar-in-bar chart in Tableau is not terribly difficult, but it does require taking a few additional manual steps to help get your bars in the shape you want.



Figure 9.11 This bar-in-bar chart compares the percentage of survey respondents in a two-district cyberbullying survey.

The first step in building a bar-in-bar chart is to create a slightly odd-looking stacked bar chart by dragging one measure and one dimension to the Rows and Columns shelves. Drag your second dimension to the Color Marks card, and then drag this same dimension to the Size Marks card (see Figure 9.12). Now you should see a stacked bar chart with dimensions differentiated by color and by size.

		iii Columns	CNT	D(Respons	se (d)								
		I Rows	Distr	ict									
Group		Sheet 11 District											Grade Group High School (9-12) Middle School (6-8)
		South Brunswick							_	_	_	-	Grade Group
omatic			0	50	100	150	200 Distinct cou	250	300	350	400	450	High School (9-12) Middle School (6-8)
6) 520	Label						61901104 604						
Q Toottip													
ade Grou ade Grou	# #												
	Group matic D Sae Dootig code Grou	Sroup	iii Columns ≡ Rows Sheet 11 District New Brunswick South Brunswick South Brunswick South Brunswick South Brunswick	iii Columns CNT Rows District Stoup State Columnswick South Brunswick South Brunswick South Brunswick South Brunswick South Brunswick South Brunswick South Brunswick South Brunswick	III Columns CNTDXRespons III Rows District Stoup Sheet 11 District District District New Brunswick South Brunswick 0 South Brunswick 0 South Brunswick 0 South Brunswick 0 South Brunswick 0	iii Columns CNTD(Response Id) III Rows District Sheet 11 District District New Brunswick South Brunswick 0 South Brunswick 0	iii Columns CNTD(Response Id) III Rows District Sheet 11 District District New Brunswick South Brunswick 0 South Brunswick 0	iii Columns CNTD(Response Id) Image: Rows District Sheet 11 District District New Brunswick South Brunswick 0 South Brunswick 0 State 0 State 0 District 0 South Brunswick 0 Brunswick 0 South Brunswick 0 South Brunswick 0 South Brunswick 0 South Brunswick 0	iii Columns CNTD(Response Id) Image: Columns District Sheet 11 District District New Brunswick South Brunswick South Brunswick Strict 0 Strict 0 Strict District Strict 0 South Brunswick 0 Strict 0 </td <td>iii Columns CNTD(Response Id) Rows Oldrict Sheet 11 District New Brunswick South Bruns</td> <td>iii Columns CNTD(Response Id) Rows District Sheet 11 District New Brunswick South Brun</td> <td>iii Columns CNTD(Response Id) Rows Olstrict Sheet 11 District New Brunswick South Brun</td> <td>iii Columns CNTD(Response Id) Image: Columns Other Sheet 11 District District New Brunswick South Brunswick 0 South Brunswick 0 South Brunswick 0 District count of Response Id</td>	iii Columns CNTD(Response Id) Rows Oldrict Sheet 11 District New Brunswick South Bruns	iii Columns CNTD(Response Id) Rows District Sheet 11 District New Brunswick South Brun	iii Columns CNTD(Response Id) Rows Olstrict Sheet 11 District New Brunswick South Brun	iii Columns CNTD(Response Id) Image: Columns Other Sheet 11 District District New Brunswick South Brunswick 0 South Brunswick 0 South Brunswick 0 District count of Response Id

Figure 9.12 A bar-in-bar chart begins with a slightly odd-looking stacked bar chart.

At this point, the two dimensions are stacked together along the x axis of the measure, rather than laid atop each other with both starting at the zero point. This stacking is an automatic function of Tableau that you need to turn off to manually build your bar-in-bar chart. To disable this feature, navigate to the Analysis menu and choose Stack Marks > Off (see Figure 9.13).

Story	Analysis	Мар	Format	Server	Wind	ow	Help	4
000	Show Ma ✓ Aggrega	ark Lab te Mea	els sures		ooke	export	ed	- m
82	Stack Ma	arks		►	√ Au	tomat	ic i	<u>ш</u> •
iii Colum	View Dat Reveal H	idden I	Data		√ Or			
E Rows	Percenta	ige Of		•	Of	f		
Shee	Totals			۲				
	Forecast			•				
	Trend Lir	nes		•				
Nev	Special V	/alues		•				
South	Table La	yout		•				
	Legends			•	150	20	0	25
	Filters			•		Disting	t coun	t of F
	Highlight	ters		•				
	Paramete	ers		•				
	Create C	alculat	ed Field					
	Edit Calc	ulated	Field	•				
	Cycle Fie	elds						
	Swap Ro	ws and	Columns	^%W				

Figure 9.13 Turn off the automatic mark-stacking feature on the Analysis menu to overlay components of stacked bars.

After this step, you should have completed a raw version of your bar-in-bar chart. At this point, you can adjust which dimension is in the foreground and background by dragging and dropping to sort the measures on the Color Marks card filter, if desired. You may also edit the width of the bars by clicking the drop-down menu on the Size Marks card, selecting Edit Sizes, and then adjusting the Mark Size Range slider as desired (see Figure 9.14). Complete your visualization by editing and removing axis headers, titles, and so on (see Chapter 6).
F √ S E	Grade Group dit sizes ormat Legends how Title dit Title	<i>Q</i> –
H S C	lighlight Selected Item ort Clear Sort × Hide Card	s
• •	Edit Sizes [Grade Group]	
Sample legend: High School (9-12) Middle School (6-8)	Mark size range: Smallest	D Largest
Reset Appl	ly	Cancel OK

Figure 9.14 Adjust the width of the bars by editing the size range on the Size Marks card menu.



Continue to format as desired to clean up and curate the barin-bar chart.

LIKERT VISUALIZATIONS

Likert scales are the most widely used approach to scaling responses to gauge sentiment and tendencies, and are a staple of surveys and other types of data collection methodologies. Several ways exist to ask Likert scale questions, as well as several ways to visualize their data. This section provides a look at the two most common Likert scales and the best ways to visualize them: a 100% stacked bar chart and a divergent bar chart.

Before discussing how to build Likert visualizations, let's take a look at what Likert scale data looks like. Figure 9.15 shows an example of a five-point Likert scale using an example from the Harry Potter dataset. Common 5-point Likert scales range values from one extreme to another (for example, Highly Satisfied to Highly Dissatisfied) with a neutral option residing midrange.

On a Scale of 1 how would you	to 5, with 1 bein rate each of the	ng Extremely No following Harry	n-Aggressive and Potter character	5 being Extremo s?	ely Aggressive,
	Extremely Non- Aggressive	Non- Aggressive	Neither Non- Aggressive Nor Aggressive	Aggressive	Extremely Aggressive
Harry Potter					1
Hermione					
Granger					
Severus					
Snape					
Lord		0			
Voldemort					
Ron Weasley					

Figure 9.15 A 5-point Likert scale.

Whereas 5-point Likert scales are commonly used to measure

sentiment, 4-point Likert scales are more typically used to measure tendencies. <u>Figure 9.16</u> shows an example of a 4-point Likert scale using an example from the Cyberbullying dataset.

Have you ever enacted any of the following cyberbullying behaviors?							
	Often	Sometimes	Just Once	Never			
Posted Rude Comments							
Teased/Threatened Someone Online							
Hacked Into Someone's Account							
Used Information Found Online to Tease/Harass							
Posted Pictures of Someone Without Permission							

Figure 9.16 A four-point Likert scale.

note

When preparing Likert data for analysis, the recommendation is to have both a text and numerical value associated. <u>Chapter 7</u> discussed the value of having both of these pieces of metadata.

100% Stacked Bar Chart

A stacked bar chart is a simple, straightforward way to visualize Likert questions that does not involve the creation of any calculated fields and little manual work (see Figure 9.17).

Cyberbullying Behaviors: Have You Ever...



Figure 9.17 A 100% stacked bar chart can be an easy way of visualizing Likert data, although it falls short of the richness that other methods can add to the data's story.

To create this visualization, drag your first dimension to the Rows shelf (this example uses survey data so the field is Wording) and a measure to the Columns shelf. A simple horizontal bar chart with solid color bars of equal length, representing the total *count* of responses for each dimension, appears.

Next, drag your second dimension that represents the Answer value (or the value representing survey responses) to the Color Marks card (see Figure 9.18).



Figure 9.18 A rough stacked bar chart begins to visualize Likert data; however, it requires more curation to be a useful visualization.

A number of things need to be done to improve this basic 100% stacked bar chart to properly visualize the Likert data:

- Color: The automatic color scheme in Tableau does little to help us see behaviors that are adjacent (for example, sometimes/often and just once/never). Using the Color Marks card, adjust these to a more suitable color palette.
- Sort: Tendencies are sorted in alphabetical order rather than by how often they occur. Manually sort these to reflect the correct order.
- Totals: A count of data is an okay option, but a better option (particularly in survey data) may be Percent of Total. Add in the correct table calculation to reflect this.
- Curate: Remove unnecessary headers to clean up your canvas.

note

You can apply several types of calculations to transform the values for a measure in Tableau, including custom calculations, table calculations, level of detail (LOD) expressions, and more. For more information on these various types of calculations and how to use them, visit https://onlinehelp.tableau.com/current/pro/desktop/enus/advanced_overview.html.

With a bit of tweaking, this 100% stacked bar chart can be a decent approach to display Likert responses (see Figure 9.19). You could also add labels onto each category to see percentage of responses per tendency.



Figure 9.19 With better colors, and sorted, this 100% stacked bar chart does a better job of visualizing the Likert data.

Divergent Stacked Bar Chart

Although the 100% stacked bar chart will *work* to represent Likert data, a better approach is a divergent bar chart, which is not actually a bar chart but a modified version of a Gantt chart. Rather than stacking tendencies or sentiment ratings on a scale of 0 to 100, this approach shows the spread of negative and positive sentiment values (such as Strongly Disagree to Strongly Agree) aligned to each other around the neutral midpoint (see Figure 9.20).

Sorting Hat: Housed by Aggression

How some of the series' most well-known witches and wizards "stack up" from 1 (Extremely Non-Aggressive) to 5 (Extremely Aggressive).





This approach requires the creation of several calculated fields. As such, to begin building this visualization by you must first create a table, or crosstab, in Tableau. This enables you to see the output of each of the calculations you build and troubleshoot any calculation errors before moving into visualizing them.

note

For this challenging chart, you will use the Harry Potter dataset used in previous chapters. Download the dataset to follow along.

In this table, first drag the QuestionID and Text Value dimensions to the Row shelf. (In this example, the QuestionID

has been renamed to match the character name for readability.) Because we included both the text and the numeric coding for each Answer field, we can avoid writing any calculations at this point (the Numeric Value for each response will become useful in the next steps). However, notice that when you add this dimension the Text Values are not in the sequence they should be. Click the drop-down menu on the Text Value dimension on the Rows shelf, select Sort, and manually adjust these so that they display in the correct ranking order (minimum to maximum, or 1 to 5). Then, drop the Number of Records Measure (SUM) onto the Text Marks card. Your table should appear similar to Figure 9.21.

Filters	Filters Ouestion ID		Sheet 1		
- Pacon			Question ID	Text Value	
			Alastor	Extremely Non-Aggressive	1
Marks			Moody	Non-Aggressive	11
-				Neither Non-Aggressive N	60
T Au	tomatic	•		Aggressive	226
8 D m		T		Extremely Aggressive	40
Color	Size	Text	Albus	Extremely Non-Aggressive	22
			Dumbledore	Non-Aggressive	73
000	Teattin			Neither Non-Aggressive N	117
Detall	looitip			Aggressive	111
TS	UM(Num	ber		Extremely Aggressive	15
			Antonion	Extremely Non-Aggressive	1
			Dolohov	Non-Aggressive	11
				Neither Non-Aggressive N	69
				Aggressive	137
				Extremely Aggressive	115
			Arthur	Extremely Non-Aggressive	98
			Weasley	Non-Aggressive	146
				Neither Non-Aggressive N	88
				Aggressive	7
			Barty Crouch	Extremely Non-Aggressive	2
			Jr	Non-Aggressive	12
				Neither Non-Aggressive N	38

Figure 9.21 After this step, you can see for each question asked (in this case, each character ranked) how many respondents chose each option on the Likert scale.

The next step is to create a series of calculated fields and add them onto the table.

Calculated Field #1: Negative Sentiment The first calculated field will calculate how many negative sentiment responses were received for each question (or item ranked) and should appear as negative values and below (or to the left of) the dividing line of 0 in the divergent stacked bar chart. To do this we need to count the number of responses received for the two lowest selections on the scale (in this case 1—extremely non-aggressive and 2 —non-aggressive) as well as *half* of the neutral selection (in this case, 3—neither non-aggressive nor aggressive). Because neutral responses in a survey are neither positive nor negative, we want to split them in half to distribute them across the bars in the chart as to not unfairly weight one side of the data.

Create this calculated field, named Negative Sentiment:

IF [Numeric Value] < 3 THEN 1 ELSEIF [Numeric Value] = 3 THEN 0.5 ELSE 0 END

Add this calculation onto the canvas. Your screen should appear as in Figure 9.22; the Number of Responses in the two negative sentiment ranks should match the count in the Negative Sentiment column. The neutral response count in Negative Sentiment should be half the count of Number of Responses, and the two positive sentiment ranks should appear with a count of 0 in the Negative Sentiment column.

Question ID	Text Value	Number of Records	Negative Sentiment
Alastor	Extremely Non-Aggressive	1.0	1.0
Moody	Non-Aggressive	11.0 11.0	
	Neither Non-Aggressive N	60.0	30.0
	Aggressive	226.0	0.0
	Extremely Aggressive	40.0	0.0
Albus	Extremely Non-Aggressive	22.0	22.0
Dumbledore	Non-Aggressive	73.0	73.0
	Neither Non-Aggressive N	117.0	58.5
	Aggressive	111.0	0.0
	Extremely Aggressive	15.0	0.0

Figure 9.22 This calculated field counts the number of negative sentiment responses that will appear on the negative side of the dividing 0.

Calculated Field #2: Total Negative Sentiment The next step is to create a calculated field to calculate the percent of negative values per question.

Create this calculated field, named Total Negative Sentiment:

TOTAL(SUM([Negative Sentiment]))

This calculated field is a default table calculation; however, we need to manually change the field being used to compute the calculation. From within the calculated field editor box, click the blue text Default Table Calculation. Then, select Text Value from the list (see Figure 9.23).

1.1	Non-	Add1622166 77.0	11.0	
Tota	I Negative Sentiment			×
TOTA	AL(SUM([Negative Sentiment]))			
			Default Table Calo	culation
The c	alculation is valid.		Apply	ОК
c	Table Calculation	[Total Negative Sentiment]		
A	Calculation Definition Compute using: At the level:	Automatic Code		×
en	Restarting every:	Question ID Question Type Response Id	¢ s	
	Description	Text Value Wording		
	Totals summarize values fro	Zipcode Advanced		Þ
		Cancel	ОК	
			Default Table Calculat	ion

Figure 9.23 This calculated field calculates the percent of negative values per question.

After you add this calculated field to your crosstab, it should appear similar to Figure 9.24. Notice that the Total Negative Sentiment value is the same for each QuestionID. This function simply sums the values in the Negative Sentiment column for each item scored. For example, Alastor Moody has a Negative Sentiment Count of 1 + 11 + 30 = 42. This total sentiment appears in the Total Negative Sentiment column.

Question ID	Text Value	Number of Records	Negative Sentiment	Total Negative Sentiment
Alastor	Extremely Non-Aggressive	1.0	1.0	42.0
Moody	Non-Aggressive	11.0	11.0	42.0
	Neither Non-Aggressive N	60.0	30.0	42.0
	Aggressive	226.0	0.0	42.0
	Extremely Aggressive	40.0	0.0	42.0
Albus	Extremely Non-Aggressive	22.0	22.0	153.5
Dumbledore	Non-Aggressive	73.0	73.0	153.5
	Neither Non-Aggressive N	117.0	58.5	153.5
	Aggressive	111.0	0.0	153.5
	Extremely Aggressive	15.0	0.0	153.5

Figure 9.24 The Total Negative Sentiment function sums the individual count of negative responses per question scored.

Calculated Field #3: Total Sentiment Scores Now that we have the percent of the total for the negative values, we need the percent of the total for the entire bar and add up the responses for each item scored.

Create this calculated field, named Total Sentiment Scores:

TOTAL(SUM([Number of Records]))

You will need to change the default table calculation to Text Values.

Added to the crosstab, this calculated field will sum the number of responses per question. If your dataset is nice and clean and all questions were answered, the value in this column should be the same all the way down. For datasets where not every question was answered, such as this one, you will see variations in the count of responses in this column

(see Figure 9.25).

Question ID	Text Value	Number of Records	Negative Sentiment	Total Negative Sentiment	Total Sentiment Scores
Alastor	Extremely Non-Aggressive	1.0	1.0	42.0	338.0
Moody	Non-Aggressive	11.0	11.0	42.0	338.0
	Neither Non-Aggressive N	60.0	30.0	42.0	338.0
	Aggressive	226.0	0.0	42.0	338.0
	Extremely Aggressive	40.0	0.0	42.0	338.0
Albus	Extremely Non-Aggressive	22.0	22.0	153.5	338.0
Dumbledore	Non-Aggressive	73.0	73.0	153.5	338.0
	Neither Non-Aggressive N	117.0	58.5	153.5	338.0
	Aggressive	111.0	0.0	153.5	338.0
	Extremely Aggressive	15.0	0.0	153.5	338.0
Antonion	Extremely Non-Aggressive	1.0	1.0	46.5	333.0
Dolohov	Non-Aggressive	11.0	11.0	46.5	333.0
	Neither Non-Aggressive N	69.0	34.5	46.5	333.0
	Aggressive	137.0	0.0	46.5	333.0
	Extremely Aggressive	115.0	0.0	46.5	333.0
Arthur	Extremely Non-Aggressive	98.0	98.0	288.0	339.0
Weasley	Non-Aggressive	146.0	146.0	288.0	339.0
	Neither Non-Aggressive N	88.0	44.0	288.0	339.0
	Aggressive	7.0	0.0	288.0	339.0

Figure 9.25 This calculated field counts the total number of scores for each question in order to calculate the length of the entire bar.

Calculated Field #4: Gantt Start

The next step is to create a calculated field that will determine the percentage offset, or how far into the negative to begin building the bar chart. Remember, what we are creating is a modified Gantt chart, so this calculated field is really intended to be the first data point in the Gantt chart.

Create this calculated field, named Gantt Start:

-[Total Negative Sentiment]/[Total Sentiment Scores]

Because this number will be expressed as a percent, we need to adjust the number format. Do this by right-clicking on the Measure and choosing Default Properties > Number Format (see <u>Figure 9.26</u>). Select percentage from the menu and enter the number of decimal points.



Figure 9.26 Change the default number format directly from the Data pane.

You can spot-check the Gantt Start calculated field after it's added into the crosstab by comparing it against the number of

positive and negative responses. The higher the count of negative responses, the larger the Gantt Start percentage will be (see Figure 9.27).

Calculated Field #5: Percent of Gantt Sizing The next step is to build a calculated field to determine the size (how wide) each section of the Gantt chart should be.

Create this calculated field, named Percent of Gantt Sizing:

SUM([Number of Records])/[Total Sentiment Scores]

Again, this is a percentage, so you must adjust the default number format for this calculated field, too.

Question ID	Text Value	Number of Records	Negative Sentiment	Total Negative Sentiment	Total Sentiment Scores	Gantt Start
Alastor	Extremely Non-Aggressive	1.0	1.0	42.0	338.0	-12.4%
Moody	Non-Aggressive	11.0	11.0	42.0	338.0	-12.4%
	Neither Non-Aggressive N	60.0	30.0	42.0	338.0	-12.4%
	Aggressive	226.0	0.0	42.0	338.0	-12.4%
	Extremely Aggressive	40.0	0.0	42.0	338.0	-12.4%
Albus	Extremely Non-Aggressive	22.0	22.0	153.5	338.0	-45.4%
Dumbledore	Non-Aggressive	73.0	73.0	153.5	338.0	-45.4%
	Neither Non-Aggressive N	117.0	58.5	153.5	338.0	-45.4%
	Aggressive	111.0	0.0	153.5	338.0	-45.4%
	Extremely Aggressive	15.0	0.0	153.5	338.0	-45.4%
Antonion	Extremely Non-Aggressive	1.0	1.0	46.5	333.0	-14.0%
Dolohov	Non-Aggressive	11.0	11.0	46.5	333.0	-14.0%
	Neither Non-Aggressive N	69.0	34.5	46.5	333.0	-14.0%
	Aggressive	137.0	0.0	46.5	333.0	-14.0%
	Extremely Aggressive	115.0	0.0	46.5	333.0	-14.0%

Figure 9.27 The Gantt Start calculated field tells each bar in the Gantt chart where on the axis to begin.

Calculated Field #6: Gantt Percent Line

The last calculated field to build will tell Tableau where to draw each line after the original Gantt Start data point and separate the sentiment value categories.

Create this calculated field, named Gantt Percent Line:

PREVIOUS_VALUE([Gantt Start]) + ZN(LOOKUP([Percent of Total Sizing],-1))

You need to change the default table calculation to Text Values, and adjust the default number format to be a percentage.

The Gantt Percent Line is the trickiest of all the calculated fields needed to create the divergent stacked bar chart. Essentially, in plain English, the calculated field begins with the table calculation Previous Value and tells Tableau to look to the previous row of the calculation we've just made. However, there is no previous row for the first line in the table, so instead we are directing Tableau to Gantt Start instead (-12.4%). We then tell Tableau to add the previous row, this time on Percent of Total Sizing, and minus one. However, again, because there is no previous value, we've directed Tableau to zero nulls (ZN), and so the first value in this column is -12.04%. In the next row, we can see this formula begin to work more smoothly (see Figure 9.28).

Gantt Start	Percent of Gantt Sizing P	Gantt ercent Line
-12.4%	0.3%	-12.4%
-12.4%	3.3%	-12.1%
-12.4%	17.8%	-8.9%
-12.4%	66.9%	8.9%
-12.4%	11.8%	75.7%
-45.4%	6.5%	-45.4%
-45.4%	21.6%	-38.9%
-45.4%	34.6%	-17.3%
-45.4%	32.8%	17.3%

Figure 9.28 The Gantt Percent Line calculated field creates a new calculation using the values generated from previously created calculated fields.

After all five of these new calculated fields have been created and added into the view, the crosstab for the divergent stacked bar chart is complete (see <u>Figure 9.29</u>). We are now ready to begin building the visualization in a new sheet.

regues .	rages			m courris	Considerations	-						
C Atteryx (Cleaned_Survey				I Rows	Question ID	Text Va	ur I	3				
Dimensions III P - + An Code An Gender	Filters	on 10	_	Crosstat	Crosstab							
An Question ID An Question Type	Weasu	re Name	5 E	Question ID	Text Value	Number of Records	Negative Sentiment	Total Negative Sentiment	Total Sentiment Scores	Gantt Start	Percent of Gantt Sizing	Gantt Percent Line
An Response Id	Marke			Alastor	Extremely Non-Appressive	1.0	1.0	42.0	338.0	-12.4%	0.3%	-12.4%
text Value	Marks		Moody	Non-Appressive	11.0	11.0	42.0	338.0	-12.4%	3.3%	-12.1%	
Abe Wording	11 Ad	tomatic			Neither Non-Appressive N.	60.0	30.0	42.0	338.0	-12.4%	17.8%	-8.9%
C Zpcode		0	O II law Text Alb		Aggressive	226.0	0.0	42.0	338.0	-12.4%	66.9%	8.9%
Measure Names	Color	5.4			Extremely Appressive	40.0	0.0	42.0	338.0	-12.4%	11.8%	75.7%
		0		Albus	Extremely Non-Appressive	22.0	22.0	153.5	338.0	-45.4%	6.5%	-45.4%
	Ortal Tootip	~		Dumbledore	Non-Appressive	73.0	73.0	153.5	338.0	-45.4%	21.6%	-38.9%
nasures		9		Neither Non-Appressive N.	117.0	58.5	153.5	338.0	-45.4%	34.6%	-17.3%	
10	Measure Values		Antonion	Appressive	111.0	0.0	153.5	338.0	-45.4%	32.8%	17.3%	
Gantt Percent Line				Extremely Aggressive	15.0	0.0	153.5	338.0	-45.4%	4,4%	50.1%	
Gantt Start				Extremely Non-Appressive	1.0	1.0	46.5	333.0	-14.0%	0.3%	-14.0%	
Negative Sentiment	Measure	Measure Values		Dolohov	Non-Appressive	11.0	11.0	46.5	333.0	-14.0%	3.3%	-13.7%
Numeric Value	SUMO	lumber o	/ Rec.		Neither Non-Aggressive N.,	69.0	34.5	46.5	333.0	-14.0%	20.7%	-10.4%
Percent of Gantt Sizing	SUM(N	legative 1	Senti.		Appressive	137.0	0.0	46.5	333.0	-14.0%	41.1%	10.4%
Total Negative Sentiment	Total Nazarian Sen. A				Extremely Aggressive	115.0	0.0	46.5	333.0	-14.0%	34.5%	51.5%
Total Centiment Scores	Tatal	and in such	15 . 4	Arthur	Extremely Non-Aggressive	98.0	98.0	288.0	339.0	-85.0%	28.9%	-85.0%
Latitude (secented)	Contrast of	Canada and		Weasley	Non-Appressive	146.0	146.0	288.0	339.0	-85.0%	43.1%	-56.0%
Loositude (secondard)	Gantt Start A Percent of Gantt S. A			Neither Non-Aggressive N.	88.0	44.0	288.0	339.0	-85.0%	26.0%	-13.0%	
Linghove (generated)				Aggressive	7.0	0.0	288.0	339.0	-85.0%	2.1%	13.0%	
number or Necords	Gantt	Percent L	ine Δ	Barty Crouch	Extremely Non-Appressive	2.0	2.0	33.0	337.0	-9.8%	0.6%	-9.8%

Figure 9.29 Although it's a long process, this crosstab creates the foundation for our eventual Likert visualization.

In a new sheet, drag the Question dimension to the Rows shelf and the Gantt Percent Line measure to the Columns shelf. *Tableau will break immediately*, flagging the measure in red and giving the error message that a critical field used to create this calculation is missing from the view (see Figure 9.30).



Figure 9.30 The first step in creating this Likert visualization throws an error—but that's okay!

The missing field is Text Value, which is the field we calculated everything over in the crosstab. Bring this

dimension into the view and drop it on the Color Marks card (you might need to filter and then add depending on how many options there are for this dimension).

Immediately we see a divergent stacked bar chart begin to appear! However, as we're actually creating a Gantt chart, we still have quite a bit of work to do:

 Change the mark from Automatic to Gantt chart (see Figure 9.31). This adjusts the view from bars to lines that separate each section of the Gantt chart.



Figure 9.31 Changing the mark from the automatic bar to Gantt begins the Gantt chart transformation.

- 2. You need to manually re-sort your text value options, the same way discussed when making the crosstab table, but this time by clicking the sort option on the Color Marks card and manually adjusting so that text values display in the correct ranking order (minimum to maximum, or 1 to 5).
- 3. Drag and drop the Percent of Gantt Sizing calculated field

on the Size Marks card. Now, the visualization is beginning to take shape.

4. Now to address color: Tableau has used the automatic color palette, which is intended to make things look very different; however, for this example, make the colors look more like a standard blue-orange diverging palette by changing the colors to a colorblind palette, and manually selecting better color choices (see Figure 9.32).

Because this scale is from Extremely Non-Aggressive to Extremely Aggressive, I used color choices that reflect the severity of character aggression. You could use other color scales depending on the context of the story and the takeaway intended.



Figure 9.32 With a few quick clicks, leveraging the calculated fields already made, and making smart color choices, the divergent chart is beginning to take shape.

5. Now, to fix the axis: Because we know that the axis can

range from a -1 to 1, adjust it by right-clicking on the x axis, selecting Edit Axis, and then changing the fixed range from -1 to 1 (see Figure 9.33). This shifts the bars slightly so that everything is centered on the zero midpoint.

	Edit Axis [G	Santt Percent Line
	Edit Axis [O	
	General	Tick Marks
Range		
Automatic Uniform axis ra	nge for all row	✓ Include zero
Independent ax O Fixed	is ranges for e	each row or column
Fixed start	4	Fixed end
-1		1
0		0
-100.0%		108.3%
Scale	Titles	
Reversed	Title:	Gantt Percent Line
Logarithmic	Subtitle:	🖉 Automatic
Clear Apply		Cancel OK
I COLUMN TWO IS NOT		Gantt Pe

Figure 9.33 Shifting the axis allows everything to line up nicely at zero.

A few more clicks to simplify and remove headers and clean up the visualization delivers a stunning divergent bar chart that displays the Likert scale sentiment data nicely. (The final result will look like 9.20, shown earlier in the chapter.)

LOLLIPOP CHARTS

The lollipop chart, while not native to Tableau, is a hybrid chart that combines a traditional bar chart and a Cleveland dot plot. It is simply a dual axis chart that superimposes a circle on top of a very thin bar chart (see Figure 9.34). However, it's a fun way to spice up a bar chart to give it more visual appeal without reducing its analytical integrity.

note

Lollipop charts are a helpful way to visualize many bars of the same length while avoiding the Moire effect discussed in Chapter 6.

Top 5 Baby Girl's Names 2002-2012

This chart visualizes the top five baby girl's names from 2002-2012 using data collected by the Social Security Administration.



Figure 9.34 Completed lollipop chart.

A lollipop chart is great for comparing multiple measures because it helps the reader to align categories to points without drowning the graphic in ink. It typically contains categorical variables on the y axis measured against a second (continuous) variable on the x axis, although these can be plotted on the y axis. With either orientation, the emphasis is on the circle, as it is a visual cue to draw the audience's attention to the specific value in each category. The line (or bar) itself is meant to be a minimalistic approach to tie each category to its relative point without drawing too much attention to the line itself.

To begin:

- **1.** Build a basic bar chart in Tableau (see Figure 9.35). In this example, I am using the Top Baby Names dataset provided by Tableau. This dataset contains the most popular male and female names in each state for each year from 1910–2012 via the Social Security Administration.
- Duplicate your dimension on the same shelf you are currently using to display dimensions (in this example, the Columns shelf). This creates a side-by-side view of two identical bar charts (see Figure 9.36).



Figure 9.35 To tell a story about the top baby girl names over a decade, I have filtered the dataset to include only girl's names from 2002 to 2012.



Figure 9.36 A little messy at first, duplicating your dimension creates a side-by-side view of two identical bar charts.

3. Using the duplicated measure, adjust to a dual axis by right-clicking the second measure (or second axis) and selecting Dual Axis (see <u>Figure 9.37</u>). Because the mark Type is set to Automatic, Tableau will likely convert both visualizations to circle charts.



Figure 9.37 Converting to a dual axis adjusts the marks, but you can now change the Marks formatting for each dimension.

4. Using the Marks card, change the first occurrence of your dimension to a bar. Use the Size slider to slim down the line and the Color Marks to adjust the color of the bar as appropriate. I typically use a lighter gray (see Figure 9.38).



Figure 9.38 With your first marks adjustment the lollipop charts begins to take shape.

5. To adjust the second dimension occurrence, using the Size Marks card, enlarge the circles as appropriate (see Figure 9.39).



Figure 9.39 The bars and circles of the lollipop chart can be changed individually in size and color to curate your chart.

With the basis of the lollipop chart built, it's time to clean up the visualization.

- **6.** Make sure your axes line up correctly. Right-click the second measure axis (the one on top) and choose Synchronize Axis to make the axes equal. Right-click the axis again and uncheck Show Header.
- 7. Tidy up the visual by sorting bars and excluding any data that might not be pertinent to your story. I have sorted in Descending order and excluded everything but the Top 5 names. (You will likely need to readjust the Marks Sizing after this step.)
- **8.** Continue removing headers and axis titles as well as adjusting titles as appropriate until you are happy with the visualization.

Labeled Lollipops

You might elect to remove the bottom axis header and use the circles to encode their value.

To do this, drag the measure to the canvas for a third time, this time dropping it on the Label card on the second occurrence. Adjust the Label alignment to be centered and Automatic, and make sure the checkbox to allow marks to overlap other labels is selected (see Figure 9.40).

Filters Gender: F	✓ S Label Appeara	ihow mark labels										
Year Top Name Aarks Y All SUM(Occurences SUM(Occurence	Text: Font: Alignment: Marks to Labe All Min/Ma	cSUM(Occurences Tableau Book, 9pt Center Horizontal Automatic E E E Vertical Contor)) Direction Auto A ··	matic < >				\$.09				75.61
	E Label	Automatic	Auto	matic On			31.000					
SUM(Occurer	ces)	Sophia 2	9.303									
			30K	35K	40K	45K	SOK	55K	60K	65K	70K	75K

Figure 9.40 Carefully formatting mark labels can embed additional data in your lollipop chart, and eliminate the need for axis headers.

Right-click on the dimension on the Labels shelf to format the number and text color, and then remove axis headers and tweak as necessary (see Figure 9.41).

Format SUM(C	Occurrences)	×	Pages			iii Columns	•	SUM(Occur	ences)	SUM(Oc	curences)				
A = 4.8	B 🗉 Fiel	ds •				≡ Rows	• 6	Top Name	F						
Axis	Pane		Filters			Sheet 1									
Default			Gender:	f .		Succe T									
Font		0	Year			Top Name									
Alignment:	Automatic	0	Top Nam	*		Emily									75,612
Numbers:	123.456	0	Marks												-
Totals			∨ AI									-			
Font:		0	~ SUM(C	courences	la (Emma						\$5,09	6		
Alignment	Automatic	0	~ SUM(C	ocurences	0- 0										
Numbers	122.466	13	O Ada	natio	•										
institute s.	123,450		::	0		Isabella						51,628			
Grand Totals			Color	524	Label							-			
Font:		0	ofio Detail	Tootip											
Alignment:	Automatic	0	0.84	A(Occuren	:05)	Madison		34	271						
Numbers:	123.456	0													
Special Values	(eg. NULL)					Sophia	20.1	303							
C	lear							1							

Figure 9.41 With proper size, color, and label adjustments, a

lollipop chart can be a richer visual alternative to a classic bar chart.

Other options to embellish your lollipop charts include colorcoding the circles based on a measure or changing circles to custom shapes.

WORD CLOUDS

A word cloud is an image composed of words in which the size of each word indicates its frequency or importance (see Figure 9.42). While not particularly analytically astute and not recommended for analytical purposes, these types of visualizations can be a powerful way to display textual data and can be an attention-grabbing technique for the purpose of data storytelling and visual impact. In fact, word clouds can make great bookends to presentations to incite interest or leave a lasting impression on an audience.

The good news is that word clouds are quick and simple to create in Tableau.

Flash Trace gameExecution Review Content databases Bandwidth VM & VM-placement graph matrix filter Erasure matching Topology placement detection Multicore Dynamic miningWireless Service-oriented Balanced Adaptive Load Multi-core simulation Energy structure Image machine 1/ Bigprovisioning Algorithm Application Analytics time Reconfigurable Transactional Heterogeneous Smart ScalingAsymmetric cost programming architecture Parallel Memory 30 Processor Cache computational Performance systemscheduling Computing File Network - Distributed Datacenter Real-time Hadoop VirtualizationSecurityNetwork-on-chip cluster Social ation MPI Multiprocessor extinuation Multiprocessor extinuation Multiprocessor extinuation online Partial Tolerance management L Approximation encryption Comparison Code Job Software allocation MPI Multiprocessor optimization Unified Control HPC Bloom Hardware Touting multiplication State model Power runtimevenicle coherence Fault retrieval Sensor Bybrid

Figure 9.42 A word count of article keywords created in Tableau.

Creating a word cloud in Tableau essentially requires using your Text dimension in a variety of marks. First, on a blank canvas, drag the desired dimension to the Text Marks card, and then drag the same dimension to the Size Marks card. At this point your canvas should look similar to Figure 9.43, displaying a simple list of your words in increasingly larger size. Depending on the number of words in your list, this size differential may be more immediately noticeable, or may be subtler as in Figure 9.43, which contains a rather long list of keywords.

Pages	iii Columns	
	II Rows	
Filters	Sheet 6	Author Arx 2-dimensional Arx 30 Arx 802.15.6 Arx (CGRA) Arx (CUDA) Arx (DDA) Arx (DDA) Arx (DDM) Arx (DDM)

Figure 9.43 After two quick clicks on the canvas, the structure of a word cloud begins to form.

At this point you are ready to transform this view into something that better resembles your expectation of a word cloud. To do this, right-click on the dimension on the Size card and select Measure > Count (see Figure 9.44).

Pages			iii Columns				
			≣ Rows				
Filters Marks · If Automatic · Color Size Text of Color Detail Doction		Sheet 6 					
	thor thor	Filter. Show Show Sort Form V Includ Edit A Attrib Meass Edit in	Filter Highlighter at de in Tooltip Viases nsion sute ure	pre GS GRAU BRÜN BRU CRU programment Gruphs Green Grd Grouping Gurantees Guding N2.8.6 Nedoop Nerdware presos Herenheal High High-performance home HIC Numanetered High-I High-Like VD lad IIM IIEE Image provement Lingua Information Interactional Information Interaction Approximate Transportant Information Interaction Interactio	All (NoC) All (NoC) All (NoC) All ABA All ABA All ABA All ABA All ABA All ABA All Adaptive All Adaptive		

Figure 9.44 Adjust the dimension to a measure to resize the words based on their count.

This step converts your initial word cloud structure to something that looks like a tree map of a single color. Change the Mark type from Automatic to Text and your word cloud will re-form (see Figure 9.45).

Pages	III Columns
	III Rows
Filters Marks I Test Color Size Test	Sheet 6 too Pland dia too Plan
Detal Tootig Ort(Author) (Author	Consequences of provide the second and provid

Figure 9.45 Changing the Mark type from Automatic to Text reshapes the tree map into something more akin to a word cloud.

You might need to do some additional work to clean up your word cloud, including removing extraneous words, performing deduplication, or streamlining the words included.

To add color to the word cloud, drag the same dimension to the Color Marks card. Now, your word cloud is complete (see Figure 9.46).



Figure 9.46 To finish your word cloud, add color.

SUMMARY

This chapter provided a look at how to create a few advanced chart types that are not available on the Show Me card in Tableau. These charts require a little more hands-on manipulation but can be excellent candidates to add some variety into dashboards or visual presentations. Many more advanced charts exist, too, that can be learned and built in Tableau. Some fun ones to try on your own might be waffle charts or hexbin map charts, or you can explore the use of spark lines. There are always more charts to learn—explore and have fun!

CHAPTER 10

CLOSING THOUGHTS

We've covered a lot of ground in this book —from understanding the value of visual data storytelling to practicing how to build visual data stories using basic and selected advanced charts and graphs in Tableau.
The lessons in this book are a huge step in the right direction, but still only the first step. Becoming a seasoned visual data storyteller takes time.

The best visual data storytellers recognize that learning how to apply fundamental data visualization best practices and tell meaningful, effective stories is a skill learned over time with practice, experience, and a good, realistic dose of trial and error. These practices are ever-evolving areas, spurred onward with new technologies and inspiring new creatives who have the courage and curiosity to experiment with new approaches and new ideas. We then, as visual data explorers and storytellers, need to commit to continuous learning, both with visualization and with tools, including Tableau, as they introduce new capabilities that facilitate deeper visual analysis.

As Neil DeGrasse Tyson says, "as the area of your knowledge grows, so too does the perimeter of your ignorance." We never know everything, we can only keep learning and trying to know more.

In that spirit, this last chapter recaps the main lessons covered throughout the text. It also serves as a resource kit for life beyond the book by providing checklists of best practices and practical suggestions for continuing to master data storytelling, as well as discusses additional resources available to support the text.

FIVE STEPS TO VISUAL DATA STORYTELLING

In his book, *Beautiful Data*, Yau noted that today's visual data stories are "Something in-between the textbook and the novel." In a similar sentiment, a 2010 article in *The Economist* asserted that today's visual narratives "meld the skills of computer science, statistics, artistic design, and storytelling."

Here are five steps to guide you as you work to build a perfect data story.

Step 1. Find Data That Supports Your Story

The first step in telling a data narrative is to find or collect data that supports the story you want to tell. The storytelling process is, in many ways, more similar to the scientific process than to any literary one. After all, as an analyst and storyteller you are tasked with asking questions, performing background research, constructing and testing one or many hypotheses, and analyzing results to draw a conclusion.

Finding data to support a story doesn't necessarily require scientific data. Ultimately, the data chosen to tell a story should support the story it is telling in context, complexity, and depth. In other words, find a story you're interested in telling. Then, make sure you understand your data and respect its limitations, knowing the story your data *can* logically support, and where you might need to add additional data to fill gaps or answer additional important questions.

Step 2. Layer Information for Understanding

After you have the goals of your story clearly in mind and your data in hand, script your story by layering information to build a framework around a narrative with a clear beginning, middle, and end, as well as a clear message fitted for your audience. In writing terms, think of this as constructing your story's outline and plot.

Remember, knowledge is incremental. Every piece of information we learn is founded on something we have already learned before. Thus, layering information is critical: it's a tool you can use to guide your audience as a narrator. In data storytelling, you can achieve this by compounding builds in visualization or by sequencing different types of visualizations, providing annotations or interactive capabilities on a dashboard, drilling deeper into a single visualization, and so on.

Step 3. Design to Reveal

As tools, charts can't do it all. Data visualizations can't be relied upon to tell the story for you. Likewise, various types of visualization can present the data properly, but still fail to tell a story. Thus, choose your data and your visual form carefully so that the two work in tandem toward communicating one accurate and meaningful message. Then, put the right dialogue into place to guide your audience through a story. Start by stripping out unnecessary information and design the data story in a way that leaves the audience with a single, very potent, message. Focus on the most powerful elements; however, understand that these aren't always the most obvious trends or elements. And remember: there is not always one truth in data, and this is where context becomes a critical element of a data story.

Step 4. Beware the False Reveal

A false reveal can be a dangerous thing. It can incite the audience to draw the wrong conclusions or take an incorrect action. It can also damage the effect of the data itself, and your credibility as a storyteller. As a visual data documentary, data stories should be engaging and entertaining, but should focus foremost on sharing truth.

Whether we do it intentionally or inadvertently, we can force the data to tell the story we want it to, even if it's the wrong or inaccurate—one. With visual narratives, we are tasked not only with telling a story, but also with making it interesting, engaging, and inspiring storytelling. But data stories aren't works of fiction. Think of a visual story as a documentary: a nonfiction work, based on a collection of data, told in a visually compelling way.

Step 5. Tell It Fast

Stories have an inherent amount of entropy, and have the most potency when they are happening. Data journalists are taking this to heart in models that keep track of events as they happen in real time (like political elections or disaster scenarios). The timestamp on when data is reported—or a visualization story released—can be a big difference in how the story is interpreted or on the impact it makes, and so can your narration as a storyteller.

One way to tell a data story fast is by sharing with mobile. Mobile has been a game changer for data visualization in many ways and will be even more so in the years ahead. However, mobile requires wise editing. Be aware of form factor limitations and rethink the way storytelling via mobile devices happens.

THE IMPORTANT ROLE OF FEEDBACK

In June 2015, when I was still in my Radiant Advisors years, I developed and brought to market a concept called the Data Visualization Competency Center (DVCC). At its heart, this methodology described the framework for a permanent, formal organizational structure tasked with advancing and promoting the effective use of data visualization as information assets within the business.

Among its tenets, one of the most critical to the DVCC is the need for feedback. As with any type of information, data visualization created and used in isolation can become its own version of a data silo. We should not overlook the need to collaborate and engage in group critiques before publishing new visuals or presenting new data stories.

Successful data visualizations should be able to be understood

by their intended audience from a position of personal insight and experience—this is the ability for the visualization to tell a meaningful story. Collaboration helps ensure the visualization does tell a story—and the one the author anticipated it to tell.

This need for feedback is applicable both at an organizational level and at an individual one. All data storytellers should user-test their visualizations and stories to ensure that the message they are working to communicate is the same one being received by its intended audience.

Here are a few ways to test the usability of your visualization:

- Give a mock presentation to colleagues or friends to see whether they "see" the same insights you do.
- Ask a member of your intended audience if she can explain the message in the visualization.
- Have someone get hands-on with your visualization and see whether he can navigate the filters, actions, or annotations in your visual.

Frankly, the process of user-testing a data visualization or story is easier said than done, and feedback can be a fickle friend. We invest a significant amount of time and energy into building visualizations and crafting narratives, and—like any creation—become attached to them, and maybe even a little blind to their potential flaws. Still, feedback can be validating or constructive, and if collected consciously can help us engage audiences and perfect our data stories.

The old phrase "everyone's a critic" is well and alive in data

visualization. I've created many that have not been as brilliant as I initially thought they were. Tableau guru Steve Wexler, in his blog *Data Revelations*, wrote a similar sentiment, even describing moments of anger or depression that accompany less than enthusiastic feedback about a new visualization. Being resistant to or wary of feedback is *normal*. Instead of dwelling on negative feedback, use it as a way to improve your visualization, corrective learning, and new information to add into your visual data storytelling skillset for your next project.

note

For more on the Data Visualization Competency Center, check out the Visual Imperative or the whitepaper from Radiant Advisors, available at https://radiantadvisors.com/our-research/new-researchthe-data-visualization-competency-center.

ONGOING LEARNING

Practice and receiving audience feedback are important ways to continuously learn and perfect your skills as a visual data storyteller. Alongside these, many additional resources, both those that accompany this text and those you can find out in the wild, are available to aid you in ongoing training and skills development.

Teach Yourself: External Resources

A bevy of incredible information assets beyond this book can expand and deepen your knowledge and understanding of the concepts we approached from a pragmatic stance in this text. The following are some of the resources I recommend.

Blogs

Blogs have two great qualities: there are many, and they are constantly adding new material and new ideas. Here are a few of my favorites that I believe offer unique and compelling galleries of visual data storytelling in action by some of the most prominent voices in data visualization and storytelling today.

- Flowing Data (<u>http://flowingdata.com</u>): This blog, run by data visualization author and statistician, Nathan Yau, explores how we can use analysis, visualization, and exploration to understand data and ourselves.
- Eager Eyes (<u>https://eagereyes.org</u>): This blog devoted to visualization and visual communication belongs to Tableau research lead Robert Kosara, and explores what we know and what we don't know—so we can be less wrong about visualization.
- The Pudding (https://pudding.cool): The Pudding is a weekly journal of visual essays produced by Polygraph (http://polygraph.cool), an "incubator for visually driven storytelling." Using code, animation, and data visualization, these stories tackle a wide range of interesting topic matter, from insights in politics, cinema and art, and science.

Info We Trust (<u>http://infowetrust.com</u>): This website belongs to RJ Andrews, an independent creative whose visualizations provide a striking lesson in how to use design and science to humanize complex information using analysis, illustration, motion, and interactive design.

Bora Beran "On Anything Data"

(https://boraberan.wordpress.com): This website belongs to Tableau's Bora Beran and takes a unique look at more technical aspects of data visualization, including building extremely complex visuals, like sunburst diagrams, in Tableau, as well as using languages like R and Python to collect and prepare data for visual analysis.

 Data Revelations (<u>http://www.datarevelations.com</u>): Run by Tableau Zen Master and Training Partner Steve Wexler, this blog provides practical training and hands-on guidance on using Tableau to properly and creatively visualize data.

Information is Beautiful

(http://www.informationisbeautiful.net): This blog by data journalist David McCandless, is focused on distilling the world's data, information, and knowledge into beautiful and useful graphics to help everyone make better, clearer, more informed decisions about the world.

Books

Many books, old and new, are available on the market that take deep dives into many of the concepts covered in this text, as well as provide valuable additional insight from other leading voices in the field. Here are a few of the titles I use as reference, both in and out of my classrooms:

- *The Visual Imperative* by Lindy Ryan
- Storytelling with Data by Cole Nussbaumer Knaflic
- The Functional Art by Alberto Cairo
- Data Points by Nathan Yau
- Communicating Data with Tableau by Ben Jones
- Tableau Your Data by Daniel Murray

Tableau Resources

Tableau has a rich and expansive set of resources, including blogs, white papers, visualization galleries, webinars, training videos, and more on its website that are available to the general public. Additionally, educators and students can access relevant, in-depth materials, including datasets, through its community forums and special interest groups.

Companion Materials to This Text

Along with the external resources outlined earlier, there are also several companion materials designed to accompany this text and provide additional hands-on support for practitioners and educators. These are available to you at no additional cost, and are freely available online:

Website (www.visualdatastorytelling.com): This website acts as an information hub to share all companion materials, including lecture decks, datasets, and more. It is continuously updated and also features a timeline of upcoming events that I'll be speaking or teaching at, as well as a video library of presentations and papers, new and upcoming research, current projects, and more.

- Datasets: All publically available datasets used in this text are available either from their original source (that is, the CDC Lyme Disease dataset), through
 www.VisualDataStorytelling.Com, or on Github at https://github.com/deepwatermedia. New datasets are added as they become available. Additionally, Tableau catalogs a wide array of datasets that can be used to practice, teach, or otherwise engage with data visualization.
- Curricula: Designed for entry to mid-level analysts, as well as undergraduate and graduate students, select lecture materials and assignments to support this text are also available. These can be found on the website. They are incrementally updated and include recommended readings and videos. Guest lecturing services are also available to university faculty, as well as corporate training workshops for industry professionals.
- Connect with Me: Reach out to me directly on any social media. I love to engage with you and see what stories you are telling with data!
 - **Twitter:** @lindy_ryan
 - Tableau Public: https://public.tableau.com/profile/lindyryan#!/
 - LinkedIn: https://www.linkedin.com/in/lindyryan/
 - **Online**: https://www.visualdatastorytelling.com

INDEX

NUMBERS

100% stacked bar charts, 203–204

A

actionable goals, 20 Affinity Map, 2 ages of survey responders, 182–185 Aggregate Measures option (Analysis menu), 80 alerting colors, 121 Alteryx, 165 analysis audience, 61–63 explanatory, 56–58 exploratory, 56–58 Analysis menu commands Aggregate Measures, 80 Create Calculated Field, 194 analytic academic program dataset, 97 Analytics tab (Data window), 47 Andrews, RJ, 230

Anscombe, Francis, <u>21</u> Anscombe's Quartet, <u>21–22</u> anxiety about public speaking, overcoming, <u>64</u> audience analysis, <u>61–63</u> auditory cortex, <u>18</u> autumn, data visualization of, 27–29

B

background maps, 105 bar charts 100% stacked bar charts, 203–204 bar-in-bar charts, 199–201 creating, 68–70 divergent stacked bar charts creating, 205–206 Gantt Percent Line field, 211–215 Gantt Start field, 209–211 Negative Sentiment field, 206–207 Percent of Gantt Sizing field, 210 Total Negative Sentiment field, 207–208 Total Sentiment Scores field, 209 features of, 66–68 bar-in-bar charts, 199–201 Beran, Bora, 230 blogs, 229–230 Data Revelations, 156, 229, 230 Eager Eyes, 230

Flowing Data, 230 Information is Beautiful, 230 book recommendations, 230 Bora Beran "On Anything Data" blog, 230 borders formatting, 131–134 mark borders, 119 brain response to storytelling, 16–18 Broca's area of the brain, 16 bubble charts creating, 83–85 features of, 83 Burning Glass, 35 business analytics programs, 10–12 Business Intelligence Congress 3, 8

С

calculated fields divergent stacked bar chart *creating*, 205–206 *Gantt Start field*, 209–211 *Negative Sentiment field*, 206–207 *Percent of Gantt Sizing field*, 211–215 *Total Negative Sentiment field*, 207–208 *Total Sentiment Scores field*, 209 timeline charts, 194–195 cards, 47

Color Marks, 100 100% stacked bar charts, 203-204 bar-in-bar charts, 199–201 color legends, 124 default color, 110–111 divergent stacked bar charts, 213-214 diverging color, 112–114 mark borders, 119 mark halos, 120–121 opacity, 118-119 proportional symbol maps, 100 red/green color palettes, 121-123 reversed color, 115-117 sequential color, 111–112 stepped color, 114–115 word clouds, 223 Detail Marks, 99 proportional symbol maps, 98–99 timeline charts, 196–199 Marks bar charts, 68–69 choropleth maps, 101–103 geodata, 92 heat maps, 89–90 line charts, 72 lollipop charts, 218 pie and donut charts, 74–78 scatter plots, 81 treemaps, 88

Shape Marks, 139–140 Show Me, 47, 74–75 expanding, 57 packed bubble charts, 83–85 pie and donut charts, 74–78 treemaps, 86–87 Size Marks, 99 bar-in-bar charts, 199–201 divergent stacked bar charts, 214 lollipop charts, 219 proportional symbol maps, 99 shapes, 139 word clouds, 221 **Text Marks** borders, 133 divergent stacked bar charts, 205–206 word clouds, 221 Carlson, Chelsea, 23–25 categorical color, 115–117 Center for Disease Control, Lyme disease dataset, 93 cerebellum, 18 change over time, 59 charts, 65–66, 191–192. See also graphs; maps; visual design 100% stacked bar charts, 203–204 bar charts creating, 68–70 features of, 66–68 bar-in-bar charts, 199-201 dessert charts, 10

creating, 74–78 features of, 73–74 divergent stacked bar charts creating, 205–206 Gantt Percent Line field, 211–215 Gantt Start field, 209–211 Negative Sentiment field, 206–207 Percent of Gantt Sizing field, 210 Total Negative Sentiment field, 207–208 Total Sentiment Scores field, 209 donut charts creating, 74–78 features of, 73–74 field labels, 136–138 headers, 136–138 Likert scales, 202–203 100% stacked bar charts, 203–204 divergent stacked bar charts, 205–215 line charts creating, 72–74 features of, 70–72 lollipop charts creating, 215-219 labeling, 219–220 packed bubble charts creating, 83-85 features of, 83 pie charts creating, 74–78

features of, 73–74 scatter plots creating, 79-82 features of, 78–79 timeline charts, 192–199 calculated fields, 194–195 continuous dates, 193 formatting, 196 reference lines, 197-199 timeframes, 197 word clouds, 221-224 choropleth maps, 100–103 cleaning Excel survey data with Alteryx, 165 with Data Interpreter cautions, 149 goals of, 148–150 meta helper file, creating, 153–155 numeric copies, creating, 151–153 pivoting from wide to tall, 155 surface cleaning, 150–151 with Maestro, 145 with Tableau 10, 156 data sources, joining, 160–164 extracts, creating, 156–160 climax (narrative structure), 178 closure, storytelling and, 19 cognitive effects of storytelling, 16–18 collecting data, 226

color

alerting, 121 categorical, 115–117 chart/map types and 100% stacked bar charts, 204 bar charts, 67–68 choropleth maps, 102–103 heat maps, 89–90 line charts, 72 packed bubble charts, 83–84 pie and donut charts, 74–76 proportional symbol maps, 100 scatter plots, 81 treemaps, 85–88 color cues, 26–27 color legends, 124 color-coded pills, 49 diverging, 112–114 highlight, 120 mark borders, 119 mark halos, 120–121 opacity, 118–119 red/green color palettes, 121–123 reversed, 115–117 sequential, 111–112 stepped, 114-115 color cues, 26–27 Color Marks card, 100 100% stacked bar charts, 203–204

bar-in-bar charts, 199–201 color legends, 124 default color, 110–111 divergent stacked bar charts, 213-214 diverging color, 112–114 mark borders, 119 mark halos, 120-121 opacity, 118-119 proportional symbol maps, 100 red/green color palettes, 121–123 reversed color, 115–117 sequential color, 111–112 stepped color, 114–115 word clouds, 223 color vision deficiency (CVD), 121-123 color-coded pills, 49 columns, editing, 40 Columns shelf, 47 Communicating Data with Tableau (Jones), 34, 230 communication medium narrated storytelling, 63 non-narrated storytelling, 63 communication skills, importance of, 8–10 Connect to Data screen, 38–39 connections, data. See data connections content, importance of, 52 context audience, 61–63 cautions, 53

data, 53–55 explanatory analysis, 56–58 exploratory analysis, 56–58 Harry Potter series example, 53–55 importance of, 51–52 presentation tips, 63–64 relevance of, 55–56 structure, 58 story genre, 60 story plot, 59–60 continuous dates, 193 continuous measures, 48 contrast, 60 counting, color and, 27 Coxcomb plot, 108 Create Calculated Field command (Analysis menu), 194 Create Hierarchy command (Hierarchy menu), 95–97 Crimea border, visualizing, 105 curating visuals. See visual design custom shapes, 140–142 CVD (color vision deficiency), 121–123

D

Darwin, Charles, <u>19</u> dashboards, <u>45</u>, <u>169–172</u> data collection, <u>226</u> data connections

Connect to Data screen, 38–39 Data Connections screen, 39–41 Extract connections, 41 geographic data, 92–93 joins configuring, 42 errors in, 44 inner, 43 left, 43 outer, 43 right, 43 Live connections, 41 null fields, 43–44 tables, 39–41 Data Connections screen, 39–41 Data Interpreter, 143–145 data limits, 147 Excel survey data, cleaning cautions. 149 goals of, 148–150 meta helper file, creating, 153–155 numeric copies, creating, 151–153 pivoting from wide to tall, 155 surface cleaning, 150–151 null values, handling, 147–148 running, 145–146 Data Interpreter, preparing data with, 44–45 data normalization, 56 Data Points (Yau), 230

data preparation, 143–144 with Alteryx, 165 with Data Interpreter, 44–45, 143–145 data limits, 147 *example of*, 145–146 Excel survey data, 148–155 null values, 147–148 with Maestro, 145 with Tableau 10, 156 data sources, joining, 160-164 extracts, creating, 156–160 Data Revelations blog, 156, 229, 230 data science education, 10-12 data sources, joining, 160-164 data storytelling. See storytelling Data tab (Data window), 47 data visualization. See also storytelling Affinity Map, 2 charts, 65–66 bar charts, 66–70 dessert charts, 10, 73-78 donut charts, 73–78 field labels, 136–138 headers, 136–138 line charts, 70–73 packed bubble charts, 83-85 pie charts, 73–78 scatter plots, 78–82 color

alerting, 121 categorical, 115–117 color legends, 124 default color, 110–111 diverging, 112–114 highlight, 120 mark borders, 119 mark halos, 120-121 opacity, 118-119 red/green color palettes, 121-123 reversed, 115–117 sequential, 111-112 stepped, 114–115 data science education, 10–12 defined, 4 evolution to visual data storytelling, 6–7 feedback for, 228–229 graphs heat maps, 88–90 *treemaps*, 85–88 lines borders, 131–134 drop lines, 128-130 *Format pane*, 124–128 grid lines, 128–130 shading, 134–139 zero lines, 128-130 maps, 91–92 background maps, 105

choropleth maps, 100–103 geographic data connections, 92–93 geographic hierarchies, 95–97 geographic role assignment, 93–95 map layers, 103–105 neutrality in, 105–106 proportional symbol maps, 97–100 supported geodata, 92 null fields, 43–44 perceptual pop-out, 26-27 power of stories Anscombe's Quartet, 21–22 classic visualization example, 20-22 color cues, 26–27 Napoleon's march visualization, 29–31 Netflix data visualization, 23–25 Nigel Holmes' "Monstrous Costs," 31–32 seasonal cycle visualization, 27–29 shapes, 139 custom shapes, 140–142 Shape Marks card, 139–140 transparent backgrounds, 141 steps to visual data storytelling, 226–228 Trendalyzer, 2 user testing, 228–229 visual revolution in, 2–6 Data Visualization Competency Center (DVCC), 228-229 Data window, 47 dates, timeline charts for, 192–199

calculated fields, 194–195 continuous dates, 193 formatting, 196 reference lines, 197–199 timeframes, 197 default color, 110–111 Degree dimension, 100 demographic data age, 182–185 gender, 181–182 number of responses, 180–181 Descartes, René, 108 design. See visual design dessert charts, 10 creating, 74–78 features of, 73–74 Detail Marks card, 99 proportional symbol maps, 98–99 timeline charts, 196–199 deuteranope color deficiency, 122–123 diagrams, plot, 59–60 dimensions, 48 discrete dimensions, 48 divergent stacked bar charts creating, 205–206 Gantt Percent Line field, 211–215 Gantt Start field, 209–211 Negative Sentiment field, 206–207 Percent of Gantt Sizing field, 210

Total Negative Sentiment field, 207-208Total Sentiment Scores field, 209diverging color, 112-114donut charts creating, 74-78features of, 73-74drilling down, 59 drop lines, 128-130dual-axis charts line charts, 71-73lollipop charts *creating*, 215-219*labeling*, 219-220DVCC (Data Visualization Competency Center), 228-229

E

Eager Eyes blog, 230 Edit Colors dialog box, 89–90, 112 Edit Shape dialog box, 139–140 education, data science, 10–12 effects (color) mark borders, 119 mark halos, 120–121 opacity, 118–119 entropy, 31, 228 errors, join, 44 Excel survey data, cleaning

with Alteryx, 165 with Data Interpreter cautions, 149 goals of, 148–150 meta helper file, creating, 153–155 numeric copies, creating, 151–153 pivoting from wide to tall, 155 surface cleaning, 150–151 with Maestro, 145 with Tableau 10, 156 data sources, joining, 160-164 extracts, creating, 156–160 excluding null fields, 43-44 explanatory analysis, 56–58 exploratory analysis, 56–58 exposition (narrative structure), 177 external resources blogs, 229–230 books, 230 companion materials, 231 Tableau resources, 231 Extract connections, 41 Extract dialog, 158 extracts, creating, 156–160

F

Facebook, National Geographic on, 16

factors, 60 false reveals, 227 fear of public speaking, 64 feedback, importance of, 228–229 field labels, removing, 136–138 fields, null, 43–44 files Global Superstore Excel, 39 spatial files, 92 filters, 58 Filters shelf, 47 finding data, 226 fitness, storytelling and, 19 Flowing Data blog, 230 Format Borders pane, 127 Format pane banding, 134–139 borders, 131–134 drop lines, 128–130 grid lines, 128–130 shading, 134–139 zero lines, 128–130 formatting lines borders, 131–134 drop lines, 128-130 *Format pane*, 124–128 grid lines, 128–130 shading, 134–139

zero lines, <u>128–130</u> shapes, <u>139</u> custom shapes, <u>140–142</u> Shape Marks card, <u>139–140</u> transparent backgrounds, <u>141</u> The Functional Art (Cairo), <u>230</u> functions IFNULL, <u>147–148</u> IIF, <u>147–148</u> ISNULL, <u>147–148</u> ZN, <u>147–148</u>

G

Gantt Percent Line field (divergent stacked bar chart), <u>211–215</u> Gantt Start field (divergent stacked bar chart), <u>209–211</u> Gapminder Foundation, <u>2</u> Gartner, <u>8</u> Gates, Bill, <u>52</u> gender of survey responders, <u>181–182</u> genre, <u>60</u> geodata, support for, <u>92</u> geographic data connections, <u>92–93</u> geographic hierarchies, <u>95–97</u> geographic maps, <u>91–92</u> choropleth maps, <u>100–103</u> geographic data connections, <u>92–93</u> geographic data connections, <u>92–93</u> geographic data connections, <u>92–93</u> geographic data connections, <u>92–93</u>

geographic role assignment, 93–95 map layers, 103–105 neutrality in, 105–106 proportional symbol maps, 97–100 supported geodata, 92 geographic role assignment, 93–95 geoJSON files, 92 Global Superstore Excel training file, 39 goals of storytelling, 26 Goldberg, Susan, 16 graphs. See also charts; maps heat maps creating, 89–90 features of, 88 treemaps creating, 86–88 features of, 85–86 green/red color palettes, 121–123 grid lines, 128–130 groups, creating, 183–185

Η

halos (mark), <u>120–121</u> Hannibal's journey visualization, <u>31</u> Harry Potter Conference, <u>178</u> Harry Potter series visualizations context in, 53–55

custom shapes, 141 dataset, cleaning, 148–150 meta helper file, creating, 153–155 numeric copy, creating, 151–153 surface cleaning, 150–151 divergent stacked bar chart, 205–206 creating, 205–206 Gantt Percent Line field, 211–215 Gantt Start field, 209–211 Negative Sentiment field, 206–207 Percent of Gantt Sizing field, 210 Total Negative Sentiment field, 207–208 Total Sentiment Scores field, 209 Harry Potter Conference, 178 heat map, 88 Likert visualization, 202 story plot, 59 storyboarding, 185–190 character aggression, questioning, 187–188 demographic dashboard and key question, 185–186 reveal, 188–190 headers, removing, 136–138 heat maps creating, 89–90 features of, 88 hierarchies, geographic, 95–97 Hierarchy menu, Create Hierarchy command, 96–97 highlight colors, 120 Holmes, Nigel, 31–32

IFNULL function, <u>147–148</u> IIF function, <u>147–148</u> Info We Trust, <u>230</u> Information is Beautiful blog, <u>230</u> information layering, <u>227</u> inner joins, <u>43</u> intersections, <u>60</u> interval measures, <u>48</u> ISNULL function, <u>147–148</u>

J

joining data sources, <u>160–164</u> joins configuring, <u>42</u> errors in, <u>44</u> inner, <u>43</u> left, <u>43</u> outer, <u>43</u> right, <u>43</u> Jones, Ben, <u>34</u>, <u>230</u>

Κ

A Kid's Guide to Delicious Data Stories (Pi), <u>85</u> Knaflic, Cole Nussbaumer, <u>230</u> Kosara, Robert, <u>230</u>

L

labels field labels, removing, 136–138 lollipop charts, 219–220 Labor Insight, 35, 36 latitude coordinates, 98 layers layering information, 227 map layers, 103–105 learning, ongoing, 229 left joins, 43 legends, 47-48, 124 Likert scales, 202–203 100% stacked bar charts, 203–204 divergent stacked bar charts creating, 205–206 Gantt Percent Line field, 211–215 Gantt Start field, 209–211 Negative Sentiment field, 206–207 Percent of Gantt Sizing field, 210 Total Negative Sentiment field, 207–208 Total Sentiment Scores field, 209 line charts creating, 72–74 features of, 70–72 lines borders, 131–134 drop lines, 128–130

Format pane, 124–128 grid lines, 128–130 shading, 134–139 zero lines, 128–130 Live connections, 41 live presentations, 64 narrated, 63 non-narrated, 63 logo button, 46 lollipop charts creating, 215–219 labeling, 219–220 longitude coordinates, 98 Lyme disease dataset, 93 Lyme disease visualization choropleth maps, 100–103 dataset, 93 geographic hierarchies, 95–97 geographic role assignment, 93–95 Lyme disease dataset, 93 proportional symbol maps, 97–100

Μ

Maestro, <u>145</u> Map Layers box, <u>104</u> Map Layers command (Map menu), <u>104</u> Map menu commands, Map Layers, <u>104</u> maps, 91–92. See also charts; graphs background maps, 105 geographic data connections, 92–93 geographic hierarchies, 95–97 geographic role assignment, 93–95 heat maps creating, 89–90 features of, 88 supported geodata, 92 treemaps creating, 86–88 features of, 85–86 mark borders, 119 mark halos, 120–121 Marks card. See also charts; maps bar charts, 68–69 choropleth maps, 101–103 geodata, 92 heat maps, 89–90 line charts, 72 lollipop charts, 218 pie and donut charts, 74–78 scatter plots, 81 treemaps, 88 matrix scatter pots, 79–82 McCandless, David, 230 McKinsey Global Institute, 11 measures defined, 48
types of, 48 Medina, John, 109 menus, 46–47 meta helper file, creating, 153–155 Minard, Charles Joseph Hannibal's journey visualization, 31 Napoleon's march visualization, 29–31 "Monstrous Costs" (Holmes), 31–32 motor cortex, 18 multiple tables joins configuring, 42 errors in, 44 inner, 43 left, 43 outer, 43 right, 43 Murray, Daniel, 230 My Tableau Repository, adding custom shapes to, 140–142

Ν

Napoleon's march visualization, <u>29–31</u> narrated storytelling, <u>63</u> narrative structures, <u>177–178</u> *National Geographic*, 16 natural selection, theory of, <u>19</u> navigating user interface, <u>45–46</u> Negative Sentiment field (divergent stacked bar chart), <u>206–207</u> "The Nerdist" podcast, <u>168</u> Netflix data visualization, <u>23–25</u> neutrality in maps, <u>105–106</u> Nightingale, Florence, <u>108</u> nominal measures, <u>48</u> non-narrated storytelling, <u>63</u> normalizing data, <u>56</u> null values, handling, <u>43–44</u>, <u>147–148</u> Number of Records Dimension, <u>99</u> numbers, discrete versus continuous, <u>48</u> numeric copies of worksheets, creating, <u>151–153</u> numerosity, <u>27</u>

0

olfactory cortex, <u>18</u> opacity, <u>118–119</u> ordinal measures, <u>48</u> outer joins, <u>43</u> outliers, 60

Ρ

pace of storytelling, <u>228</u> packed bubble charts creating, <u>83–85</u>

features of, 83 Pages shelf, 47 Percent of Gantt Sizing field (divergent stacked bar chart), 210 perceptual pop-out, 26–27 personal Netflix data visualization, 23–25 Pi, Wake, 85 picture superiority effect, 109 pie charts creating, 74–78 features of, 73–74 pills, color-coded, 49 pivoting data from wide to tall, 155 planning story purpose, 176–177 Playfair, William, 10, 108 plot, 59–60 Polygraph, 230 power of stories, 20 Anscombe's Quartet, 21 classic visualization example, 20-22 color cues, 26–27 Napoleon's march visualization, 29–31 Netflix data visualization, 23–25 Nigel Holmes' "Monstrous Costs," 31–32 seasonal cycle visualization, 27–29 pre-attentive features, perceptual pop-out, 26–27 preparing data. See data preparation presentations narrated, 63 non-narrated, 63

tips for, <u>64</u> pricing models for Tableau, <u>37</u> proportional symbol maps, <u>97–100</u> psychology of storytelling, <u>18–19</u> closure, <u>19</u> fitness, <u>19</u> Ptolemy, Claudius, <u>108</u> The Pudding, <u>230</u> purpose of stories, <u>176–177</u>

Q-R

QuestionID, 205–206 Radiant Advisors, DVCC (Data Visualization Competency Center), 228–229 ratio measures, 48 red/green color palettes, 121–123 reference lines, adding to timeline charts, 197–199 relevant context, 55–56 removing field labels, 136–138 headers, 136–138 renaming columns, 40 resources blogs, 229-230 books, 230 companion materials, 231 Tableau resources, 231 reveals

designing to, 227 false reveals, 227 reversed color, 115–117 right joins, 43 rising action (narrative structure), 177–178 Roddenberry, Gene, 2 roles, geographic, 93–95 Rosling, Hans, 2 Rowling, JK, 53. *See also* Harry Potter series visualizations Rows shelf, 47 Ryan, Lindy, 230

S

Salesforce, <u>34</u> Save button, <u>46</u> scatter plots creating, <u>79–82</u> features of, <u>78–79</u> science of storytelling, <u>16</u> cognitive effects, <u>16–18</u> power of stories, <u>20</u> storytelling psychology, <u>18–19</u> *closure*, <u>19</u> *fitness*, <u>19</u> seasonal cycle visualization, <u>27–29</u> Seinfeld, Jerry, <u>64</u> sensory cortex, <u>18</u> sequential color, 111–112 setup (narrative structure), 177 shading lines, 134–139 Shape Marks card, 139–140 shapefiles, 92 shapes, 139 custom shapes, 140–142 Shape Marks card, 139–140 transparent backgrounds, 141 sheets, 40, 45, 169 shelves, 47 Show Me card, 47, 74–75 expanding, 57 packed bubble charts, 83–85 pie and donut charts, 74–78 treemaps, 86–87 SIG DSS (Special Interest Group on Decision Support, Knowledge, and Data Management Systems), 8 Significant Volcanic Eruptions dataset, 144 simple scatter plots, 79-82 Size Marks card, 99 bar-in-bar charts, 199–201 divergent stacked bar charts, 214 lollipop charts, 219 proportional symbol maps, 99 shapes, 139 word clouds, 221 sketching stories, 78 Snapchat, National Geographic on, 16

Snow, John, 108 spatial files, 92 Special Interest Group on Decision Support, Knowledge, and Data Management Systems (SIG DSS), 8 speed of storytelling, 228 spread, 60 spring, data visualization of, 27-29 stacked bar charts 100% stacked bar charts, 203–204 divergent stacked bar charts creating, 205–206 Gantt Percent Line field, 211–215 Gantt Start field, 209–211 Negative Sentiment field, 206–207 Percent of Gantt Sizing field, 210 Total Negative Sentiment field, 207–208 Total Sentiment Scores field, 209 Star Trek, 2 Statistical Breviary (Playfair), 10 stepped color, 114–115 steps to visual data storytelling, 226–228 sticky notes, storyboarding with, 178 stories. See also storyboarding; storytelling building dashboards, 169–172 sheets, 167–168, 169 Story Points, 172–175 defined, 45 genre, 60

plot, 59–60 power of Anscombe's Quartet, 21–22 classic visualization example, 20-22 color cues, 26–27 Napoleon's march visualization, 29–31 Netflix data visualization, 23–25 Nigel Holmes' "Monstrous Costs," 31–32 seasonal cycle visualization, 27-29 purpose, 176–177 sketching, 78 storyline, 59–60 structure of, 58 genre, 60 plot, 59-60 Story Points, 172–175 storyboarding, 167–168 demographic data age, 182–185 gender, 181–182 number of responses, 180–181 Harry Potter example, 185–190 character aggression, questioning, 187–188 demographic dashboard and key question, 185–186 reveal, 188–190 Meta worksheets, 179 narrative structures, 177–178 sticky note approach, 178 story building, 178

dashboards, 169–172 sheets, 167–168, 169 Story Points, 172–175 story purpose, planning, 176–177 survey demographics age, 182–185 gender, 181–182 story-building mechanisms dashboards, 169–172 sheets, 167-168, 169 Story Points, 172–175 storyline, 59–60 storytelling. See also data visualization audience analysis for, 61–63 checklist for, 175 collecting data for, 226 communication skills in, 8–10 context audience analysis, 61–63 cautions, 53 data, 53–55 explanatory analysis, 56–58 exploratory analysis, 56-58 Harry Potter series example, 53–55 importance of, 51–52 presentation tips, 63-64 relevance of, 55–56 role of story structure in, 58-60 entropy in, 31, 228

evolution from data visualization to, 6–7 external resources blogs, 229-230 books, 230 companion materials, 231 Tableau resources, 231 feedback for, 228–229 goals, 26 information layering, 227 narrated, 63 non-narrated, 63 ongoing learning for, 229 pace of, 228 power of stories Anscombe's Quartet, 21–22 classic visualization example, 20-22 color cues, 26–27 Napoleon's march visualization, 29–31 Netflix data visualization, 23–25 Nigel Holmes' "Monstrous Costs," 31–32 seasonal cycle visualization, 27-29 presentation tips, 64 reveals designing to, 227 false reveals, 227 science of, 16 cognitive effects, 16–18 storytelling psychology, 18–19 sketching stories, 78

steps to visual data storytelling, 226–228 story structure, 58 genre, 60 plot, 59-60 storyboarding, 167–168 demographic data, 179–185 Harry Potter example, 185–190 Meta worksheets, 179 narrative structures, 177–178 sticky note approach, 178 story building, 178 story purpose, planning, 176–177 story-building mechanisms dashboards, 169–172 sheets, 167–168 *Story Points*, *172–175* visual revolution in, 2–6 Storytelling with Data (Knaflic), 230 streaming visualizations, 2 surface cleaning (survey data), 150–151 survey data, cleaning with Alteryx, 165 with Data Interpreter cautions, 149 goals of, 148–150 meta helper file, creating, 153–155 numeric copies, creating, 151–153 pivoting from wide to tall, 155 surface cleaning, 150–151

with Maestro, <u>145</u> with Tableau 10, <u>156</u> *data sources, joining, <u>160–164</u> <i>extracts, creating, <u>156–160</u>* survey demographics age, <u>182–185</u> gender, <u>181–182</u> number of responses, <u>180–181</u> survival of the fittest, <u>19</u> Swanstrom, Ryan, <u>12</u> Swiss Federal Institute of Technology, 2

T

Tableau 10, shaping survey data with, <u>156</u> data sources, joining, <u>160–164</u> extracts, creating, <u>156–160</u> Tableau product portfolio advantages of, <u>34–36</u> mission of, <u>34</u> pricing model, <u>37</u> Tableau Desktop, <u>37</u> Tableau Online, <u>37</u> Tableau Public, <u>37</u> Tableau Server, <u>37</u> Tableau Server, <u>37</u> Tableau resources, <u>231</u> *Tableau Your Data* (Murray), <u>230</u> tables

connecting to, 39–41 joins, 42 configuring, 42 errors in, 44 inner, 43 left, 43 outer, 43 right, 43 null fields, 43–44 Teradata University Network (TUN), 8 testing, user, 228–229 Text Marks card borders, 133 divergent stacked bar charts, 205–206 word clouds, 221 Text Value dimensions, 205–206 theory of natural selection, 19 timeframes, adding to timeline charts, 197 timeline charts, 192–199 calculated fields, 194–195 continuous dates, 193 formatting, 196 reference lines, 197–199 timeframes, 197 toolbar, 46–47 Total Negative Sentiment field (divergent stacked bar chart), 207-208 Total Sentiment Scores field (divergent stacked bar chart), 209 transparent backgrounds, 141

treemaps creating, <u>86–88</u> features of, <u>85–86</u> trend lines, <u>66</u> Trendalyzer, <u>2</u> Tukey, John, <u>108</u> TUN (Teradata University Network), <u>8</u> Tyson, Neil DeGrasse, <u>168</u>, <u>226</u>

U

Undo button, 46 university data science programs, 10–12 user interface, 169–172. See also cards cards, 47 dashboards, 45, 169-172 Data window, 47 dimensions, 48 legends, 47–48 measures defined, 48 types of, 48 menus, 46–47 navigating, 45–46 shelves, 47 toolbar, 46–47 user testing, 228–229

V

visual cortex, 18 visual design, 110 color 100% stacked bar charts, 204 alerting, 121 categorical, 115–117 color legends, 124 default color, 110–111 diverging, 112–114 highlight, 120 mark borders, 119 mark halos, 120-121 opacity, 118–119 red/green color palettes, 121–123 reversed, 115–117 sequential, 111-112 stepped, 114–115 designing to reveal, 227 lines borders, 131–134 *drop lines*, 128–130 *Format pane*, 124–128 grid lines, 128–130 shading, 134–139 zero lines, 128–130 picture superiority effect, 109 power of, 107–109

shapes, 139 custom shapes, 140–142 Shape Marks card, 139–140 transparent backgrounds, 141 The Visual Imperative (Ryan), 56, 109, 230 visual revolution, 2–6 visualization. See data visualization visualization types. See also visual design charts, 65-66, 191-192 100% stacked bar charts, 203–204 bar charts, 66–70 bar-in-bar charts, 199-201 divergent stacked bar charts, 205–215 donut charts, 73-78 field labels, 136–138 headers, 136–138 Likert scales, 202–203 line charts, 70–73 lollipop charts, 215–220 packed bubble charts, 83-85 pie charts, 73–78 scatter plots, 78–82 timeline charts, 192–199 graphs heat maps, 88–90 treemaps, 85-88 maps, 91–92 background maps, 105 choropleth maps, 100–103

geographic data connections, 92–93 geographic hierarchies, 95–97 geographic role assignment, 93–95 map layers, 103–105 neutrality in, 105–106 proportional symbol maps, 97–100 supported geodata, 92 word clouds, 221–224 VizQL, 36 Vonnegut, Kurt, 7

W

waning summer, data visualization of, 27–29
waxing summer, data visualization of, 27–29
Wernicke's area of the brain, <u>16</u>
Wexler, Steve, <u>156</u>, 229, 230 *Which Chart or Graph* (white paper), <u>91</u>
word clouds, <u>221–224</u>
workbooks, <u>45</u>
worksheet survey data, cleaning. *See* Excel survey data, cleaning

X-Y-Z

Yau, Nathan, <u>230</u> Zeigarnik, Bluma, <u>19</u> Zeigarnik effect, <u>19</u> zero lines, <u>128–130</u> ZN function, <u>147–148</u> zooming out, <u>59</u>